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CORPORATE INFORMATION
AREH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Pang (Chairman)
Mr. CHONG Tsz Ngai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZOU Gebing (resigned on 8 January 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSE Hok Kan
Ms. WU Xiangfei (removed on 21 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Prof. KWAN Pun Fong Vincent
Prof. LEE Chack Fan

Ms. CHEN lJianhua

Prof. SIT Wing Hang, Alfred

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Prof. KWAN Pun Fong Vincent (Chairman of committee)

Prof. LEE Chack Fan
Ms. CHEN lJianhua
Prof. SIT Wing Hang, Alfred

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Prof. KWAN Pun Fong Vincent (Chairman of committee)

Prof. LEE Chack Fan
Ms. CHEN Jianhua
Prof. SIT Wing Hang, Alfred

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Prof. KWAN Pun Fong Vincent (Chairman of committee)

Prof. LEE Chack Fan
Ms. CHEN Jianhua
Prof. SIT Wing Hang, Alfred
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
DRIER (E)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LAM Hoi Lun

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CHONG Tsz Ngai
Mr. LAM Hoi Lun

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
DRIER (E)

HEADQUARTERS IN THE PRC

No. 258, Shengli Road, Magiao Street
Haining City, Jiaxing City
Zhejiang Province, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 3103, 31 Floor, Trendy Centre
682 Castle Peak Rood
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

Bank of Jiaxing Company Limited

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Ningbo Co., Ltd.

China Citic Bank Corporation Limited

Zhejiang Haining Rural Commercial Bank Company Limited

Bank of Huzhou Company Limited

STOCK CODE

1575

WEBSITE

www.theregalpartners.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHE

Revenue decreased by approximately 36.4% to approximately
RMB119.5 million in 2024 (2023: approximately RMB188.0
million)

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately RMB27.9
million in 2024 (2023: approximately RMB69.5 million)

The Group’s loss for the year increased by approximately
239.5% to approximately RMB88.6 million in 2024 (2023:
approximately RMB26.1 million)

Basic loss per share was approximately RMB3.28 cents in 2024 as
compared with basic loss per share of approximately RMB0.92
cents in 2023

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend
(2023: Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2024
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ER®E

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Regal Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Regal
Partners”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2024 (“2024" or the "Reporting Period”) to shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

2024 was an important yet challenging year for the Group. We
have strategically renamed our Company as “Regal Partners
Holdings Limited”, signifying a renewed corporate identity. Our
new management team comprised esteemed professionals from
various reputable backgrounds, aiming to capitalize future growth
opportunities and strengthen our market position in the furniture
industry. Despite the revitalized image, our operating environment
was tough and volatile. This was attributed to significant economic
challenges in our major markets, particularly in the United States
(the "U.S.”), Europe, and China. These challenges have been
exacerbated by surging home prices, persistently elevated mortgage
rates, considerable political uncertainties in these regions and mixed

consumer sentiment in these regions.

As a furniture export enterprise, the tariffs imposed by the U.S. market
have diminished the competitiveness of our products. Therefore, we
swiftly adopted a dual production base strategy, with operations
in both domestic and overseas locations, to mitigate the operation
risks in the long-term. This strategy involves conducting research
and production at our facility in China to uphold product quality,
while simultaneously expanding our production to Southeast Asia,
mitigating the impact of tariffs. During 2024, we have accelerated
the deployment of our production base in Southeast Asia, completing
construction and commencing trial production in the second half of
2024. The newly established overseas factory has been well received
by customers, as evidenced by the increase in orders, some of which

were from new customers.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
ERERE (R)

Research indicates that the global supply chain landscape for furniture
production has partly transitioned towards Southeast Asia, driven
by factors such as reduced labor costs, abundant natural resources,
efficient logistics, and advantageous trade conditions. Notably,
various regions in Southeast Asia witnessed a continuous uptrend in
furniture exports throughout 2024. Governments in these regions
also introduced supportive policies aimed at fostering the growth
of the furniture industry. Our expansion of the new production
facility in Southeast Asia alongside our existing factory in China
enhances our ability to adapt flexibly to market changes and customer
demands, optimize the supply chain, and ensure our products remain
competitive in terms of price and quality for our key markets.

By bolstering our production and supply chain advantages both
domestically and internationally, we also strategically concentrated
resources on our export OEM business. Throughout the Year, we
planned to gradually phase out the retail operations of our in-house
sofa brand to reduce marketing expenses. Simultaneously, we
collaborated with a well-known local furniture wholesaler in the
United States in a joint venture (JV) arrangement, actively expanding
our sales channels in the American market. With the assistance of
our partner, we have increased our participation in trade shows
from twice a year to six times a year, including renowned worldwide
furniture exhibitions like the High Point Market in the U.S. This
initiative has notably boosted our chances of connecting with
prospective clients.

Furthermore, we have successfully expanded our operations into new
markets beyond our core territories, notably Australia, Ireland, and
Japan. Among these, Australia, has shown a positive market response,
characterized by a consistent increase in orders. These expansions
were pivotal to our growth trajectory, enabling us to access new

markets and capitalize on emerging opportunities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
ERERE (R)

Coupled with people’s increasing focus on environmentally friendly
practices, the integration of smart technology, and the pursuit of
sustainable lifestyles, we have closely followed market trends and
allocated resources towards product innovation and expanding
our distribution channels. Market research indicates that the global
household market is expected to reach USD1,087.5 billion by 2032,
with the United States holding a significant market share. American
consumers exhibit a high demand for personalized and customized
home decor products. To cater to this key market, we have continued
to invest in research and development, creating environmentally
friendly, innovative, and multifunctional furniture. Additionally, we
have adjusted our product designs to save space and make assembly
easier, in response to the high shipping costs and container shortages.

On the whole, we have undertaken a series of strategic deployments
covering overseas expansion of production, broadening customer
outreach, resources reallocation and product enhancements to
strengthen the overall capacity of the Company. Internally, we
have implemented prudent financial management practices and
demonstrated fiscal discipline by refraining from acquiring any
additional bank loans. These practices underscore our robust financial
position, strengthening our growth strategies and reiterating our
steadfast commitment to sustainable development in the future.

Looking ahead, we anticipate greater challenges and uncertainties.
The global market growth is anticipated to be sluggish. According
to the International Monetary Fund, the growth of various markets
will be on divergent paths amid policy uncertainties. Global growth is
projected at 3.3 percent both in 2025 and 2026, below the historical
(2000-19) average of 3.7 percent. We anticipate intensifying
pressure on operations following the imposition of tariffs by the
U.S. government on imported goods, as well as increased costs and
disruptions in the global supply chain.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
ERFHE (R)

Amidst the complexities of the market landscape, there are
opportunities for the furnishing industry.

Trends like sustainability have been a driving force for consumers
to purchase eco-friendly furniture. The rapid development of
artificial intelligence for smart home, alongside the increasing
popularity of ecommerce, offer promising avenues for growth in the
furniture industry. The Internet of Things is blending furniture with
technology to address the growing demand for enhanced smart living
experiences.

We firmly believe that our revitalized corporate image, the dual-
production base strategy, and robust leadership team will be key
drivers in propelling our sustainable growth in the future. We are
also committed to maintaining operational excellence by consistently
delivering high-quality products while ensuring healthy cash flow to
foster long-term sustainable growth.

Chairman and Executive Director
Tse Kam Pang
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Kam Pang, aged 70, is the chairman of the Group and
was appointed as an executive Director on 17 October 2022. He is
responsible for providing leadership to the Board. Mr. Tse is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

He is a founder, the chairman of the board of directors and an
executive director of Royale Home Holdings Limited (“Royale
Home"), a company the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1198). He is also a controlling
shareholder of Royale Home who is deemed to be interested in
approximately 74.86% of the issued share capital of Royale Home.
He held the position of Deputy Managing Director at Ultronics
International Holdings Limited (currently known as DreamEast Group
Limited), a company the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 0593), from 1993 to 1995. He has over
30 years of experience in the international trade and China trade
business.

Mr. Tse Kam Pang is a vice chairman of Hong Kong Furniture
Association and has extensive experience in the manufacture and sale
of furniture business. Mr. Tse Kam Pang is the father of Mr. Tse Hok
Kan, a non-executive Director and the father-in-law of Mr. Chong
Tsz Ngai, an executive Director and the chief executive officer of the
Company.

Mr. Tse is the sole shareholder and sole director of Century Icon,
being the beneficial owner of 1,300,038,000 Shares, representing
approximately 47.27% of the issued share capital.

Mr. Chong Tsz Ngai, aged 36, is the chief executive officer of the
Group and was appointed as an executive Director on 17 October
2022. He is responsible for the overall management of the operations
of the Group. Mr. Chong is a director of all subsidiaries of the
Company.

Prior to joining the Group, he was a director of debt capital markets
(DCM) at United Overseas Bank Limited, Hong Kong Branch from
2021 to 2022. He was a vice president of DCM of CNCB (Hong Kong)
Capital from 2019 to 2021 and was previously a vice president of the
fixed income, currency and commodities department of GF Global
Capital Limited from March to December 2019.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEREEBE(B)

Mr. Chong Tsz Ngai has over ten years of experience in the corporate
finance industry. Mr. Chong holds a Master’s Degree in Finance from
Imperial College London and was awarded a Bachelor’'s Degree in
accounting and finance with first-class honour by Lancaster University.
Mr. Chong is a son-in-law of Mr. Tse Kam Pang, the chairman of
the Board, an executive Director and a controlling shareholder of the

Company.

Mr. Zou Gebing, aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director
on 18 March 2016 and resigned on 8 January 2024. Prior to his
resignation, he was the chairman and chief executive officer of
the Group from 2016 to 2022 and responsible for the sales and
marketing of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, he was the marketing and development
manager in Zhejiang Kasen Industrial Group Co., Ltd., and was deputy
general manager in Hongyang Group Co., Ltd., from July 1997 to
March 2000 and from May 2000 to March 2002, respectively, and
had been mainly responsible for exploration and development of
overseas markets of sofas and other furniture. He joined Morris Group
Co., Ltd. ("Morris PRC") as part of its management team in May
2002, served as its vice chairman and general manager since February
2005, and became the chairman of Morris PRC in January 2012.

Mr. Zou obtained a bachelor’'s degree in English from Shanghai
International Studies University in the PRC in July 1997 and a master’s
degree in business administration for senior management from
Zhejiang University in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
in March 2007. He had also served as a corporate tutor for MBA
postgraduates in the Management School of Zhejiang University
from April 2007 to March 2012. Mr. Zou was accredited as a senior
economist by the Senior Economist Qualification Committee of

Zhejiang Province in December 2007.

With over 20 years of industry experience as mentioned above, Mr.
Zou is an experienced entrepreneur in furniture manufacturing related
businesses. Mr. Zou’s spouse, Ms. Wu Xiangfei is a non-executive
Director (removed on 21 June 2024).
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEREEBE(B)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Hok Kan, aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 17 October 2022.

He holds a Master of Science degree in Accounting from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree - joint major in accounting and finance from Simon Fraser

University.

Prior to joining the Group, he had held the position of executive
director of Royale Home from 2016 to 2019. He has extensive
experience in production, development, marketing of furniture and
Hong Kong and China trade businesses. Mr. Tse Hok Kan is a son of
Mr. Tse Kam Pang, the chairman of the Board, an executive Director

and a controlling shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Wu Xiangfei, aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 9 November 2022 and removed on 21 June 2024.

She has vast experience in the furniture business. Ms. Wu Xiangfei
has been the vice chairman of the board of directors of Morris Group
Company Limited since 2018, during which she has accumulated
experience and gained knowledge in manufacturing and sales of

sofas, sofa covers and other furniture products.

Ms. Wu Xiangfei is the spouse of Mr. Zou Gebing, an executive
Director resigned on 8 January 2024 and a substantial shareholder of
the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEREEBE(B)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Kwan Pun Fong Vincent, aged 74, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 October 2022. He is mainly
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to
the Board. He is also the chairman of each of the Audit Committee,

Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.

He served as the vice president of the Hong Kong Shipping
Department (&7 & MAAEE) of Citibank (fEFEERTT), the vice president
of the Asia Pacific Elevator Department of United Technologies
Company (B4 #4l7 2 &), the managing director of Hintful Capital
Group ( #1 &l gt & £ @), professor of Beijing Normal University —
Hong Kong Baptist University (JL I8 K22 — HEZTEAZ) United
International College, executive dean of the HKU Zhejiang Institute
of Research and Innovation (& & K 2 I B 2 & 7 5t bt ). He
is currently a member of the Executive Committee of Hong Kong
Economic Association (BSAEZ ), the chief advisor of the think
tank of Qingshanhu Scitech City in Hangzhou, Zhejiang ( 3 T #7 /i
B WA R ), the president of Zhuhai Chuangke Yinlian Business
Consulting Co., Ltd (k)8 &8 &l 5] 5 75 75 7% 30 8 R 2 7)), the vice
chairman of Shanghai Qiaoyue loT Technology Co., Limited (f&1%(_E
5 ) B AR A IR A A), a Director of Hong Kong Economic Trading
International Association (B/BBIR 4 E A EH€) and the chairman

of the Education and Training Committee (ABEFIZES).

B IEITES

BmAHIR - 745% - 20225107170 %
ZERBUENTES - BFEEHEEE
EEQUWMEFSIREBELHE - B A
EZZEE REZESkFWZE®
e

®BEEHRITE L RN B - B
ARMAREKEEHEEN AL - BERIE
EEBEFAKLE  LtRMBAE-FE
RERBHMEBRERAE  BEREN
IRERMMERATRE  BRABFEL
FEGTHREEGKE  ANTHMNE LM
RS EERER - XRERIR 55 E 5
FHABRARMEE - BR(LE) W ETR
RERARBESR  BEERKEAE
HEBERHEEINIEZEGEIE -

EEERERABR AT 2024 F3F 13



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEREEBE(B)

Professor Kwan Pun Fong Vincent was an independent director of
China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 601916) and the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2016) from 2021 to 2023. He was the chief financial officer
of Yew Chung Education Foundation in Hong Kong from 2001
to 2013. From 2010 to 2015, he served as an independent non-
executive director of Link-Asia International MedTech Group Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1143). Prof
Kwan Pun Fong Vincent was an independent director of Jiangling
Motors Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange from 2008 to 2012 and a non-executive director of Finet
Group Limited (stock code: 8317), a company listed on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange from 2002 to 2008. Prof Kwan Pun Fong Vincent
is a Certified Practicing Accountant of CPA Australia. Prof Kwan Pun
Fong Vincent obtained a Doctoral Degree in Business Administration
from the University of Western Sydney in Australia in May 2004, a
Master’s Degree in Commerce from the University of Hitotsubashi in
Japan in March 1981, and a Bachelor’s Degree in Social Sciences from
The University of Hong Kong in November 1973.

Professor Lee Chack Fan, GB.M., G.B.S, S.B.S., J.P., aged 79, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 9 November
2022. He is mainly responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgement to the Board. He is also a member of each
of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee.

He taught at the University of Western Ontario and the University of
Toronto, before starting a long career with Ontario Hydro in Canada
more than 20 years, where he worked on a variety of projects that
included water resources management, hydropower and nuclear
power. He joined the University of Hong Kong in 1994 as a professor
of the Department of Civil Engineering, and successively as chair
professor of geotechnical engineering, Pro-Vice-Chancellor (Vice-
President) and Director of the School of Professional and Continuing
Education (HKU SPACE). He has also served as a specialist consultant
or an advisor to many international bodies such as the United Nations
Development Plan, World Bank and Asian Development Bank on
numerous energy and infrastructure projects in many parts of the
world.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEREEBE(B)

Professor Lee Chack Fan is an internationally renowned expert in
geotechnical engineering. He served as a consultant and technical
adviser to numerous energy and infrastructure projects in China and
overseas, including the construction of the Three Gorges Dam of the
Yangtze River. Professor Lee Chack Fan’s eminent achievement in civil
engineering has been highly recognised. He was awarded the K. Y.
Lo Medal in 2001 by the Engineering Institute of Canada, was elected
a Fellow of the Canadian Academy of Engineering and a Fellow of
the Hong Kong Academy of Engineering Science in 2001, and an
Academician of the Chinese Academy of Engineering in 2003.

Professor Lee Chack Fan is also the Chairman of the Board of the
Hong Kong Institute for Promotion of Chinese Culture; the Jao
Tsung-I Academy Management Board; Director of the Jao Tsung-I
Petite Ecole, University of Hong Kong; member of the Commission
on Strategic Development; etc. He previously served as the Chairman
of the Council of the Lord Wilson Heritage Trust; the Harbourfront
Enhancement Committee and the Veterinary Surgeons Board and
was a member of the Board of the West Kowloon Cultural District
Authority and the Culture and Heritage Commission.

Professor Lee Chack Fan was appointed a Justice-of-the-Peace in 2003
and awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star, the Gold Bauhinia Star and
Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2005, 2013 and 2024 respectively. He was
also a recipient of the K. Y. Lo Medal of the Engineering Institute of
Canada in 2001; Fulbright Distinguished Scholar in 2005; Gold Medal
of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers in 2008; Queen Elizabeth
II's Diamond Jubilee Medal in 2012; as well as honorary Doctor of
Science degrees from the University of Western Ontario (2006),
Plymouth University (2012), Edinburgh Napier University (2012) and
the University of Macau (2014).
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEREEBE(B)

Professor Lee Chack Fan is currently an independent non-executive
director of Hui Xian Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code:
87001) which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He also served in
the following companies the shares of which are or were listed
on the Stock Exchange, as a non-executive director of Zhaobangji
Properties Holdings Limited (stock code: 1660) from 2018 to 2023, an
independent non-executive director of South Shore Holdings Limited
(stock code: 577) from 2005 to 2021, AID Life Science Holdings
Limited (known as 8088 Investment Holdings Limited when it was
delisted in 2022) (stock code: 8088) from 2015 to 2017 and Shimao
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 649) from 2004 to its
withdrawal of listing in 2007.

Professor Lee Chack Fan graduated from the University of Hong Kong
with a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering in 1968, and a Master’s
degree in 1970. He received his Doctor of Philosophy degree from
the University of Western Ontario in 1972, in the field of geotechnical
engineering.

Ms. Chen Jianhua, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 17 October 2022. She is mainly responsible
for supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board.
She is also a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination

Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Ms. Chen Jian Hua has vast experience in the furniture and household
business. Ms. Chen Jianhua has held management positions in
Nantong Eastern Yisidun Furniture Co., Ltd.* (F3@R H FHBER AR
[R & &) since 2000, during which she has accumulated experience
and gained knowledge in operations and sales and marketing fields.
Ms. Chen Jianhua specializes in franchising operations and has
represented various furniture brands in the PRC. She has gained deep
knowledge and understanding in retail distribution and business
management and valuable insight in the furniture industry.

*  For identification purpose only
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEREEBE(B)

Professor Sit Wing Hang, Alfred, G.B.S., J.P., aged 63, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 5 July 2023.
He is mainly responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to the Board. He is also a member of each of the Audit

Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Professor Sit Wing Hang, Alfred joined the Hong Kong Government in
1984 and was promoted to the Director of Electrical and Mechanical
Services and Electrical & Mechanical Services Trading Fund General
Manager in 2017. He was in charge of electrical and mechanical
safety and energy efficiency and preservation and the provision
of engineering services for electrical and mechanical assets of the
Hong Kong Government. He served as Secretary for Innovation and
Technology of the Hong Kong Government from April 2020 to 30
June 2022. Professor Sit was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Medal
and was appointed as a Justice of the Peace by the Hong Kong

Government.

Professor Sit is currently an Adjunct Professor of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is currently also the Chief Executive and
Secretary of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a Senior
Advisor to the President and Vice-Chancellor of Hong Kong Baptist

University.

Professor Sit is an electrical engineer by profession and has over 40
years of experience in public administration. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers. He was the President of the
Hong Kong Institution of Facility Management and Chairman of the

Biomedical Division of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEETWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

Throughout the Reporting Period, our key markets, spanning the
United States, Europe and China, reflected a prevailing atmosphere
of consumer wariness, primarily influenced by pervasive global
inflation and the intricate, ever-evolving geopolitical dynamics.
Research showed that U.S. consumers had mixed sentiments about
the economy in the first three quarters. Concurrently, consumer
optimism in five major European economies remained stable but
witnessed a decline towards the conclusion of 2024. In China, the
consumer price index hit a decade-low, while the GDP growth rate
reached 5%, aligning with the national target. Amid a tumultuous
economic backdrop, the major markets’ furnishing sector grappled
with formidable challenges due to subdued consumer demand for
home acquisitions and the adornment of living spaces. In addition,
heightened logistics costs during periods of geopolitical tensions have
increased operating expenses, adding further strain to companies
operating within the furniture industry.

During 2024, the Group faced considerable difficulties in navigating
the complex market environment, particularly in recovering orders
and costs control. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's
total revenue decreased by 36.4% year-on-year to approximately
RMB119.5 million, which was mainly attributed to weakening
disposable incomes in European and American households amid
persistent inflation in these regions, consequently suppressing the
demand for furniture products. The net loss of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB88.6 million (2023: approximately RMB26.1
million).

In response to these significant market challenges, the Group
implemented several strategic adjustments to bolster competitiveness
and capture additional market share. Regarding the tariff restrictions
on products made in China, the Group proactively expanded into
Southeast Asian facilities. The newly established plant in Southeast
Asia commenced production in the latter half of the year, swiftly
garnering a substantial order book. We also maintained close
dialogue with local government and the customers, remaining flexible
to order dynamics, considering expansion of production capacities
or new plant construction. Moreover, we also actively optimized our
manufacturing layout and facilities, such as establishing a clean room
(dust-free) in the plant tailored to Japanese client preferences. With
operations in the new Southeast Asian plant and existing facilities
in mainland China, our commitment lies in sustaining supply chain
resilience to meet the evolving needs of our international clientele.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

The Group prioritizes the alignment of its products with market
needs and emphasizes product quality. Throughout the year, it has
actively engaged with customers to design innovative and stylish
sofa products, effectively capturing existing customer segments and
expanding into new markets. In response to the ongoing increase in
logistics costs, which has been pressuring customers, the Group has
developed solutions including the design of innovative modular sofa
products that can be freely assembled and configured inside shipping
containers, thereby optimizing space utilization and transportation
efficiency. Furthermore, the Group has introduced fashionable sofas
made from environmentally friendly leather materials, demonstrating
its commitment to a sustainable future.

Business development in the U.S., Europe and other
potential markets

The U.S. and Europe remained as our major markets, which
contributed to 23.6% and 27.2% of total revenue respectively.
During the year, we actively adjusted our sales strategies in the U.S.
market. Notably, we established a joint venture with a local renowned
furniture brand to enhance market exposure, leveraging their
exceptional sales capabilities and extensive network. This collaboration
also enabled us to participate in more exhibitions, including the
High Point Market in the United States, the largest home furnishing
industry trade show, showcasing our products and expanding
distribution channels, resulting in increased orders. Additionally,
we invested in social media to promote our exquisite sofa products,
achieving comprehensive market exposure.

Europe was another key market. During the Reporting Period, the
Group continued to uncover market opportunities in the United
Kingdom, France, Norway, Spain and Ireland. It also extended its
reach into new market segments including Japan and Australia
through its distribution network.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

Retail business development on China and Hong
Kong

During the year, the PRC market including Hong Kong contributed to
35.4% of total revenue. In a complex market environment, the Group
conducted a thorough review of its Hong Kong retail operations. This
led to the closure of underperforming stores, allowing for a more
efficient reallocation of resources to other channels. As of December
2024, the Group had one flagship showroom in Mainland China. In
Hong Kong, the Group had one self-operated retail store in Causeway
Bay.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year of 2024, the principal business activities of the Group
comprise the manufacturing and sales of sofas and other furniture

products.

During the year, the revenue of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB119.5 million (2023: approximately RMB188.0 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 36.4% as compared with
last year. This decline was primarily due to ongoing inflationary
pressures in Europe and the U.S., which have reduced consumers’
disposable income and suppressed demand for non-essential good
including furniture. There were indications that some European
countries may be edging towards a technical recession, while a
slowdown in U.S. economic growth could directly impact furniture
consumption. Furthermore, the Red Sea shipping crisis has led to
increased freight and insurance costs on Asia-Europe routes, causing
delivery delays that have prompted customers to seek alternative local

suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

The net loss of the Group amounted to approximately RMB88.6
million during the year, representing an increase of approximately
239.5% as compared with the net loss of RMB26.1 million in last
year. The increase in net loss is primarily due to a decrease in gains
from restructuring, which declined by approximately RMB38.3
million (2024: RMB54.1 million; 2023: RMB92.4 million) compared
to the previous year. Additionally, there was a one-off provision of
approximately RMB58.2 million for the amounts due from related
companies of the Group during the Reporting Period. The provision
was made after considering the estimated recoverable amounts of
the charged assets, leading to classification of certain amounts due
form related companies as credit-impaired and recognition of lifetime
expected credit loss on these balances. References are made to the
2023 annual report of the Company and the announcements of the
Company dated 27 June 2024, 19 June 2024, 19 March 2024 and 9
February 2024 in relation to, amongst others, the amount due from
entities which are controlled by Mr. Zou Gebing (the “ZOU Entities”).
The auditors of the Company issued a qualified opinion in the 2023
annual report of the Company in respect of carrying amounts of the
balances due from and to the ZOU Entities as at 31 December 2023
on the basis of inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
due to the uncooperative attitude of the ZOU Entities. In March 2024,
the ZOU Entities denied the existence of and refused to repay the
amount due from ZOU Entities claiming that such amount had been
fully set off without providing sufficient and satisfactory evidence
or justification. In view of the above, and taking into account the
principle of prudence, provision of approximately RMB58.2 million has
been made for the amounts due from the ZOU Entities. Despite the
aforementioned provision, the Company is dedicated to and will, after
taking the totality of circumstances into account (including but not
limited to cost and benefits, success rate and effectiveness etc.), take
all appropriate actions to recover and/or resolve the amount due from
ZOU Entities and relevant issues, in order to safeguard the legitimate

interest of the Company and its shareholders.

If excluding the provisions for financial assets, the net loss would have
increased by approximately 16.5%, from approximately RMB26.1
million in 2023 to approximately RMB30.4 million in 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

The Company’s basic and diluted loss per ordinary share was
approximately RMB3.28 cents for the year of 2024 (2023: loss
per ordinary share RMB0.92 cents) based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately RMB87.7
million (2023: loss for the year RMB24.7 million), and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 2,674,188,000 for the year of
2024 (2023: 2,674,188,000).

Cost of sales

The cost of sales of the Group decreased by approximately 22.6%
from approximately RMB118.5 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB91.7 million in 2024. The decrease imbalance was in line with the
decrease in revenue.

Gross profit

The Group's gross profit for the year was approximately RMB27.9
million (2023: approximately RMB69.5 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 60.0% as compared with last year. The
gross profit margin decreased from 37.0% in 2023 to 23.3% in 2024.
This decrease was primarily attributable to the increase in clearance
sales during the year.

Other income and gains, net and gain on debt
restructuring

The other income and gains, net and gain on debt restructuring of
the Group decreased from approximately RMB95.4 million in 2023 to
approximately RMB56.1 million in 2024. Such decrease was mainly
due to the decrease in gain on debt restructuring.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately 32.2% from approximately RMB48.7 million in 2023
to approximately RMB33.0 million in 2024. This decrease primarily
reflected the Group's strategic move to close some branches in the
U.S. and U.K., as well as retail stores in Hong Kong. It has facilitated a
more efficient reallocation of resources towards alternative channels,
such as collaboration with local distributors, rather than hiring local
staff.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group decreased by approximately
29.4% from approximately RMB64.9 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB45.8 million in 2024. This decrease primarily reflected a reduction
in salaries and office supplies resulting from the closure of the
branches in the U.S. and U.K..

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group increased by approximately 42.1%
from approximately RMB14.0 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB19.9 million in 2024, which was primarily due to the increase in
bank and other borrowings amounting to approximately RMB87.5

million.

Income tax credit

The income tax credit of the Group was approximately RMBO.1 million
in 2024 (2023: approximately RMBO.1 million). The income tax credit
was mainly attributable to the over-provision in prior year.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Borrowing and pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings amounted to approximately RMB250.6 million, of
which RMB118.7 million were unsecured shareholder loan repayable
within one year or on demand. The bank and other borrowings’
interest rates ranged between 5.0% to 8.0% per annum.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group is total debts (comprised of amounts
due to related companies, lease liabilities, convertible loan and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) divided by deficit in
equity attributable to owners of the Company as at the end of the
year and multiplied by 100%. Gearing ratio was not applicable as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

Capital commitments

The Group did not have any capital commitment as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Contingent liabilities

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2024.

Trade receivables

The Group's trade receivables decreased to approximately RMB16.7
million as of 2024, compared to approximately RMB17.4 million
in 2023. This decline is primarily attributable to an increase in the
allowance for expected credit losses, which rose from approximately
RMB35.4 million in 2023 to approximately RMB37.2 million in 2024.

Trade payables

The Group’s trade payables decreased to approximately RMB28.9
million as of 31 December 2024, down from approximately RMB46.1
million in 2023. This reduction is primarily due to a decrease in
purchases from the Group’s suppliers during the fourth quarter of
2024 compared to 2023.

Foreign exchange exposure

Revenue from major customers is mainly from the U.S. and U.K.
while the production facilities of the Group are mainly located in the
PRC. Accordingly, most of the sales are denominated in U.S. dollar
while the costs arising from the Group’s operations are generally
settled in RMB. As a result, fluctuations in the value of U.S. dollar
against RMB could adversely affect the financial results of the Group.
During 2024, the Group did not experience any material difficulties or
impacts on its operations or liquidity as a result of currency exchange
fluctuation. The Group will continue to monitor closely the exchange
rate risk arising from its existing operations and new investments in
the future. The Group will further implement the necessary hedging
arrangement to mitigate any significant foreign exchange risk if and

when appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Pursuant to a stock purchase agreement dated 16 May 2023, the
Company has subscribed for 423 shares of Series Angel Preferred
Stock in Charme Inc. for the consideration of US$1,600,000. Upon
completion, the Company holds 15.9804% of the shares in Charme
Inc. (the “Charme”). Charme is principally engaged in developing and
sales of adjustable beds and medical beds to overseas markets. During
2024, the Company has been monitoring Charme's performance and
requesting financial information for assessment purposes. However,
it has struggled to contact Charme’s representatives, particularly Mr.
Zou Gebing, and has received no responses to its inquiries. This lack
of communication extends to other minority shareholders, who also
reported difficulties in obtaining information.

Morris International, owned by Mr. Zou Gebing, holds 70% of
Charme’s shares, and Mr. Zou is a substantial shareholder in the
Company. Despite the ongoing issues, the Company believes these
incidents will not significantly impact its financial position due to
its limited investment in Charme, which is already substantially
impaired in its financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2023. Meanwhile, Mr. Zou and his affiliates are involved in various
other matters, including net funds outflow of approximately
RMB37,398,000, which seems to constitute connected transactions
of the Company not having been approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company pursuant to the requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has reported these
incidents to relevant law enforcement agencies and regulatory
authorities in Hong Kong. For more details, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 16 May 2023, 7 July 2023 and 20
December 2024. Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments as at 31 December
2024 save as those disclosed in this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no plan authorised by the Board for material investments
or additions of capital assets at the date of this report.

GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2.1 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately RMB87,656,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31 December 2024, the
Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
RMB186,275,000 and RMB234,724,000 respectively. As stated in
Note 2.1, these conditions, along with other matters as set forth
in Note 2.1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

QUALIFIED OPINION

Basis for qualified opinion - scope limitation on
amounts due from and to related parties

The following is the basis for qualified opinion provided by the
auditors of the Company in the Annual Report. As stated in the
independent auditors’ report in the Annual Report, as disclosed
in Note 31, included in amounts due from related companies and
amounts due to related companies as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 were balances with entities which are controlled by Mr. Zou
Gebing, a substantial shareholder of the Company, who holds
24.24% of shareholding interests in the Company (“Zou Entities”).
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of amounts
due from Zou Entities, net of allowance for expected credit loss were
approximately RMB120,040,000 and RMB176,199,000 respectively
and the carrying amounts of amounts due to Zou Entities were
approximately RMB45,281,000 and RMB44,534,000 respectively.

26 REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BARWE HE KRB ERARRKET

-

RARSAY  EFTQUERBETEX
BRESIEMEAREERTE -

42 42 4 2
STRERT =

BMIRBE LA M BHRERWT2.1 - HA
RAANEEEHE2024F128318IEF
EREERRREBABRGEEEHARE
87,656,0007T * 72024412 A318 - K&
EoenaEFERARFEINORA
R #186,275,000 7T & A R # 234,724,000
T o AR EE2. Pl - ZEFIBRERERN
M2 1 EMEIE - RAFEEATET
M HAlge g U AEERFELCENENE
REKREERE o

REER

RESREE-HERWRENEE
73 FRIE K E8 ] PR

AT BN A B Z SRR T F AT IR AR B
EREXE - I FRANBILZEARE
Frat - RMIEE31ETHEER + 7020244 2023
12 A31 B Ay Y Fa B A B 508 K e 8
BERARFIERERARR T ERRTPIRE
T (3B AR RI24.24% 84 ) T H| &
BB(IBEKER) o488 - 120244 2023
F12A318 - BURREEFIENEREE
(MBREMEEEERE) DRIROARE
120,040,0007T & A K # 176,199,000 7T
MENFREEBHENEEAED A AHA
R#45,281,0007T K& A K #44,534,0007T °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

The Company’s auditors were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy themselves that the carrying amounts of the
balances with Zou Entities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were
not materially misstated because they were unable to obtain direct
confirmations from Zou Entities or have access to the management
or relevant personnel of Zou Entities. There were no other alternative
audit procedures that the auditor could carry out to obtain sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves about the
existence, accuracy and completeness of these balances as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Furthermore, the Group has recognised allowance for expected
credit loss on amounts due from Zou Entities of approximately
RMB58,224,000 and RMB182,000 in consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 respectively. The allowance for expected
credit loss on amounts due from Zou Entities in the consolidated
statement of financial position amounted to approximately
RMB59,891,000 and RMB1,241,000 as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 respectively. The auditor were unable to obtain the necessary
financial, corporate, operating and business information about Zou
Entities to support the impairment assessment of the amounts due
from the Zou Entities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

As a result, the auditor were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy themselves that the (i) carrying amounts of
the Group'’s balances with related companies as at 31 December 2024
and 2023; (ii) allowances for expected credit loss on amounts due
from related companies recognised as at and for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023; and (iii) other elements and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements in relation to the balances with
related companies included in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group, were free from material misstatements. Any adjustments
found to be necessary might have consequential significant impact on
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, net liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 and the elements making
up, and related disclosures in, the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

Management’s position and view

The auditors have requested a confirmation from the ZOU Entities
and related financial, corporate, operating and business information
in respect of (i) the amounts due from ZOU Entities and amounts due
to ZOU Entities as at 31 December 2024 of approximately RMB179.9
million and RMB45.3 million respectively; (ii) the allowance for
expected credit loss on the balances due from the ZOU Entities of
RMB59.9 million as at 31 December 2024, and (iii) the expected credit
loss on the balances due from the ZOU Entities of RMB58.2 million
recognised in the Company’s consolidated profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2024. It was the Company’s understanding that
the auditors’ requests were not satisfied due to the uncooperative
attitude of the ZOU Entities (over which the Company has no
control). The auditors stated that there were no other alternative
audit procedures that they could carry out to obtain sufficient and
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves about the existence,
accuracy, valuation and completeness of these balances as at 31
December 2024 (the “Audit Issue”).

There was no disagreement between the Company and its auditors.
Despite the management’s best effort in procuring necessary
information from and facilitate access to the ZOU Entities, the
uncooperative attitude of the ZOU Entities had led to the inability to
satisfy the auditors requests by providing sufficient appropriate audit
evidence. In the circumstance, the management understands the
qualified opinion issued by the auditors.

Audit committee’s view

The Audit Committee understands that the qualified opinion was
issued by the auditors as a result of their failure to obtain sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence in respect of the amount due from
and to the ZOU Entities and the impairment assessment thereon. The
Audit Committee, having considered the management’s assessment

and the auditors’ view, concurred with the management’s view.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

The Company’s plans to address the audit
qualifications

The Company is working closely with its auditors with a view to
resolving the Audit Issues as soon as practicable, including without
limitation ascertaining the audit evidence required to satisfy the
auditors.

In March 2024, the ZOU Entities denied the existence of and refused
to repay the amount due from ZOU Entities claiming that such
amount had been fully set off but failed to provide sufficient evidence
to justify such set-off.

The Company engaged an external professional auditor in the PRC
(the “PRC Auditor”) to report on the fund dealings between (i) the
key PRC subsidiaries of the Company (including Zhejiang Morris
Fashion Home Co., Limited (M I RAREHZKEABRAR]) (“Fashion
Home"), Zhejiang Apollo Leather Products Co., Ltd.* (AT TR 22 57
BFRGAERAE]), Zhejiang Premier Furniture Manufacture Co., Ltd.*
CIMTIRZERFEABR AR and Zhejiang Morris Furniture Co., Ltd.*
CINIREBRABR AR (collectively, the “Key PRC Subsidiaries”)
on one hand; and (ii) Mr. ZOU Gebing and Morris PRC on the other
hand, from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2022 (the “Review
Period”). It was discovered that during the Review Period, amongst
others, (i) the total amount of fund outflow from the Key PRC
Subsidiaries to Mr. Zou Gebing’s personal bank account was
RMB62,293,616.00; and (ii) the total amount of fund outflow from
the Key PRC Subsidiaries to Morris PRC was RMB1,313,641,527.96
(the “Aggregate Fund Outflows"”). The Company could not locate
any approval at the listed company level (including independent
shareholders’ approval) for all of the Aggregate Fund Outflows. In
view of the nature of the Aggregate Fund Outflows, the Company
has reported the relevant allegedly non-compliant events to relevant
law enforcement agencies or regulatory authorities.

* For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

As Mr. Zou Gebing (and the ZOU Entities controlled by him) and the
Company are now in an adversarial relationship, the Group has been
handling any recovery action carefully, with thorough consideration
and deliberation of strategic, legal and financial issues, with the
aid of professional advisers. The Company has conducted detailed
analysis, balancing all relevant factors including but not limited to: (1)
the availability and value of recoverable assets to obtain by recovery
actions; (2) any viable alternative or indirect procedures to pursue
the Group's claims; and (3) the cost-effectiveness of procedures.
Having regard to these considerations, despite the Company’s effort
in exploring various solutions, the Company has been experiencing
substantial difficulties in recovering the Amount due from ZOU Entities
in view of the lack of recoverable assets as a result of the ZOU Entities’
financial and credit condition known to the Company and the ZOU
Entities’ suspected behaviour of debt evasion. The Company would
also need to take into account its financial position and capacity in
formulating its strategy and action plan, including its net liabilities and
net current liabilities of RMB234,724,000 and RMB186,275,000 as at
31 December 2024, respectively, its loss-making position, as well as
the uncertainties brought by geopolitical dynamics on the Group (with
substantial overseas businesses). The Company has lodged complaints
to relevant law enforcement agencies or regulatory authorities in
respect of potential improprieties and would follow up with relevant
law enforcement agencies or regulatory authorities for regulatory or
law enforcement aids.

The Company will continue to explore possible solutions and use its
best endeavour to formulate a feasible action plan with a view to the
final resolution of the Audit Issues.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

The views of the management and the audit
committee on the material uncertainty opinion
relating to going concern

In view of the net current liabilities position, the Directors have
carried out a detailed review of the cash flow forecast of the Group
covering a period of not less than twelve months from the end of the
reporting period based on certain underlying assumptions including
(i) the Group succeeding in taking measures to tighten cost control;
(ii) the Directors succeeding in strengthening the capital base of the
Company including but not limited to, seeking new investment and
business opportunities; (iii) the shareholder of the Company, Century
Icon Holdings Limited, providing financial support to the Group to
enable the Group to continue as a going concern and to settle its
liabilities as and when they fall due; and (iv) the Group succeeding in
re-negotiating the repayment schedules with certain of its debtors and
endeavouring to request them to repay the trade receivables, other
receivables and amounts due from related companies in accordance
with the repayment schedules agreed with them. Taking into account
the above assumptions, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the twelve months
from 31 December 2024. The Directors will continue to negotiate
with banks and other financiers, financial institutions and potentially
interested investors with the view to obtaining new funding whether
by way of equity or debt financing to improve the Company’s
financial position and/or liquidity, with the objective of removing the

material uncertainty on going concern.

During the audit process, the audit committee discussed with the
management during which the management presented the financial
highlights and conveyed the key audit matters expressed by the
auditors. After considering the circumstances surrounding the
key audit matters and the management’s presentation, the audit
committee concurred with the management’s judgements regarding
the going concern basis of the financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

The management of the Group believes that talent is the basis
for long-term development of enterprises. The Group targets to
enhance its corporate image through building up and solidifying
the Company’s brand name. With the Five Hearts of Regal Partners:
ambition, confidence, determination, perseverance and loyalty, as
core values, the Group targets to establish a distinctive corporate
culture. Through regular trainings and promotion of its corporate
culture, the Group provides its staff with opportunities for personal
growth and enhances the employees’ sense of belonging to
the Group. In addition, the Group provides its employees with
competitive remuneration packages and various benefits in line with
industry practice. At the same time, the Group strives to create a
good working environment, and cultivates teamwork spirit among
employees. The Group carries out performance evaluation quarterly,
and conducts “Regal Partners Artisans” evaluations, aiming at
elevating the morale of the Group’s technicians. The Group regularly
reviews human resources policies to ensure that the policies align
with market practice and comply with regulatory requirements. As
of 31 December 2024, the Group employed 220 employees (31
December 2023: 338 employees). The total annual salary and related
costs (excluding directors’ remuneration) for 2024 were approximately
RMB37.8 million (2023: RMB53.8 million).

The Company operates a share option scheme which allows the
Company to grant options to eligible persons as rewards for their
contributions to the Group. The share option scheme has been
adopted by the Company on 10 December 2016. The Company had
also adopted a restricted share award scheme on 29 August 2019 for

the purpose of incentivising selected participants.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEENWRD (&)

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 7 March 2025, the Company and the placing agent entered into
the placing agreement pursuant to which the Company appointed
the placing agent to place, subject to the fulfillment of the conditions
precedent to the placing, a maximum of 550,000,000 placing shares
to not less than six independent placees at a price of HK$0.051 per
placing share, representing a discount of 15.00% to the closing price
of HK$0.060 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date
of the placing agreement. The placing was completed on 19 March
2025. The Company intends to apply the net proceeds (approximately
HK$27,801,000, which has not been used) in the following manners:
(i) as to 80% for the expansion of the Group's factory footprint in
Southeast Asia, including but not limited to the purchase of additional
equipment, leasing of additional workspace and renovation as well
as the hiring of additional workers; and (ii) as to 20% for the general
working capital purposes of the Group including but not limited to
the repayment of trade payables. Further details were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 7 March 2025 and 19 March
2025.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
TERABRR T EERER

The followings are part of the key risks and uncertainties identified by
the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to
those shown below which are not known to the Group or which may
not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.

FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC RISK
Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements
so as to ensure sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions (when applicable) to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and long term. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had no significant capital commitment.

Foreign currency risk

Revenue from major customers is mainly from the U.S. and U.K. while
the production facilities of the Group are mainly operates in the PRC.
Accordingly, most of the sales are denominated in U.S. dollar while
the costs arising from its operations are generally settled in RMB. As
a result, fluctuations in the value of U.S. dollars against RMB could
adversely affect the financial results of the Group. During 2024, the
Group did not experience any material difficulties or impacts on its
operations or liquidity as a result of currency exchange fluctuation.

The Group will continue to monitor closely the exchange rate risk
arising from its existing operations and new investments in the future.
The Group will further implement the necessary hedging arrangement
to mitigate any significant foreign exchange risk when and if

appropriate.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)
TERRBRIEERE(E)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables.
Credit evaluations are performed on all credit customers taking
into account the customer’s payment history and current ability to
pay, any information specific to the customer and the economic
environment in which the customer operates. The credit period is
generally one to two months, extending up to three to four months
for major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.
Impairment losses are recorded for those overdue balances where

there is objective evidence of impairment.

The Group has concentration risk in respect of trade receivables
due from the Group’s five largest customers who accounted
for approximately 60.2% and 54.7% of the Group’s total trade
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 respectively. The credit
risk exposure to trade receivables balance has been and will continue

to be monitored by the Group on an ongoing basis.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate
changes on interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The Group
monitors the interest rate exposure on a continuous basis and adjusts

the portfolio of bank deposits and borrowings where necessary.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)
TERRBRIEERE(E)

Economy of U.S. market

As part of the Group’s revenue is derived from the U.S., its results
of operations and financial condition therefore depend on the U.S.
economy. The Group's profitability and business growth are affected
by the uncertainty of macroeconomic conditions and uncertain

economic outlook and political conditions in U.S..

The U.S. economy faces challenges such as budget deficits, public
debt, lack of labor market dynamism and change in political instability.
Moreover, the change of trade policies of the United States with
China in recent years have brought adverse impact to the business
of the Group. It remains uncertain how Sino-US trade policies will
develop since the inauguration of the new US administration in
January 2021.

The Group has evaluated the business risk from the change in trade
policies of U.S. with China, and would explore different means to
mitigate such risks stemming therefrom.

36 REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

KB T I5 A

HRARER B WAREXE - HEL
BRERMBIRRBURN EELE - NE
B BF RN M EBREX RBEENRR
B N BEETE 1 A % 5 B B B O 48 7 FR S A
BUAHRZE

XREPFEBRRERT  RFE  BBHHT
SHNTREBRBIRES FHE - 1t
Sh I EXRBEHEEZBRNEDH AL
BEBEHRINEE - 5202151 A B
—ERFERENAR - PRESHRERD
KRB

AEECHEXBEHEREZRREEESE
MEBEE - YRR TRITENEER
B R Z R



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance to protect the interests of its Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The principle of the Company’s
corporate governance is to promote effective internal control and
risk management measures, uphold a high standard of ethics,
transparency, responsibility and integrity in all aspects, and to ensure
that its affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations. The Board believes that good corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company
to safeguard the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value
and formulate its business strategies and policies. The Board has
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and is
satisfied that save as disclosed below, the Company has complied
with all code provisions (“Code Provisions”) and, where applicable,
the recommended best practices of the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Corporate Governance Code”) set out in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) during 2024 and up to the date of this report.

Code Provision D.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code provides
that management should provide members of the board with monthly
updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the
issuer’'s performance, position and prospects in sufficient details to
enable the board as a whole and each director to discharge their
duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules. Although
the management of the Company did not provide a regular monthly
update to the members of the Board, the management keeps
providing information and updates to the members of the Board as

and when appropriate.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance standard,
comply with regulatory requirements and meet the growing
expectations of shareholders and investors of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERKRE (K)

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct of
the Company for Directors’ securities transactions. The Company
has made specific enquiry with its incumbent Directors regarding
compliance with the Model Code during the Reporting Period, and
they all confirmed that they had fully complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code regarding directors’ securities
transactions throughout the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the management, businesses,
strategic directions and financial performance of the Group. The
Board holds regular meetings to discuss the Group’s businesses and
operations. All important issues are discussed in a timely manner. The
Board delegates to the management the daily operations of the Group
under the directions set out by the management and the Board. The
Board has established various committees and has delegated to the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination
Committee of the Board (collectively, the “Board Committees”)
various duties. All the Board Committees perform their distinct roles
in accordance with their respective terms of reference.

Pursuant to the internal guidelines of the Group, the Board shall meet
at least four times a year. Additional board meetings will be held
when warranted. The Directors at all times have full and timely access
to information of the Group. There is a procedure for Directors to
seek independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary by

them at the expense of the Company, as appropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERKRE (K)

Directors receive at least 14 days prior written notice of a regular
meeting and may propose matters for discussion to be included in the
agenda. The minutes of Board meetings are prepared by the company
secretary with details of the decisions reached, any concerns raised
and dissenting views expressed. Copies of the final versions of Board
minutes are sent to the Directors for their information and records.
The draft minutes are sent to all Directors within a reasonable time
after each meeting for their comments before being formally signed.
The signed minutes are kept in safe custody by the company secretary
and are available for inspection by the Directors.

Insurance coverage in respect of Directors’ and officers’ liability has
been arranged by the Company.

As of the date of this report, the composition of the Board is as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Pang (Chairman)
Mr. CHONG Tsz Ngai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZOU Gebing (resigned on 8 January 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSE Hok Kan
Ms. WU Xiangfei (removed on 21 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Prof. KWAN Pun Fong Vincent
Prof. LEE Chack Fan

Ms. CHEN Jianhua

Prof. SIT Wing Hang, Alfred

The biographies of the Directors are set out in “Profile of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 10 to 17 of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERKRE (K)

During the Reporting Period, the attendance of the individual RIREHE - SEFHESZBEROT ¢

Directors at the meetings is set out below:

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend during the Reporting Period
REEDHLR/ FEREENEERY

Remuneration Nomination Audit General
Committee Committee Committee Board Meeting
Name of Director BEpg ¥HZEE  REZEE  ENZEE Bz REAE
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Tse Kam Pang Eif] e NATEE NATEH NATEH W),
Mr. Chong Tsz Ngai EFREE NATEE NATER NATEA 22
Mr. Zou Gebing PrRELE
(resigned on 8 January 2024) (20241 A8EEHT) NATEE NATER NATEA NATER
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Tse Hok Kan HEGRE NATEF NATEF NATER 1/1
Ms. Wu Xiangfei SaRxt
(removed on 21 June 2024) (H2024%6R21BRES) NATEE NATEH NATEH 7 N
Independent non-executive BUFHITES
Directors
Prof. Kwan Pun Fong Vincent BRAAK 11 1/1 33 1010 1/1
Prof. Lee Chack Fan FEAHE N N 33 10110 n
Ms. Chen Jianhua REfEat 11 1/1 33 1010 1/1
Prof. Sit Wing Hang, Alfred 2 QE 6 11 /1 33 1010 22
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERKRE (K)

The non-executive Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) have been appointed for a specific term of three years and
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in

accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Independence of independent non-executive
directors

The role of the independent non-executive Directors is to provide
independent and objective opinions to the Board, giving adequate
control and balances for the Company to protect the overall interests
of the Shareholders and the Company.

They serve actively on the Board and Board Committees to
provide their independent and objective views. In compliance with
Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed at least three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board. At least one of the
independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate professional
qualifications in accounting or related financial management expertise

as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Board must satisfy itself that an independent non-executive
Director does not have any material relationship with the Group.
The Board is guided by the criteria of independence as set out in the

Listing Rules in determining the independence of Directors.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other, save as disclosed under
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in
this annual report. The Company has received annual confirmation
of independence from all the independent non-executive Directors
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board is of the
view that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent

in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERKRE (K)

Prof. Lee, Prof. Kwan and Ms. Chen will retire and offer themselves
for re-election as an independent non-executive Director of the
Company at the coming annual general meeting of the Company held
on 27 June 2025. Please refer to “Corporate Governance Practices”

on page 37 of this report for further details.

Board independence

The Company recognizes the Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board has
established mechanism to ensure independent views and input from

any Director.

The governance framework and the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by the Board, through its Nomination Committee,
to ensure their effectiveness:

1. Four out of the seven Directors are Independent Non-Executive
Directors, which meets the requirements of the Listing Rules
that the Board must have at least three independent non-
executive Directors and must appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

2. The Nomination Committee will assess the independence,
qualification and time commitment of a candidate who is
nominated to be a new independent non-executive Director
before appointment and also the continued independence of
existing Independent non-executive Directors and their time
commitments annually. On an annual basis, all independent
non-executive Directors are required to confirm in writing their
compliance of independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, and to disclose the number of nature of
offices held by them in public companies or organizations and

other significant commitments.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERKRE (K)

3. External independent professional advice is available as and
when required by individual Directors and/or committee of
the Board as prescribed in the terms of reference of such
committees.

4.  All Directors are encouraged to express freely and their
independent views and constructive challenges during the

Board/Board Committee meetings.

5. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements will generally be granted to independent non-
executive Directors.

6. A Director (including independent non-executive Director) who
has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or other
proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any
Board resolution approving the same.

The Board has reviewed the implementation of the above
mechanism(s) to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board for the year ended 31 December 2024 and is satisfied that
such mechanisms remain to be effective.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERKRE (K)

Directors’ training

All Directors are provided with timely updates on the Company’s
performance, financial position and prospects to enable the Board
as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition,
the Company arranges for and provides continuous professional
development training and relevant materials to the Directors to help
ensure they are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial,
legal and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts
its business and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director. The Directors have
provided to the Company their record of continuous professional
development training, and they have participated in training activities

in the following manner:

1. Reading materials on Directors’ duties, compliance issues for
listed companies and/or legal and regulatory requirements;

2. Reading materials on corporate governance and financial

reporting; and
3. Reading materials on risk management and internal control.

Dividend policy

On 10 December 2018, the Company adopted a new dividend policy
that may declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the
Company, provided that the Group records a profit after tax and
that the declaration and distribution of dividends does not affect the
normal operations of the Group. The Company intends to pay out
an annual dividend payment at a payout ratio of not less than 30%
of the Group’s consolidated net profit after tax for the then financial
year after taking into consideration of certain factors stated in the

Company’s announcement dated 10 December 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERKRE (K)

Board diversity policy (“Diversity Policy”)

The Company adopted a policy of having a diversity in the
composition of Board members so as to enhance the quality of its
performance. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against selection criteria, having regard for the benefits

of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Diversity Policy and, from time to time, review the Diversity Policy to
ensure its effectiveness.

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of seven Directors,
of which one Director is female. The Board values gender diversity
is mindful of the objectives for the factors as set out in the Board
Diversity Policy for assessing the candidacy of the Board members
and will ensure that any successors to the Board shall follow the
Board Diversity Policy and that gender diversity will be achieved in
respect of the Board. The Board considers that the Board is sufficiently
diverse and will regularly review diversity and consider implementing
measurable objective where appropriate. Similar considerations will
also be in place to assess the candidacy of the senior management

team from time to time.

The Group has also taken, and continues to take, steps to promote
diversity at all levels of its workforce. Opportunities for employment,
training and career development are equally opened to all eligible
employees without discrimination. The male to female ratio in
the workforce of the Group including senior management as at
31 December 2024 is approximately 2:1 which is in line with the
gender ratio in the industry in which the Group operates. The Group
considers a number of factor when hiring employees including
gender, age, cultural and education background, qualification,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Board considers that the gender diversity in workforce
(including senior management) is currently achieved.
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Nomination policy

The Board is responsible for selection and appointment of Directors.
The Nomination Policy of the Board (the “Nomination Policy”)
sets out the criteria, process and procedures for the Nomination
Committee to recommend suitable candidates for directorship with
a view to ensuring that the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company'’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of factors in
making nominations, including but not limited to the skills and
experience of the candidate, the commitment that the candidate
is expected to devote to the Board and the competence of the
candidate in satisfying relevant legal and regulatory requirements. The
Company adopted the Diversity Policy as stated in the previous section
for achieving diversity on the Board with reference to the Company’s
business model and specific needs. The candidate to be nominated as
an INED must satisfy the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

If the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement director is required, the Committee may take such
measures that it considers appropriate in connection with its
identification and evaluation of a candidate. The Nomination
Committee may propose to the Board a candidate recommended
or offered for nomination by a shareholder of the Company as a
nominee for election to the Board. On making recommendation, the
Nomination Committee may submit the candidate’s personal profile to
the Board for consideration. The Board may appoint the candidate(s) as
director(s) to fill a casual vacancy(ies) or as an addition to the Board or
recommend such candidate to shareholders for election or re-election
(where appropriate) at the general meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board Committees are established with defined written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board Committees
are posted on the Company’s website and the website of the Stock
Exchange and are available to the Shareholders upon request.

All members of each Board Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.

Audit committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to
review and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control
system and risk management system of the Group, to oversee the
audit process and to perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

Members of the Audit Committee are Prof. Kwan Pun Fong Vincent
(Chairman), Ms. Chen Jianhua, Prof. Lee Chack Fan and Prof. Sit Wing
Hang, Alfred. They are all independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee reviewed, among other things, the audited
financial statements for 2024 with recommendations to the Board
for approval and discussed with the management and the external
auditors the accounting policies and practices which may affect the
Group, the report prepared by the external auditors covering major
findings in the course of the audit and the accounting and financial

reporting matters.
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Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to establish and review the policy and structure of
the remuneration for the Directors and senior management and
make recommendations on the remuneration packages of individual
Directors and senior management and on other employee benefit

arrangements.

The Remuneration Committee consists of all the independent non-
executive Directors, namely Prof. Kwan Pun Fong Vincent, Ms. Chen
Jianhua, Prof. Lee Chack Fan and Prof. Sit Wing Hang, Alfred. Prof.
Kwan Pun Fong Vincent currently serves as the chairman of the

Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has assessed the performance of the
Directors and senior management of the Company, and reviewed and
recommended to the Board the remuneration policy and structure

relating to the Directors and senior management of the Company.

Remuneration policy

The principles of the Group’s remuneration policy:

1. were applied to all Directors and senior management of the
Group for the Year and, so far as practicable, shall be applied to

them for subsequent years;

2. were sufficiently flexible taking into account future changes
in the Company’s business environment and remuneration

practice;

3. allowed remuneration arrangement to be designed to support
the business strategy of the Group and to align with the

interests of the Group’s shareholders; and
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4. aimed at setting appropriate reward levels to reflect the
competitiveness in the market in which comparable companies
and the Group had been operating during the Year so as to

retain individuals with outstanding performance.

The remuneration package of each executive Director and senior
management of the Group during the Year was structured to include:

(@) an appropriate rate of base compensation for the job of each

Executive Director and senior management of the Group;
(b)  competitive benefit programs; and

(c) sets of performance measures and targets for performance-
related annual and long-term incentive plans based on the
appropriate independent advice and/or an assessment of the
interests of shareholders of the Company and taking into
account an appropriate balance of risk and reward for the
Directors and other participants.

The remuneration for the Directors and senior management comprises
basic salary, retirement benefits and discretionary bonus. Details of
the amount of emoluments of Directors paid for 2024 are set out in
note 9 to the financial statements.

Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on appointments of the Directors, to
assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,

to take up references and to consider related matters.

The Nomination Committee consists of all the independent non-
executive Directors, namely Prof. Kwan Pun Fong Vincent, Ms. Chen
Jianhua, Prof. Lee Chack Fan and Prof. Sit Wing Hang, Alfred. Prof.
Kwan Pun Fong Vincent currently serves as the chairman of the

Nomination Committee.
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The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships by making reference to
the balance of expertise, skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of such individuals, the
requirements of the business of the Group and other relevant
statutory requirements and regulations. An external recruitment
agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment and selection
process when necessary.

Further, pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee, the Nomination Committee, when reviewing the
composition of the Board, will have regard to the diversity of
the Board, which includes gender, age, cultural and educational
background, length of service, skills, knowledge and professional
experience of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of diversity of Board members.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the policy for the
nomination of Directors, the structure, size and composition of the
Board and assessed independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

Corporate governance functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code, namely:

(i)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(iiiy  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (including in relation to securities trading)
applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report in the Company’s annual report.

The Board will continue to review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and legal and regulatory
compliance, training and continuous professional development
participations of the Directors, as well as the Company’s compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code.

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

During 2024, the total fees paid/payable in respect of services

provided by the Group’s external auditors are set out below:

(iv) #E  REEREFEANEERES
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RHEHE) Rk
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2024

20244

RMB’'000

ARET T

Audit and audit related services Fit REFHEARS 1,260
Non-audit services: Taxation and other FEBETIRTE - TR I H fth B2 AR TS

professional services -

1,260

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is responsible for handling company secretarial
matters. The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Lam Hoi Lun.
Mr. Lam has received no less than 15 hours of professional training in

compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board, supported by the finance and accounting department,
is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of
the Group that give a true and fair view. In preparing the financial
statements, the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants have been
adopted. Appropriate accounting policies have also been used and
applied consistently. The appropriateness of the preparation of the
Company'’s consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis
largely depends upon the outcome of the underlying assumptions as
detailed in Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which in
particular include: (i) cost control tightening measures; (i) alternatives
to strengthen the capital base; (iii) financial support from the ultimate
holding company; and (iv) re-negotiation with debtors. However,
the eventual outcome of the plans and measures described above
are inherently uncertain. The conditions stated in Note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, including the net loss, net current
liabilities, net liabilities, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
lease liabilities, convertible loan, cash and cash equivalents of the
Group, indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubts about the Group's ability to continue as a going

concern.

The statement by the auditors of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
included in the Report of the Independent Auditors on pages 85 to 96
of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL [BL e B IR N NS ES i

The management has the responsibility to maintain appropriate and EEEGEMHFSBELERNRRBREIE KL
effective risk management and internal control systems, and the AEEIEHIE  MESCREZLEFH
Board has the responsibility to review and monitor the effectiveness &1 [ B2 2% 7K 42 (6] #9 [ B & 1B K (A9 36 5 45 )
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems at least ECREREI S - EENAREREEE
annually covering material controls, including financial, operational  E5#2)R)A % - LRI HIE R 244
and compliance controls, to ensure that the systems in place are  MAZME - NEBIRMARBEIEH EAE
adequate and effective. The Group adopts a risk management system IBABEZERE L2 ENRAR - ZHE 2
which manages the risk associated with its business and operations. LA N[EH :

The system comprises the following phases:

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives &5l :  HBIEBFTARE - EEBIZERA]
and risks that could affect the achievement of BERE BIREKER o
objectives.

Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and ~ §Hl © 2T EKRE A 1T R EIT R,
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly. BAE A VELABRERT A o

Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective &2 : ZEEBREY  WREEESH
communication to the Board and on-going ROE BB RS R TR AR o

monitor the residual risks.
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The Company has in place an internal control system which is ARABDHIERABEEELESE A
compatible with The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 4% Z & @ ( The Committee of Sponsoring
the Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The COSO  Organizations of the Treadway Commission
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding [ COSO)#20134F 8 H FIEZR A A 2B ES 4%
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial ~ #IE ¢ COSOMEZR AR E R EBEB L ES
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The 314 KRR M « BA 3R 4 0] 521 DA K B <F
five key components of the COSO framework are shown as follows: BRERERIBIR - COSOMEZRRAMAT

FEIRASR AR DA
Control A set of standards, processes and structures — B5i% RAEEFRREAPE IR HER
Environment: that provide the basis for carrying out internal RE . W—ERE - BFREE-

control across the Group.

Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying & BRI R AT R IAZERALEE R
and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s Sl - 1R RERETE A0 1A TR R B L K A
objectives, forming a basis for determining how BB ERE

risks should be managed.

Control Activities:  Action established by policies and procedures — E5#% BUR RA2 Fr B B R EF R B
to help ensure that management directives to 78) 0 AEKBENERERSENT
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives il EHFTE ©
are carried out.

Information and Internal and external communication to provide Bk  AAEBIRHEETHSELENE

Communication:  the Group with the information needed to carry A AFBYRERINDEE o
out day-to-day controls.

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain ~ E5%2 BEEASEENS AR 2
whether each component of internal control is BIFERBEITMETHRERE
present and functioning. R o

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are, AT * NEBHREREIE R AIPEILHE
however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure ~ HEZEE M IEHEBR T EEEX XK B IZHA
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and [ - W {E A] ¥ & KRR I8 LR IE A
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. BEWIFBREHRE -
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The existing management of the Company considers that the
qualified opinion originates from historical transactions involving the
Zou Entities, which, as disclosed in the sub-section headed “Qualified
Opinion” in the Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report,
may involve the Company’s internal control system. The internal
control system of the Company, including without limitation, the
internal transaction approval procedures, has been revamped and
enhanced following the engagement of the existing management.

The existing management of the Company will use every effort to
implement and maintain intact financial reporting procedures so as
to avoid re-occurrence of similar issues, including conducting internal
control review(s) as and when appropriate. To prevent similar non-
compliance from occurring in the future, the Company has put in
place the following remedial measures:

(@  the Company has designated Professor Kwan Pun Fong Vincent,
an independent non-executive Director who has extensive
compliance and financial management experience, to be a
designated officer (the “Designated Officer”) for advising
on and overseeing the internal controls of the Group. The
Designated Officer would assist the Group in evaluating and
implementing its risk management and compliance policies,
in particular, management and reporting polices for notifiable
transactions and connected transactions;

(b) the Company has implemented and circulated internally a new
internal approval policy (including document signing and use
of seal/chop) to the effect that no legally binding documents
or documents of material effect to the Group may be signed or
entered into without the written approval from the Chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company (the “CEO");
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the Company has implemented an enhanced internal control
system for fund transfers. Depending on fund size, applications
will have to be made to and approvals will be provided by
relevant authorised senior management personnel of the Group.
All application forms and approval records for fund transfers will
be properly retained and kept. Material fund transfers will only
be made with the written approval from the Chairman and the
CEQ, and fund transfers which constitute notifiable transactions
and/or connected transactions under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) will be conducted in accordance
with the measures set out in paragraph (e) below;

the Company has circulated within the Group guidance
materials in relation to the Listing Rules requirements in
respect of notifiable transactions and connected transactions.
In particular, in-house training or relevant materials will be
provided to the key management personnel and relevant staff
of the Group on at least an annual basis to ensure they have
the practical knowledge to identify notifiable and connected
transactions and comply with relevant requirements under the
Listing Rules;

the Company has implemented enhanced internal control
procedures in monitoring notifiable transactions and connected
transactions under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules:

o subsidiaries of the Group shall from time to time and
regularly report to the CEO in respect of potential
transactions to be entered into by the subsidiaries;

° the CEO (with the assistance of the compliance
department) will be responsible for reviewing and
checking whether the reports from subsidiaries contain
information that may constitute notifiable transaction
or connected transaction to be entered into in the next
month and shall consolidate all information received
and keep proper record of the reported potential or
consummated transactions;
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based on the information provided, the compliance
department will advise the applicable compliance
requirements under the Listing Rules (if any) in respect
of the reported transactions (after consultation with
professional advisers, if necessary). No agreement will be
entered into before a written clearance is issued by the
CEQ;

the details of all notifiable or connected transactions will
be reported to the CEO, chief financial officer and/or
the Board as appropriate, and if needed, the compliance
department shall arrange formal announcement/circular/
general meetings etc. in accordance with the Listing Rules;
and

the CEO will conduct regular inspections and verifications
on at least a quarterly basis to identify and verify whether
there are any unreported transactions, which, if found,
will be reported to the senior management of the
Company and/or Board as soon as practicable.

the Company will, as and when appropriate and necessary,

seek external legal or other professional advice as to any action

required to be taken in relation to any proposed transactions

or events in the future. The Company will allocate resources

such

that the Independent Non-Executive Directors will have

sufficient access to independent professional advice as they see

fit in assessing future transactions of the Group.
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The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a
need for an internal audit department. Given the Group's relatively
simple corporate and operation structure, as opposed to diverting
resources to establish a separate internal audit department, the
Board, supported by the Audit Committee, is directly responsible for
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and for

reviewing its effectiveness.

Pursuant to the Statement of Disciplinary Action published by the
Stock Exchange dated 9 January 2025, an independent review of
the Company’s internal controls for procuring compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code and Chapters 14 and 14A of the
Listing Rules was directed by the Stock Exchange. In view of this and
as part of the remedial measures implemented by the Company to
improve its internal control system, the Company has appointed an
independent external adviser with professional staff in possession of
relevant expertise and satisfactory to the Stock Exchange to conduct
a thorough review of and make recommendations to improve the
Company’s internal controls and to procure compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code and Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing
Rules (the “Internal Control Review"”). The Board and the Audit
Committee had reviewed the resources, staff qualifications and
experience and training programs of the external independent adviser
and considered they are adequate and sufficient.

The independent external adviser has reported to the Company for
its findings and recommendation. The Company agreed with the
recommendation and will adopt the recommenced practice in the
future. Having considered the findings and recommendations of the
Internal Control Review and the response and action of the Company,
both the Audit Committee and the Board are of the view that the
Company’s proposed measures are adequate and sufficient to address
the findings of the Internal Control Review and that the Group will
develop adequate internal control systems to procure compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code and Chapters 14 and 14A
of the Listing Rules. Details of which please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 7 April 2025.
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With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company is aware of
the relevant obligations under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") and the Listing
Rules.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group also adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure

requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

1. The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

2. Confidentiality covenants will be in place when the Group

enters into significant negotiations.

In addition, all employees are required to strictly adhere to the rules
and regulations regarding the management of inside information,
including that all employees who, because of his/her office or
employment, is likely to be in possession of inside information in
relation to the Company, are required to comply with the securities
transaction rules adopted by the Company which are on terms no less

exacting than those required under the Listing Rules.

The Board and the Audit Committee had reviewed the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report
and believes that the existing systems are adequate and effective.

FLES IR R # A NEH B RAEFF R BB ER IR
M E - ARBNEEBENIFES7T1ER
FREME G RERMERS ) N Eh
RETHAELT -

AIRARE AR BRI S E I R
EAABRBEENNEEE £l - <8
MEE MBS - AERETRAYL B AR H
EBRERERF - AEEETHRAETE
BEEAERFEEEREUANILERE
FAAKBRERT - HPEeHE:

1. ELBEENRFELEHEBEN -
ZEARHEENEERDANEEFH
REELE -

2. AEBEETEREARSE AT
fERK
AN FrEREABIEETEBARER

EEMRARATE  BREEEBUKER
BEAAEZERBALRARHEEHFT
FREBEETARBMRMANBELRHR
A EERTER LR AEORE

EEghERZBECRREBANIER
A B Hie s AN R E R E IR R N EDE
ZHIER AR BRI - WRRBEAH
EROMEBR

EEERERABR AR 2024 F3F 59



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
ERERKRE (K)

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for the
Shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board. Subject to
provisions of the applicable laws in the Cayman Islands and the Listing
Rules, the Articles require that an annual general meeting (“AGM")
of the Company to be held each year and at the venue as determined
by the Board. Each general meeting, other than an AGM, is called an

extraordinary meeting.

According to the Articles, any one or more members holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
shareholders at general meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal
(the “Proposal”) with his/her/its detailed contact information to
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong. The
identity of the Shareholder and his/her/its request will be verified
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon
confirmation by the Company’s branch share registrar that the
request is proper and in order and made by a Shareholder, the Board
will determine in its sole discretion whether the Proposal may be
included in the agenda for the general meeting.
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Putting enquiries by shareholders to the board

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available and
the Company has an investor relationship personnel to attend to
enquiries from the Shareholders. Details of the contact person are set

out below:

Name: Mr. Chong Tsz Ngai

Telephone: (852) 2106 3288

Email: Anthony.chong@theregalpartners.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company and/or by sending them to the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at the following
correspondence address and addressing to the Board:

Address: Unit 3103, 31 Floor, Trendy CTR, 682 Castle Peak RD,
Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings,
share transfer, share registration and payment of dividend to Tricor
Investor Services Limited (the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong). Contact details of Tricor Investor Services Limited are set

out below:

Address: 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong

Telephone:  (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
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Communication with shareholders

Under its shareholders’ communication policy, the Board and senior
management maintain a continuing dialogue with the Shareholders
and investors through various channels including the Company’s AGM
to answer Shareholders’ questions. The chairman and other members
of the Board are present at the AGM. The annual report and AGM
circular is distributed to all the Shareholders at least 20 clear business
days before the AGM.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Company'’s shareholders’ communication policy including steps taken
at the general meetings the handling of queries received (if any) and
the multiple channels of communication and engagement in place,
and considered the Company’s shareholders’ communication policy
has been properly implemented during the year and under review and
is effective.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company establishes different communication channels with
investors to update them with the latest business development and
financial performance including the AGM, the publication of annual
reports, announcements and circulars on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company in order to maintain a high level of

transparency.

MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Company adopted an amended and restated memorandum of
association on 10 December 2016 and amended and restated articles
of association on the Listing Date.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEHRE

The Directors present this annual report and the audited consolidated

financial statements of the Company for 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of business performance of the Group, the Group’s
business prospect and the financial key performance indicators during
2024 are set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”,
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on page 5, pages 6 to 9 and pages 18 to 33 respectively of this
annual report. The content is part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE COMPANY

The principal risks and uncertainties of the Group during the
Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Principal Risks and
Uncertainties” on pages 34 to 36 of this annual report. The content is
part of this directors’ report.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND
COMPLIANCE WITH LAW AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. Being manufacturing and trading companies in the PRC,
the Group is subject to various environmental laws and regulations
set by the PRC national, provincial and municipal governments.
Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
laws, rules and regulations. During 2024, the Group has complied
with relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact on
the operations of the Group. Further, any changes in applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and relevant operation units from time to time.

A report on the environmental, social and governance aspects is
prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules will
be published on the Investor Relations section of the Company’s
(http://www.theregalpartners.com/) and the Stock Exchange’s
(https://www.hkexnews.hk/) websites at the same time as the

publication of the Company’s annual report.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as the holding company of the Group and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale of
sofas, sofa covers and other furniture products.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
97 to 98 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024. As at the date of this annual report,
the Board was not aware that any shareholders of the Company had

waived or agreed to any arrangement to waive dividends.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during 2024 in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the Company are set out in note 28 to the

Company’s financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem
any of the listed securities of the Company (including sale of treasury
shares) during 2024.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS UNDER RULE
13.18 OF THE LISTING RULES

On 21 December 2022, the Company (as borrower) and International
Finance Corporation (“IFC") (as lender), Mr. Zou Gebing (as guarantor)
and other parties entered into the Amendment Agreement to amend
the principal terms and conditions of the Convertible Loan under a
convertible loan agreement dated 5 January 2018 (“Convertible
Loan Agreement”). Pursuant to the Amendment Agreement, the
amount of default interests due and payable by the Company to IFC
pursuant to the Convertible Loan Agreement for the period starting
from 2 August 2022 (inclusive) and ending on 15 September 2022
(exclusive) is HK$207,667.24. The amount of redemption premium
due and payable by the Company to IFC pursuant to the Convertible
Loan Agreement as of the date of the Amendment Agreement
is HK$2,191,768.50. The outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Loan as of 29 September 2022 is HK$81,439,030.80 and
the amount of due but unpaid jeopardy expenses as of 29 August
2022 in connection with the Convertible Loan is US$92,383.

Under the Amendment Agreement, upon the occurrence of any of

the following:

() atanytime and for any reason, Mr. Tse Kam Pang (& $35) (“Mr.
Tse"”) and Mr. Zou Gebing (as a whole) cease to directly or
indirectly own at least 51%, of both the economic and voting
interests in the Company'’s share capital (determined on a fully
diluted basis),

(i) any person or group other than Mr. Zou Gebing shall have
obtained the power (whether or not exercised) to elect a
majority of the board of directors of Morris Capital, or any
person or group other than Mr. Tse shall have obtained the
power (whether or not exercised) to elect a majority of the
board of directors of Century Icon Holdings Limited,
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(i) any person or group other than Century Icon Holdings Limited
and the Morris Capital (as a whole) shall have obtained the
power (whether or not exercised) to elect a majority of the
Board,

(iv)  with effect from the closing of the general offer arising from
the completion of the Share Subscription, the Board shall cease

to consist of a majority of continuing directors or

a “change of control” or similar event shall occur as provided in
any other loan or preferred stock documentation relating to the

Company.

IFC may serve a written notice (a “Prepayment Notice”) on the
Company requiring the Company to prepay any portion or all of the
outstanding Convertible Loan in full within 10 days of the date of
the Prepayment Notice under the Convertible Loan Agreement (as

amended by the Amendment Agreement).

The Company was informed by IFC that, on 23 September 2024, IFC
assigned and transferred the Convertible Loan and relevant securities
to Winner Union Limited, an independent third party.

Further details of the Facilities are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 5 January 2018, 24 January 2018, 10 October
2019 and 30 December 2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (31 December 2023: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Five year financial summary are set in the section headed “Five Year

Financial Summary” on page 240 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during 2024 and up to the date of this annual report

were:

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Pang (Chairman)
Mr. CHONG Tsz Ngai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. ZOU Gebing (resigned on 8 January 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. TSE Hok Kan
Ms. WU Xiangfei (removed on 21 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Prof. KWAN Pun Fong Vincent
Prof. LEE Chack Fan

Ms. CHEN Jianhua

Prof. SIT Wing Hang, Alfred

In accordance with paragraph 83(3) of the Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until
the first general meeting of shareholders after his appointment and
be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Further, pursuant to paragraph 84(1) of the Articles, one-third of
the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an AGM
at least once every three years and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election for the forthcoming year. According to paragraph 84(2) of
the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to Article
83(3) shall not be taken into account in determining which particular
Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation.
Details of the re-electing directors at the forthcoming AGM will be set

out in the Company’s circular to be dispatched to the Shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors do not have subsisting service agreements with
the Company which is not determinable by the employer within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation). Save as disclosed in note 9 to the financial
statements, there were no other emoluments, pension and any
compensation arrangements for the Directors and past Directors as
are specified on section 78 of Schedule 11 to the new Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), with reference to section 161 of
the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap 32).

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a fixed term of three years commencing from 9 November 2022
(which shall continue for further successive periods until terminated
by either party giving at least three months’ prior written notice). They
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at AGM of the

Company at least once every three years and until terminated.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there were no
changes in Directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to

paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as those disclosed under the section headed ”“Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” and the
related party transactions as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2023 or at any time
during 2024.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, are set out below:

EERBARS  ZHEAEH
R E A

BRIFBER G MFERER S | — 8 REGE
B3R R M523 AT B M0 BB 5 2 B AT I
FTESN - FA2023412 A31HEA 20245 F
R MESRAAREKEBRALRAR
SEHAEMMBRRMER O REFHE
ENHEEREEYHEREERAEEN
BARS  RHHEDFE -

ERNESHER

MR2024F 128310 ARAIZEEREE
TTERA B AR Bl sk B AT (AR B A B (42 3%
M EAEEFI B XVERE T K% ) R -
HEROMEEFETFREREESF RS
IEBIEXVER 7 K85 SP/B R M A &) K B
RAT(BRIERIEE S K E DB B
LR BB EEHE NS SAR ) SR
BB N HAE 60 55 352 6B 5 A s 6P it
B ATERETRIMER AR
L ERNE

(i) The Company (i) A&AF
Number of Approximate
Name of Director/ securities percentage of
chief executive Nature of Interest (Note 1) shareholding
HEEE
EE BRTRASH®E ERlE (BiFET) HRESANES L
Mr. Tse Kam Pang (Note 2) Interest of controlled 1,300,038,000 shares (L) 47.27%
corporation
R 5 A (BTEE2) XA EER 1,300,038,0008%(L)
Notes: MHaT -
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such Shares. 1. FRMLIKRERZBALTRZERD LT
E °
2. Century Icon Holdings Limited (“Century Icon”) is owned as to 100% by 2. Century Icon Holdings Limited([ Century

Mr. Tse Kam Pang. Under the SFO, Mr. Tse Kam Pang will therefore be
deemed, or taken to be, interested in the same number of shares in which
Century Icon is interested.

Icon | ) 1 8 B85 75 AEHE A 100% © IRIERE
FREEED] - RS kA E AR
A E Ve Century IconifE B HIREEEY
RSB RNPHEEEL -
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EEEWE(E)
(i) Century Icon (Note 1) (i) Century Icon(FfzE1)
Number of Approximate
securities percentage of
Name of director/chief executive Nature of Interest (Note 2) shareholding
EHEE
B BETBRASESE ERtE (MH5E2) HRESNEDL
Mr. Tse Kam Pang Beneficial owner 100 shares of 100%
US$1 each (L)
ikl opies BERBEBA 100R & A & 100%
1ETTH R (L)
Notes: BiaE -
1. Century Icon holds 47.27% of the Shares. Therefore, Century Icon is the 1. Century Icon ¥§ 5 47.27% &) & 7 °
holding company and an associated corporation of the Company. I+ Century lcon B4R A EER A 7 &
FEEEEE o
2. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such shares. 2. FEILIRKRZEBATRZERMDEOLT
Ao

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives of B _EXFTIEEESN - 7H2024%12 8318 -
the Company had any other personal, family, corporate and other AR RZE R K EEITHABBMER AR A
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or sk EAT[AEEEEE (37 5 KA EIEHIEXV
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations 2P 78 E ) AR - B G SREREE
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register R EA B ARIEES &S KM 5535215
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise 17 & M & sl BRIEIZEST AR AA R
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the R REEZFTEVEMEMMEA ~ K - A7)
Model Code as at 31 December 2024. REMERIONRE -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS T ERRERAIE RS

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than the 72024412 A31H * M N AL (XA RE
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) have interests or ~ FakF BT A BB 4N AR e 878 I
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the — FR#EA B AR R ARG &S L HIE 155
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the  5336{§FE M E R MAERESIARE ¢

SFO:
Number of Percentage of
Shares/underlying Shares of
Shares held the Company
Shareholders Nature of interest (Note 1) in issue
ke, HERGEE HARDAT 8T
e EEHE (B3E1) BROBEDL
Century Icon (Note 2) Beneficial owner 1,300,038,000 shares (L) 47.27% (L)
Century lcon(BfisE2) BB A 1,300,038,000% (L) 47.27% (L)
Morris Capital (Note 3) Beneficial owner 666,500,000 shares (L) 24.24% (L)
REEAR(HIFE3) EnEAA 666,500,000% (L) 24.24% (L)
Mr. Zou Gebing (Note 3) Interest of controlled 666,500,000 shares (L) 24.24% (L)
corporation
s e A (FE3) R EE R 666,500,0000%(L) 24.24% (L)
Ms. Wu Xiangfei (Note 3) Interest of spouse 666,500,000 shares (L) 24.24% (L)
SPmARA 4 (MHEE3) FoiBtEss 666,500,000/ (L) 24.24% (L)
Mr. Chen Jie (Note 4) Other interest 490,000,000 shares (L) 17.82% (L)
BRANSE A (MH5E4) Hitpfgss 490,000,000/%(L) 17.82% (L)
Notes: B &E
1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such Shares. 1. FRILURKRZBATRZERODOTE ©
2. Century lcon is owned as to 100% by Mr. Tse Kam Pang. 2. Century lconfa #1878 5 £ B 100% ©
3. Morris Capital Limited (“Morris Capital”) is owned as to 85% by Mr. Zou Gebing 3. RABAERAF ([ RBER ] BPEELEH
and as to 15% of its share by Ms. Zou Gebing's spouse, Ms. Wu Xiangfei. Under B85% B ELEZRBMARLZ THEE
the SFO, Mr. Zou Gebing and Ms. Wu Xiangfei will therefore be deemed, or 15% © IRIREH RS GH] - 848 S5 & R A8
taken to be, interested in the same number of Shares in which Morris Capital is RARZ AR A EEERRAERES
interested. Based on a disclosure of interest form filed by Wu Bingyu (%= Kk &) B RSHERMHPIEGER - RIBERKER
on 20 February 2025, 85% equity interest in Morris Capital Limited was on 18 20252 A20 BB RS WERE - RKER
February 2025 acquired by Wu Bingyu (27K %), who would then be deemed, 2025F2 A 18ARBRAEARBR AR %K
or taken to be, interested in those 666,500,000 Shares held by Morris Capital 1 AR R EEREREARER AR
Limited. Fir#%5 75 #666,500,0008% A% 17 o 4  #E 25

4. Morris Capital as the charger has entered into a share charge over 490,000,000 4. RABNEAMTAERRALEENERRAR
ordinary share in the Company in connection with a loan made by Mr. Chen Jie. A)490,000,000% ¥ AR E] 3 Mt #AE ©
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Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any K& XA EEIN - 72024F12A318 -
other person (other than the Directors and chief executives of the AR BN EZETMEMAL(RARES
Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares and/  &EZBITHRABKRIN BEH - RRERAR
or underlying Shares of the Company which fell to be disclosed to BRI & SABRARL (D R B BIRIEE S
the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as at 31 N EFE (EHISEXVEREH 2 K35 2RI AL A H

December 2024. BREEIORE -
(i) Morris Capital (i) RBEXR
Number of Approximate
securities percentage of
Name of shareholder Nature of Interest (Note 1) shareholding
EHHE
BRERE A ERtE (M5E1) HRESNED
Mr. Zou Gebing Beneficial owner 85 shares of 85%
US$1 each (L)
MR EESE EmlaA 8skFRmEE 85%
1ETTHRRA (L)
Ms. Wu Xiangfei Beneficial owner 15 shares of 15%
US$1 each (L)
SRR+ EmEAA 15 AR E(E 15%
1ETTERRAA (L)
Note: BT
1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares. 1. FTEILIREZBATRZERD LT
2o
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business were
entered into or existed during 2024.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group is well aware of the importance of incentivising and
retaining its employees. The Group offers competitive remuneration
packages to its employees and makes contributions to social security
insurance funds (including pension plans, medical insurance, work-
related injury insurance, unemployment insurance and maternity
insurance) and housing fund for its employees. The Remuneration
Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument policy
and remuneration package of the Directors and chief executive of
the Group, having regard to the Group’s overall operating results,

individual performance and comparable market practices.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Restricted Share Award Scheme (the “Award Scheme”) was
adopted by the Board on 29 August 2019 (the “Adoption Date").

Purpose

The specific objectives of the Award Scheme are: 1. to provide the
Selected Participants (as defined below) with an opportunity to
acquire a proprietary interest in the Group; 2. to encourage and retain
such individuals to work with the Group; 3. to provide additional
incentive for Selected Participants (as defined below) to achieve
performance goals with a view to achieve the objectives of increasing
the value of the Group; and 4. to align the interests of the Selected
Participants (as defined below) directly to the Shareholders through
ownership of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares

and/or the increase in the value of the Shares.

R2024%F » EFTY S FERBAARE
EBR M E R D EENEIERITIHAL)

MR
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AEEREESREAHEFNOH M
B TAEENHERERRES (1R
Keital  BERR  ITHERR  KER
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BEREERE  BARBRAUELEMS
B - BT 2N 5 B A 37 BN B SR DA S R R 18
EERFRTRABMFMGE -

i

|y
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Participants

The Board may, from time to time, select and approve any individual,
being an employee, director, officer, consultant, agent, adviser or
business partner of any member of the Group or any Affiliate (including
nominees and/or trustees of any employee benefit trust established
for them) and any other person as determined by the Board who
the Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their sole discretion, to have
contributed or will contribute to the Group (the “Eligible Persons”)
for participation in the Award Scheme and grant awards to such
Eligible Persons (the “Selected Participants”).

Scheme mandate

The Board will not make any further grant of award which will
result in the aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made
pursuant to the Award Scheme (excluding award shares that have
been forfeited in accordance with the Award Scheme) to exceed
9.9% of the total number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date
(i.e. 99,000,000 Shares, representing 3% of the issued shares of the
Company as at the date of this report) (the “Scheme Mandate”)
without approval by a Board resolution. As at the date of this report,
awards in respect of 99,000,000 Shares may be granted pursuant to
the Scheme Mandate.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of award shares which may be awarded to a
Selected Participant under the Award Scheme in aggregate shall not
exceed 5.0% of the total number of issued Shares as at the Adoption
Date.

Exercise period

As the Award Scheme is a Award Scheme of the Company instead of
a share option scheme, the awards granted under the Award Scheme
are not subject to any exercise period nor are the Selected Participants

entitled to any exercise rights.
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Vesting period

The Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to which the
Board delegated its authority may, from time to time, while the
Award Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws, determine
such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the award to be
vested pursuant to the Award Scheme.

Subscription/purchase price

No subscription/purchase price is payable by the Eligible Persons upon

acceptance of awards granted under the Award Scheme.

The Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to which the
Board delegated its authority may, from time to time, determine any

purchase price of shares awarded pursuant to the Award Scheme.

Term

The Award Scheme shall commence on the Adoption Date and
terminate upon the earlier of (i) the end of the period of ten (10)
years commencing on the Adoption Date; or (ii) such date of early
termination as determined by the Board.
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Movement and position

The number of awards that were available for grant under the

Scheme Mandate as at the beginning of the financial year ended 31
December 2024 was 73,000,000 Shares and as at the end of the
financial year ended 31 December 2024 was 78,000,000 Shares.

LB RIER

2024F 12 AN B IEFBFEE T &

HE2024F 12431 B I BEE KR
BEFEEETTFRLERESE SR A
73,000,0000% A% 17 52 78,000,000/%f% 15 °

Closing
price of
Number of Number of shares
awards  Number of Number of Number Number awards  immediately
unvested awards Fair value awards of awards of awards unvested before the
asat granted of awards vested cancelled [apsed asat dateon
1 January during  atthe date during during during 31 December  which awards Purchase
Date of Grant 024 the year of grant the year the year the year 024 weregranted  Vesting Period Price
H0uE
Haoug R 1A31A B
118788 ERRE  REEAN ERZE EpE ERkNR A8 RBEEE
b %88 #REA DMEE %REA E1 ] L1 #REA RounE  BEH BEER
(HKD) HKD) (HKD)
(#7) () (7
Director iz
CHONG Tsz Ngai #13 2 October 2023 8,000,000 0.3 - 8,000,000 018 02/102023- 311212025 018
AB3E10A28
five highest paid individuals ~ EEBEHMAT 2 August 203 5,000,000 0.2 - - 5,000,000 - 018 03/082023- 0210812024 018
A358A28
2 October 2023 5,000,000 0.3 - 5,000,000 018 02/102023- 311212025 018
WBEI0F2B
Other grantees EhERA 2 October 2023 8,000,000 0.3 8,000,000 018 02/102023- 311212025 018
WBE10A28
Notes: B
(1) For details of the basis of measurement for the fair value of the restricted share (1) GHEEERHZREIBHEBHALEENTEE
awards granted, please refer to note 29 headed “Reserves” of the Financial Al FHLBARF R BRI 200 EE]—E7 -
Statements in this annual report.
(2)  Awards were granted to Employee Participants under the Award Scheme without  (2)  #EE)RESEEHERTFRESESE - WEERT

performance targets. In view that (i) the grantees are employees of the Group
who will contribute directly to the overall business performance, sustainable
development and/or good corporate governance of the Group; (ii) the grant is a
recognition for the grantees’ past contributions to the Group; (iii) the award are
subject to vesting period and also a purchase price and hence the value of the
awards to be vested in the grantees is linked to the future price of the shares of
the Company; and (iv) the awards granted are subject to clawback, which already
cover situations where the award will lapse in the event that the grantees cease to
be employees of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for 2024 are set out in

note 9 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
(including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of,

the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

There were no competing business of which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December
2024 or at any time during 2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

There was no connected transaction (or continuing connected
transaction) that should be disclosed pursuant to annual reporting
requirement of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during 2024.

None of the related party transactions as disclosed in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements were subject to the disclosure
requirements of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The corporation governance report of the Group during the Reporting
Period is set out in the sections headed "“Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 37 to 62 of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During 2024, sales to the Group’s five largest customers and
purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
42.4% and 30.2% of the total revenue and purchases for the year,
respectively. The Group's largest customer accounted for around
13.8% of the total revenue for the year. The Group’s largest supplier
accounted for around 9.9% of the total purchase for the year.
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None of the Directors; their close associates; or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the number
of issued shares of the Company) have any interest in the largest and

five largest suppliers or customers disclosed above.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors
and officers arising out of corporate activities. The level of the

coverage is reviewed annually.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to share option
scheme, no equity-linked agreements were entered into during 2024
or subsisted as at 31 December 2024.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME

The share options scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted by the Company on 10 December 2016. The Share Option
Scheme allows the Company to grant options to the following
eligible person(s) (the “Eligible person(s)”), namely, any full-
time or part-time employee of the Company or any member of the
Group, including any executive Director, non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Director, adviser and consultant of the
Group. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to the Eligible Persons as incentives or

rewards for their contribution to the Group.

78 REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BBESIAHRFLETREA THEMEK
RBEEMA  BEARAEHTRNOHK
B 25% A £) R Bl & KA K e
REPHRHEAEMER o

JEERTRYRIE RS

REBEMAR  SREFHERUBFETHA
HITHB ARSI AT R R LSRR
BRARBEERARAMNBEETESE
& ARBREFRRRABRLFED
MalBHHEERFRABERTHE
BEEEORE - Y BFRARREEKRF

AR e h

BrAFRpL BT BITIREESN  BE
A20245 5T 7 52202412 A31 BIFEH

FBRELT S

ARNABIR2016512 A 10 B R FERT E 2
([EBRRFERTEI]) - BRI
MATEERAT(EERALTELE
fetE - BIAR AR ASEERAE QAN
FR2BRBES @ REASETMAH
TEE  FRPTESRBUFERTES -
BRI RBAA o BRETEEEFEARAR
AREERATREBRIEEARSEHA
SEELERMAOSEIHER -



DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEEHRE(E)

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised as  FEAXE8IH)E 2IEFR a0 T -

follows:

The limit on the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes which may be adopted by the
Group from time to time pursuant to which options to subscribe
for Shares may be granted (the “Other Schemes”) must not, in
aggregate, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Listing
Date (which shall be 100,000,000 Shares) unless Shareholders’
approval has been obtained, and which must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time.

As at 31 December 2024 and the date of this report, the total
number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 100,000,000 Shares, which represents 3.6% of
the issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 or the date of this
report.

FEAR ST Bl SR AN S B Al g I B ER AN
BRI AT R BB AR 1) 60 B AR e 9 12 {7]
HAn R AT 8 ([ H st & )\ T AT
BRERERITEM A g ETORG &
HERAEHKTBBBN LTHEE %
778219 #910% ( Bl 100,000,000 A% A%
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon 2. I 1218 A BIR - RIEE R E
exercise of the options granted to an Eligible Person under the 2R HE MBI T 5 ERALTHER
Share Option Scheme and Other Schemes in any 12-month REEATIEM B 1T R AG T EITH R
period must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from time to BE O TEBEATREETRON
time, and provided that if approved by Shareholders in general 1% - MEMWAARRERR ARG L
meeting with such Eligible Persons abstained from voting, the BEBAERAIHELRZNER
Company may make further grant of options to such Eligible T - RARIAIAMZE BERATE—
Person notwithstanding that the further grant would result in HETERAE - AR 12(8 A BRI E
the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options ZE—IREER(BEZA)E—F
granted and to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and BT oA S B B AR s 8 S H
Other Scheme in the 12-month period up to and including the ETEIIE T AA &R RS TR EH
date of the further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of BRERITEME ET R TEITH
the Shares in issue from time to time. BRDE HBBTRFEEITIRMA1% o
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3. An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Board to each Eligible Person
provided that the period within which the option must be
exercised shall not be more than 10 years from the date of the
grant of option.

The exercise of an option may be subject to the achievement
of performance target and/or any other conditions (e.g. vesting
period) to be notified by our Board to each Participant, which

our Board may in its absolute discretion determine.

4. HK$1.00 shall be paid by the grantee to the Company by way
of consideration for the grant.

5. The subscription price for the Shares subject to options will be a
price determined by our Board and notified to each participant
and shall be the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the options, which must be a trading day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options; and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share.

6.  Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of

10 years commencing on the Listing Date.

Other details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus. No share options were granted, exercised or cancelled by
the Company under the share option scheme during the period from
the listing date to 31 December 2024 and there were no outstanding
share options under the share option scheme as at 31 December
2024 and the date of this report.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
although there is no restriction against such rights under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Directors confirm that
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB") was appointed as the
auditor of the Group since 21 May 2019 upon the removal of the
former auditor of the Company.

There were no changes in the auditors of the Company during the

past five years.

The consolidated financials statements of the Company for the years
ended 31 December 2024 onwards were audited by HLB, who will
retire at the AGM and a resolution for the re-appointment as the
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.
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CONVERTIBLE LOAN

On 5 January 2018, the Company entered into a convertible loan
agreement (“Convertible Loan Agreement”) with International
Finance Corporation (“IFC"), pursuant to which IFC agreed to lend,
and the Company agreed to borrow, a convertible loan (“Convertible
Loan”) in an aggregate principal amount of HK$200,000,000. Please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 5 January 2018
and 24 January 2018 for further details. Pursuant to the Convertible
Loan Agreement and as one of the conditions of disbursement,
each of Mr. Zou, Ms. Wu Xiangfei, Mr. Zou's spouse and one of the
controlling shareholders of the Company, Morris PRC, a company
owned as to 85% by Mr. Zou and as to 15% by Ms. Wu, and IFC
entered into a share retention and undertaking agreement pursuant
to which, among others, Mr. Zou has undertaken to at all times
maintain his controlling stake (being not less than 51% interests) in
the Company and Morris PRC and not to transfer his shares in Morris
Capital, one of the controlling shareholders of the Company and
owned as to 85% by Mr. Zou and 15% by Ms. Wu, or Morris PRC
if, giving effect to such transfer, Mr. Zou will not be able to maintain
his controlling stake in the Company or Morris PRC mentioned above
for so long as any part of the Convertible Loan is outstanding or any
amount is available for disbursement under the Convertible Loan
Agreement and for so long as IFC holds any equity securities of the
Company.

As a result of the suspension in trading in the shares of the
Company from 28 March 2019, the carrying amount of liability of
the convertible loan to the principal amount was adjusted and the
same was reallocated from non-current liabilities to current liabilities
in order to reflect such continuance. On 20 April 2019, 23 May
2019, 12 June 2019 and 30 September 2019, the Company entered
into four amendment agreements respectively with the lender of
the convertible loan for the agreed schedule of certain permitted
prepayments of the convertible loan. As at 31 December 2019, the
outstanding principal of the convertible loan was HK$110,967,128.
Under the agreed schedule as provided in the abovementioned
amendment agreements, the Company agreed to repay by 11
installments between 15 June 2019 and 28 December 2019.
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In December 2019, the Company’s subsidiary has pledged our
Cambodia lease rights and respective tenant lease rights to IFC. In
February 2020, the Company has received the waiver letter from
IFC, allowing the Company to not make any payments to IFC from
January to April 2020. On 29 May 2020, the Company was granted a
temporary waiver by IFC to postpone the installments from 28 January
2020 to 28 April 2020. At the same time, the repayment schedule
was renewed with an extended payment period.

On 21 December 2022, the Company renegotiated with IFC for the
rescheduled repayment schedule. Based on the rescheduled repayment
instalment schedule, the maturity date of the new repayment schedule
is 18 June 2025. Further details of the Amendment Agreement was
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 30 December 2022.

The Company was informed by IFC that, on 23 September 2024, IFC
assigned and transferred the Convertible Loan and relevant securities
to Winner Union Limited, an independent third party.

As at 31 December 2024, the principal amount and accrued interest
under the Convertible Loan amounted to HK$32,466,970. There
were no conversion of the Convertible Loan for the year ended 31
December 2024. The Company had repaid the convertible Loan
in installments as agreed in the Amendment Agreement. A total
of HK$14,984,761 was repaid to IFC during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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APPRECIATION EYE]

The Company would like to take this opportunity to thank the ARAFEFEHKSBHES  THEENLS
Directors, as well as the management and all employees for the BB{EEUWREEZEXREIESE - 1A
contribution they have made towards the Group’s continued progress, MR + BRE R EKEHNR N T EROLH
and to thank all the Shareholders, customers and business partners & °

for their support.

On Behalf of the Board

Chong Tsz Ngai

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS" REPORT
B X BEN RS

HLB) B #7 & & ¥ 3 5t & ;A 2

HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(formerly known as Morris Home Holdings Limited)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Regal
Partners Holdings Limited (formerly known as Morris Home Holdings
Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to 239, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report,
the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Scope limitation on balances with related companies

As disclosed in Note 31, included in amounts due from related
companies and amounts due to related companies as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 were balances with entities which are controlled by
Mr. Zou Gebing, a substantial shareholder of the Company, who holds
24.24% of shareholding interests in the Company (“Zou Entities”).
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of amounts
due from Zou Entities, net of allowance for expected credit loss were
approximately RMB120,040,000 and RMB176,199,000 respectively
and the carrying amounts of amounts due to Zou Entities were
approximately RMB45,281,000 and RMB44,534,000 respectively.

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
satisfy ourselves that the carrying amounts of the balances with
Zou Entities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were not materially
misstated because we were unable to obtain direct confirmations from
Zou Entities or have access to the management or relevant personnel
of Zou Entities. There were no other alternative audit procedures that
we could carry out to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
to satisfy ourselves about the existence, accuracy and completeness of
these balances as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Furthermore, the Group has recognised allowance for expected
credit loss on amounts due from Zou Entities of approximately
RMB58,224,000 and RMB182,000 in consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023 respectively. The allowance for expected
credit loss on amounts due from Zou Entities in the consolidated
statement of financial position amounted to approximately
RMB59,891,000 and RMB1,241,000 as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 respectively. We were unable to obtain the necessary financial,
corporate, operating and business information about Zou Entities to
support the impairment assessment of amounts due from Zou Entities
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION (continueD)

Scope limitation on balances with related companies
(Continued)

As a result, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves that the (i) carrying amounts of the
Group's balances with related companies as at 31 December 2024
and 2023; (ii) allowances for expected credit loss on amounts due
from related companies recognised for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023; and (iii) other elements and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements in relation to the balances with
related companies included in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group, were free from material misstatements. Any adjustments
found to be necessary might have consequential significant impact on
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, net liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 and the elements making
up, and related disclosures in, the consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2.1 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately RMB87,656,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and as at 31 December 2024, the
Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
RMB 186,275,000 and RMB234,724,000 respectively. As stated in
Note 2.1, these conditions, along with other matters as set forth
in Note 2.1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion and Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern sections, we have determined
that matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
B ZHENRE ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (conmmuep) B ERT =R ®)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRBEER BMHETNATEEBERETSEE

Expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment of trade receivables
B G EN AR RS S ([ BRI EEA )T
Refer to notes 18 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies on note 2.4 to the

consolidated financial statements

IR ERE M BRRM T 18 M3 A RAR A B TS IR M2 APT & S 5T BUR

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had trade receivables ~ Our procedures in relation to management’s ECL
of gross carrying amount of approximately RMB53,890,000  assessment included:

(2023: RMB52,817,000) and allowance for ECL of AREREEMMETHIEHEERBENE - RIETH
approximately RMB37,156,000 (2023: RMB35,405,000). ErFedE:

R2024F12 310 BEXEE S RYGRIENREAER

A AR 153,890,0007T (20234 : AR¥52,817,0007t) o  Understanding the key controls that the Group

NIEREEEEREHEOARE37,156,00070(20234F © A has implemented to manage and monitor its
R #35,405,0007T) © credit risk;
e THE BEEERKERHEERBAMERNH
g

o Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile
of the trade receivables as at 31 December 2024
to the underlying financial records and post year
end settlements to bank receipts;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (contivuED)

Key audit matter

RRES SR

FARETEH )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMHE NAEERREETER

Expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment of trade receivables (Continued)

B Z W IR TERE BE 1R (| A BAA )L (&)

Refer to notes 18 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies on note 2.4 to the

consolidated financial statements (Continued)

ZIRMAR A TS MR ML 18 M 36 A M fr A I IS R I AT 2 AP B @ 5T R (4F)

In general, the trade receivables credit terms granted
by the Group to the customers ranged between one
to four months. Management performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables
and the sufficiency of provision for impairment based on
information including credit profile of different customers,
ageing of the trade receivables, historical settlement
records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing
and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and
on-going trading relationships with the relevant customers.
Management also considered forward-looking information
that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to estimate the ECL for the
impairment assessment.
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Inquiring of management for the status of each
of the material trade receivables past due as at
year end and corroborating explanations from
management with supporting evidence, such as
understanding on-going business relationship
with the customers based on trade records, check
historical and subsequent settlement records of
and other correspondence with the customers;
and
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (conTvUED) I FE )
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRETEE BN ETNAREERENSE

Expected credit loss (“ECL") assessment of trade receivables (Continued)

B SN E TR s BEE (| RRIE B AR T4 (&)

Refer to notes 18 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements and accounting policies on note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

ZIRMAR A IS MR M 18 M 36 A M fr A B IS R I RE 2 AP B G R TR (4F)

We focused on this area due to the impairment assessment Assessing the appropriateness of the ECL

of trade receivables under the ECL model involved the use provisioning methodology, and the assumptions,

of significant management judgements and estimates. including both historical and forward-looking

B EZ B HARIETEREEEBEN#TE S E information, used to determine the ECL.

WRIBRERT 8 S8 A 8 KB TR [ T S fhat o o GFHMATRHIGEEEEGHEZEEREE - UAKAR
ETEREERENRR(BEBERANELE
£ -

Based on the procedures performed, we consider
management’s judgement and estimates in the ECL
assessment of trade receivables to be supported by the
available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
B ZHENRE ()

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our

auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. As described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section
above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
about balances with related companies included in the consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether
or not the Other Information is materially misstated with respect to
these matters.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
B ZHENRE ()

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the

Group'’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept

liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
B ZHENRE ()

AUDITORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

ZERME 4R B B S i R BAZ A
B2 Fe@)

ERBEBEEAETEHBIET
BPERTERHAM - RETERERE
J& o AT :

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

EIRREEN=IN s EE R 6
EMBHRARFEENERRANE
B AT RITERE T IARE S L
R - ARIERE R NEE MET R
& EREMBRAER - ARGE
AIRES R BRR - BE  BRER E
RERt - SORERAEEEEZ £
IR BEZE IR R AFF M G B B AR
PR & L = A AR BE B IR R SR AR T 8
BREAFERRAAER -

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the TRREREFT AR N EBELEE - AGRE
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate HEMEIRF  BEEMNIEYE &
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an EENIETNBERMRERER -
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opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
B ZHENRE ()

AUDITORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for the purposes of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

Z BN 4R A B IS R BAZ A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
B ZHENRE ()

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF  #Z=Z B 434 B sk EZN
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B2EFe@)
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, #EEESAEB BB EIER - HFIHEE WL
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the FZHEYHAHGATERERNEFTEEE
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period & - AMBKEHEETEE - RAEEH
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters RS R il ;5 LL T8 - B IEEBERT
in our auditors’ report unless law or requlation precludes public R ARFEELEE  REHKERL
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, & T * MIRAEFEHERFREPER
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our REFERMNABEERBBELNRARF
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would  # * BFURE NEEREP BEEZEE -
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent  HERBY ZBMHENEFTEEESRE

auditors’ report is Hon Koon Fai, Alex. TR o

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited BEEgHMEEMAERA R
Certified Public Accountants HEDIED

Hon Koon Fai, Alex BEE

Practising Certificate Number: P05029 BEFBEIRES - P05029
Hong Kong, 31 March 2025 ## - 2025%3H31H

96 REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meaEm Rk AMEEREE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E2024F 1231 HIFF/E
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
PiEE AR¥T T AREF T
Revenue KA 5 119,507 187,975
Cost of sales SHEAR (91,657) (118,511)
Gross profit E7 27,850 69,464
Other income and gains, net E AU A R Uk 25558 6 1,963 2,969
Gain on debt restructuring BB EARE 6 54,090 92,434

Allowance for expected credit losses in 3§55 AN FC BR A & Rl
respect of financial assets carried at BEMNTEHEEEER

amortised cost, net & FE (60,826) (32,605)
Loss arising on fair value change of BARER ABE(TED
financial asset at fair value through REFTABRDZEH
profit or loss (“FVTPL") BENRAALBEEBEE
BB R (1,616) 9,712)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEEY (32,983) (48,743)
Administrative expenses 1TERFSZ (45,765) (64,910)
Other expenses and losses H s & &8 (11,465) (21,038)
Finance costs BhE RN 7 (19,891) (13,989)
Loss before tax BB Al s 18 8 (88,643) (26,130)
Income tax credit FRiSTIE R 11 66 68
Loss for the year FREER (88,577) (26,062)
Other comprehensive income: Hit 2wk :
Item that may be reclassified HiZAJfEEF H M E 18
subsequently to profit or loss: BIEA -
Exchange differences on translation of & B # R K AIEE 3
financial statements EEE 5,492 1,171
Reclassification of cumulative HEMBARIKEND
exchange fluctuation reserve upon A RETIE N OR BN A
disposal of subsidiaries - 3,321
Other comprehensive income for FREAMDERE
the year, net of income tax HIBRFT18HL 5,492 4,492
Total comprehensive loss for FREEEEERE
the year (83,085) (21,570)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
GeEmkHtEEmBER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EL22024F 12431 HILFE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’'000 RMB'000
Bi5E ARMT T ARBT T
Loss attributable to: FE{5EE -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ =N (87,656) (24,728)
Non-controlling interests R (921) (1,334)
(88,577) (26,062)
Total comprehensive loss {2 TEEEAAE -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NETE YN (82,155) (19,726)
Non-controlling interests EISuPe (930) (1,844)
(83,085) (21,570)
Loss per share attributable to RATEEA
owners of the Company EhEREE
Basic (RMB cents) ERARED) 13 (3.28) (0.92)
Diluted (RMB cents) BHa(AREY) 13 (3.28) (0.92)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e R

At 31 December 2024
R2024F12H31H

31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
20245 20234 20234
12H31H 12A31H 1A18
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fisx ARETR ARET T ARET T
(Restated) (Restated)
(&) (m=E31)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BE L& 14 1,601 5,802 6,505
Financial asset at FVTPL BAREFANERZ
TREE 15 - 1,604 -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 22,789 35,628 43,656
Total non-current assets FERBEERE 24,390 43,034 50,161
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories &g 17 19,031 26,917 25,411
Trade receivables B S ENGR 18 16,734 17,412 33,142
Prepayments, deposits and other BRTE  Ze R
receivables E i ek IE 19 12,970 15,584 64,695
Amount due from shareholder TEWRER 1B - - 345
Amounts due from related companies  EUEERE A R 33(b) 120,040 176,258 185,527
Pledged bank deposits Eﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ 20 21 21 33
Restricted bank balances SZRHIRITE S 20 165 - -
Cash and cash equivalents BERBRELEEY 20 3,999 4,753 7,590
Total current assets MEEELE 172,960 240,945 316,743
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade payables B HEMNFIE 21 28,872 46,073 143,936
Contract liabilities AHERE 22 3,356 7.210 11,052
Other payables and accruals H i e TR R Rt
EH 22 40,179 93,437 100,260
Amounts due to related companies JET AR A R 5UR 24 45,281 44,534 62,173
Interest-bearing bank and other quEﬁEﬂ&ﬁW b
borrowings 25 196,917 109,457 69,235
Warranty provision RIERAE 26 459 943 455
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 11,406 20,738 25,133
Derivative financial instruments TESBIA 27 - 75 372
Convertible loan ABRER 27 29,833 40,054 60,565
Income tax payables FEFTEHL 2,932 2,935 2,863
Total current liabilities REAEEH 359,235 365,456 476,044
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEFR (186,275) (124,511) (159,301)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEGERTBER
LIABILITIES (161,885) (81,477) (109,140)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
mEMBMRRE(E)

At 31 December 2024

R2024F12H31H
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
20245 2023%F 202345
12A31H 12A31H 1818
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
fisx ARETR ARET T ARET T
(Restated) (Restated)
(&) (EEF)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES e =
Interest-bearing bank and other FTRRITREAM
borrowings B3 25 53,696 53,696 -
Lease liabilities HESE 23 19,143 17,358 22,319
Total non-current liabilities FERBEERE 72,839 71,054 22,319
Net liabilities BEFE (234,724) (152,531) (131,459)
DEFICIT IN EQUITY BEBA
Share capital BRAR 28 19,212 19,212 19,212
Reserves B 29 (253,006) (165,462) (146,234)
Deficit in equity attributable to ERFHE ALY
owners of the Company e (233,794) (146,250) (127,022)
Non-controlling interests Elaaliligr T (930) (6,281) (4,437)
Total deficit in equity ERENEE (234,724) (152,531) (131,459)

Approved by and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31  #XEE &/ 202593 A31 A X L EAE T

March 2025 and signed on its behalf by: % WA TATREES
Chong Tsz Ngai Tse Hok Kan
HFR HEE
Director Director
EFE EFE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated — BEMI M sEEA L E4R A IR RER A —FH ©
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAEREDE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z
Deficit in equity attributable to owners of the Company
RNSE N e
Shareaward  Exchange Non-
Share Share Other Treasury scheme  fluctuation Reserve  Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve shares reserve reserve funds losses Total interest equity
RftkE  EXEB
BE RfRE  EtHE  EERE  HEGRR i  HREEE  2iER & FeRER  BREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
(note28)  f(note29())  (ote29v)  (note29(i)  (note290i)  (note 29(il)  (note 29())
(M) (Wako)  (Riskaow)  (Wshagm)  (PEtaowd)  (EasGi))  (WEsko@)
Asat 1 January 2023 20231818 19212 258,756* (731)* (8,992 - (11,582) 60,528* (4aa 213y (127,022) (4431) (131,459)
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (24.728) (24.728) (1,334) (26,062)
Other comprehensive income/ ~ FAEM2ERE/
(loss) for the year: (B8):
Exchange differences on BERHRR
translation of financial EiZE
statements - - - - - 1,681 - - 1,681 (510) 117
Reclassifcation of R-HHELREE
cumulative exchange U EEESIENE)
fluctuation reserve HRENIE
upon deregistration of a
subsidiary - - - - - 3321 - - 332 - 332
Total comprehensive income/ A2 ERE/(Hi8)
(loss)for the year - - - - - - 5,002 - (24728) (19,726) (1,844) (21,570)
Recognition of equitysettled  BZLEREE MR
share-ased payment BERRAR - - - - 498 - - - 498 - 19
Asat31 December 203and #2023 128318 K
1 January 2024 2451518 19212 258,756+ (731)* (8,992)* 498* (6,580)* 60,528*  (468,941)*  (146,250) (6,281) (152,531)
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (87,65)  (87,656) (921)  (88577)
Other comprehensive income/ ~ FAEH2ERE/
(loss) for the year: (BB):
Bchange differenceson R EEHBAH
translation of financial EXzE
statements - - - - - 5,501 - - 5,501 ©) 5,492
Total comprehensive income/  FAZENE/
(loss) for the year (BR)EE - - - - - 5,501 - (87.65%) (82,155 (930)  (83,085)
Recognition of equity-settled AL EREE MR(
share-based payment BRI - - - - 892 - - - 892 - 892
Acauisition of aditionalinterest  AKEEH B A7)
in a subsidiary BMER - - - - = = = (6,281) (6:281) 6,281 =
Asat31 December 204 HAOMENA3NE 19200 87 (B B 130t (07 0S8t (8Tt (2337%) 60 (347
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately — * ZERERLEZREVBHKARANGREFHE
RMB253,006,000 (2023: approximately RMB165,462,000) in the consolidated #) A R #253,006,0007T (2023 F : #) AR
statement of financial position. 165,462,0007T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-_r\/\‘ILﬁaﬁ/ﬂl:E%

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
FisE ARETR ARBTT
Cash flows from operating activities REZTHMERERE
Loss before tax BREIRIEE (88,643) (26,130)
Adjustments for: HEIER
Interest income FILEHA 6 (22) (63)
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BERRERE
equipment 8 3,143 3,707
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 8 20,520 26,329
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME - BER
equipment FEHERBE 8 56 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEERERE 8 6,292 -
Written off of property, plant and MEME - WEREE
equipment ) 8 1,210 102
Loss arising on fair value change of BAREFABR @RE
financial asset at FVTPL ENAREEEBEEN
B8 1,616 9,712
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BEREED
equipment g 6 237 478
Gain on termination of leases RIFRES 6 (861) (1,299)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary —EEEJWJ%"ETEX%%HN’\JEE S 052
8 - ,
Gain arising on fair value change of TEERIANDAEES
derivative financial instruments EE R 8,27 (76) (305)
Allowance for expected credit losses ﬁ%ﬁgﬂﬂl JIBTEEEEEE
in respect of trade receivables, net B 38 8 1,192 16,449
Allowance for expected credit losses in #Eé&ﬁl‘r!ﬂﬁ”&mﬁi‘ﬁ%ﬁf*
respect of deposits and other receivables, —~ EEIERE - FE
net 8 1,410 15,974
Allowance for expected credit losses e BERs A B IRTEHIE S
in respect of amounts due from related BERE - 3
companies, net 8 58,224 182
Gain on debt restructuring EREAR 6 (54,090) (92,434)
Gain on modification of lease EREEREDes 6 = (187)
Provision/(reversal of provision) against RERERTERE,
obsolete and slow-moving inventories (Tﬁﬁ?ﬁ@) 8 491 (27,621)
Equity-settled share-based payment LME%E UKD AR
INE 892 498
Product warranty additional provision Euuﬁf%%ﬁﬂ\ﬁéﬁ 8 455 943
Finance costs BERKA 7 19,891 13,989
Operating cash flow before movements HEECRPALERENE
in working capital (28,063) (55,724)
Decrease in inventories FERD 7,394 26,189
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables E%JEWTAIEU‘?JU)/ e (1,073) 77
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and TBRFIA « e REA UK
other receivables IE/)E%’J\ 904 33,482
Increase in restricted bank balances X IR BRI TAEEAIE AN (165)
Decrease in trade payables B SN FIERD (12,201) (24,617)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and Hip e FUB K ERTE A
accruals CRd),/ 18 m (739) 9,540
Decrease in contract liabilities SHEERD (3,854) (4,057)
Utilisation of warranty provision BRREEE (950) (470)
Cash used in operations Z&“Fﬁ}ﬂfﬁi (38,747) (15,580)
Income tax refund REFEH = 68
Net cash flows used in operating RETEMARSRE
activities 5 (38,747) (15,512)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

meRanak(@E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
(i3 ARETR ARBTT
Cash flows from investing activities REZTBEHERE
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BERANETAERN SR
BE - (11,148)
Payment for purchases of property, plant and BB E 9% « BE MRENHRZ
equipment (836) (3,994)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HE - KR M& &K
equipment FTS3UA 407 468
Interest received EUFIE 22 63
Decrease in pledged deposits EHEAFFORD = 12
Repayment from related companies KRB BEE A R 60 15,524
Advance to related companies Ell N EE - (16,186)
Net cash used in investing activities REESMARETHE (347) (15,261)
Cash flows from financing activities METBRERERE
New bank and other borrowings FTRTT REAETR 134,435 155,182
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BERITREMER (49,088) (61,236)
Repayment to related companies Bl NGt - (18,727)
Repayment of convertible loan BB HBRER (9,942) (19,547)
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHERE (23,548) (30,765)
Interest paid [SARENESE (13,458) (5,887)
Net cash flows generated from METIMERENEFEE
financing activities 38,399 19,020
Net decrease in cash and cash BeRASEENRD
equivalents REE (695) (11,753)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ~ F#H 4 MR LEEY
year 4,753 7,590
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SMNEIEREBHMFT L - F5 (59) 8,916
Cash and cash equivalents at end FREERESEEY
of year 3,999 4,753
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRASEEMES
cash equivalents T
Cash and cash equivalents R kIReEEY 20 3,999 4,753

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MRk

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Regal Partners Holdings Limited (formerly known as Morris
Home Holdings Limited) (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries as the “Group”) is an exempted company
with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman lIslands. The
registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company
is located at Unit 3103, 31 Floor, Trendy Centre, 682 Castle
Peak Road, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

On 19 July 2024, the English name of the Company has been
changed from “Morris Home Holdings Limited” to “Regal
Partners Holdings Limited”, and its Chinese name of "RAXE
AR ABBR AT has been replaced by " £ EBEFRIEAR A"
as the dual foreign name in Chinese of the Company.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 12 January
2017.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the principal activities of the Group are the manufacture
and sale of sofas and other furniture products.

In the opinion of the directors, the holding company and the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Century lcon
Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI"”) and the ultimate controlling party is Mr. Tse
Kam Pang, who is also the chairman and executive director of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z
1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REIREBER®)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries M~ RIEH
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as KAREZMBARGFBLT :
follows:
lssued Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
Place of ordinary share KRARERERAL
incorporation/ capital/paid up 2024 2023 Place of
registration registered capital 204E 2A03% business
Company name AL/ Legal entity CRAEERA/ | Wl 0ce | Direct  Indrect Pringipal activities  operation
CEE B EARR HEMRR =t 53 B% B TEXE HEENE
Mstar International Trading Hong Kong Limited ligbility HK$100 - 100% - 100% Trading of sofasand ~ Hong Kong and
(HK) Limited company other furiture United States
products ("US.")
1EEREA(FR)BRAR AR BRAT 1007 - 100% - 0% EEDERAMGE EERZE
Em (%))
Morris Fashion Home HK Limited  Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ HK$10,000 - 100% - 100% Retailing of sofasand Hong Kong
investment
BARARHREARAR 3 BRAT 10,0007 - 100% - 100% DETERRE 3
Zhejiang Apollo Leather The People’s Republic  Limited liabilty company ~ US$615,000 - 100% - 100% Manufacture andsale  The PRC
Products Co,, Ltd. of China ("PRC") (Taiwan, Hong Kong or of sofa covers
Macau and domestic
jointventure) ‘
MINEERZLRERAR  TEARLNE ﬁ RO (38 R 61500057 - 100% - 100% LEREENEE  4E
() EREERAELE)
Zhejiang Morris Fashion Home -~ The PRC Limited liabiity company ~ US$41,470,000 - 100% - 100% Manufacturing and sale  The PRC
(o, Ltd* (Taiwan, Hong Kong or of upholstered sofas
Macau legal person sole
mvestment)
NIAAERZFRERDA  9E ﬁ AR EES 4147000057 - 100% - 0% EEREEREVE 98
A /f/\iﬁ&ﬁ)
Zhejiang Premier Fumiture The PRC Limited liability company ~ US$10,910,000 - 100% - 100%  Manufacturing and sale - The PRC
Manufacture Co, Ltd.* (Taiwan, Hong Kong or of upholstered sofas
Macau legal person sole
investment) )
HTEEZERRAR il BROT (R EAL 1091000057 - 100% - 0% EEREEFENE  0E
HIEAERRE)
Royale Home Living Limited The United Kingdom ~ Limited liability company ~ GBP1,000 100% - 70% - Wholesale of fumiture UK.
(note) ("UK.") products
Royale Home Living Limited 2E([%E)) BRAA 10005 100% - 70% - WEREER £
(B
Regal Partners (Guangzhou) Home  The PRC Limited liability company ~ US$5,000,000 - 100% - 100% Trading of sofasand ~ The PRC
Furnishing Co. Ltd* (formerly (Taiwan, Hong Kong or other fumiture
known as Guangzhou Shengbo Macau legal person sole products
Home Furmshmg Co, Ltd) mvestment)
SERF(RNREARLY  E ﬁ A2 AR 500000057 - 100% - 0% EEVEREMGE 9E
(FIRENERZEERAR) &A@ﬁ&é) Em
Regal Global Trading Limited Hong Kong Limited liabiity company - HK$10,000 - 100% - - Trading of sofasand ~ Hong Kong and
other fumiture Us.
products
Regal Global Trading Limited &7 BRAR 10,0005 - 100% - - BEDEREMEE AERZE
Em
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ZT

BA SRR AL ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group further acquired

remaining 30% of equity interest in Royale Home Living Limited. The
Group derecognised non-controlling interests of RMB6,281,000 and
recognised a decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of
RMB6,281,000.

* The English names of these entities represent management’s best effort
at translating their Chinese names as these entities did not register any
official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). For the purpose of preparation
of the consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements included applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting

period, as explained in the accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuED)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000)

except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately RMB87,656,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024 and as at 31 December 2024, the Group
had net current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately
RMB186,275,000 and RMB234,724,000 respectively. These
conditions may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

In view of the above circumstances, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and financial position of the Group and its available sources of
financing in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. Certain plans
and measures have been taken to deal with these conditions
and to mitigate the liquidity position and improve the financial
position of the Group. These plans and measures include, but
are not limited to, the followings:

(i) The substantial shareholder of the Company, Mr. Tse Kam
Pang, has provided to the Company an unsecured loan
facility in the principal amount of up to HK$200,000,000
to provide funds to the Group in order to enable the
Group to continue as a going concern and to settle its
liabilities as and when they fall due. As at 31 December
2024, the unutilised portion of this loan facility amounted
to approximately HK$63,995,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continuED)

Going concern (Continued)
(i) (Continued)

Mr. Tse Kam Pang has undertaken to provide continuous
financial support to the Group to enable it to meet its
liabilities and to pay financial obligations to third parties
as and when they fall due so that the Group can continue
as a going concern and carry on its business without
significant curtailment of operations and will not demand
repayment of his loans granted to the Group, which
amounted to approximately RMB118,675,000 as at 31
December 2024, for the next twelve months from the
date of approval of the consolidated financial statements;

(i) The Group will take steps to obtain external sources of
funding in order to improve the working capital and
liquidity and cash flow position of the Group.

On 19 March 2025, the Company completed the placing
of 550,000,000 placing shares at the placing price of
HK$0.051 per share, raising net proceeds (after deducting
commission and other relevant costs and expenses) of
approximately HK$27,801,000; and

(i) The Group is taking measures to tighten cost controls and
speed up collection of trade and other receivables with an
aim to attain positive cash flows from its operations.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking
into account the above-mentioned plans and measures,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due within twelve months from the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the directors of
the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements using the going concern basis
on the assumption that the plans and measures described above
will be successfully implemented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (conTinueD) 2.1 REIEE )
Going concern (Continued) BERE #)

Notwithstanding the above, since the execution of the above
plans and measures in progress and their eventual outcome
is uncertain, material uncertainties exist as to whether
management of the Group will be able to carry out its plans
and measures as described above. Therefore, there is a material
uncertainty related to events or conditions described above that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern and that it may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the following:

(i)  the financial capacity of Mr. Tse Kam Pang, a controlling
shareholder of the Company, to provide continuous
financial support to the Group for the next twelve months
from the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements;

(i) the Group’s success in obtaining additional external

funding to improve cashflow position of the Group; and

(i) the Group’s success to tighten cost controls and speed
up collection of trade and other receivables to generate

positive operating cashflows.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that
assets may need to be realised other than at the amounts at
which they are currently carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The effect of these adjustments have not

been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 BETHERNMKEZE

DISCLOSURES

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily RAFEREIEMNEEETE

effective for the current year B R S R 5 22 Al

In the current year, the Group has applied the following WAFE  AEBEEHNERUTH

amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, BEEGTMAGEMLRAREER

which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period 2024F 1 AVB Rz BB FE R

beginning on or after 1 January 2024 for the preparation of the 1 0 1Bl AR A B BT B B W TS s 48

consolidated financial statements: Bl - ARBUTE BT HRER

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and BRMBREEL BRERSIHHESE
Leaseback F165E(BFA)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current BRCHENSE 1R AESBARDIERD
or Non-current and related (BETAK) REBREESH
amendments to Hong Kong (20205 ) WoiRREAEE]
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with ERECFENFE 1SR WEZENERDERG
Covenants (BETAK)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements EAeERETE HERRETH

HKFRS 7 REBYBRE
HERIET5R
(BETAK)

Except as described below, the application of the amendments BRI XCATALON - AR EE R R IEET

to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the BBV IERELENEAREERAFEE

Group’s financial positions and performance for the current KB FENM BRI RERR R, X

and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these ZEGEV B MERAHNFEEREN RS

consolidated financial statements. N7 X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (conTminuED)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the 2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with

future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

)

BAFS R MR (4]

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (conTminuED)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the 2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the 2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January and 31 December 2023 upon initial
application of the amendments. As at 1 January and 31
December 2023, the Group had outstanding convertible
loan with carrying amounts of RMB60,565,000 and
RMB40,054,000, respectively. Prior to the initial application of
the amendments, certain portion of the convertible loan was
classified as non-current liabilities. Upon initial application of the

2 SETHER NMIEE 2 B8 @)

RAFEREIERNEETE
BB ELER (4

R BEERF 159 (15T 7)
BESERRBRHREREE
=2 FEE 59 HERTI5ET (2020 )
([20205F 15T |) R & B &5t R
F1E (15T ) I} 75 R 19 HE 7 B
BE([2022%F 55T ) 2 8 (%)

REERENERZSER  BE
e ER2023FE1A1B 12 A 31
BB BIERIEM o 782023414
1TAX12A318 » A&EEBESRIERE
& A AR 160,5650007T N AR
40,054,000 THI KR (EE A IRIRE K -
EEXERAZEER - REER
METHOWDEAEIERDERE - B

amendments, the convertible loan was entirely reclassified as BHXEAZEERRE  ATRRERE

current liabilities since the conversion options were not classified FEEFoEARBEE RASHE
as equity and are exercisable at any time at the option of the BmEERAE S ARER  BEEE

FiA AR BB E R TE - BRI
RNEREEFLERAT -

holders. The quantitative impact on the consolidated statements
of financial position is summarised below:

31 December

2023 31 December
(Originally 2023
stated) Adjustment (Restated)
20234 2023%
128318 128318
(Rm27) R (ESl)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Convertible loan AT E IR 26,567 13,487 40,054
Total current liabilities mENEEARE 351,969 13,487 365,456
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES GEI&EEEE (111,024) (13,487) (124,511)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHABRRBARS
CURRENT LIABILITIES (67,990) (13,487) (81,477)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREEE
Convertible loan AR E R 13,487 (13,487) -
Total non-current liabilites ~ ERBIEERALE 84,541 (13,487) 71,054
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (conTminuED)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to

HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the 2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the 2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

2 R NEE L EEE)

PAZSEE B SR A ISR &
AR R AR (4

R BEERE 15 (15T F)
BEEDEBRBHHREREE
2 EE 5T A9 ERI5ET (20204 )
([20204F 1557 /) R & B &5t R
N AC HIE Skt
B1&E([20225F 55T ) 2 S # (4)

1 January
2023 1 January
(Originally 2023
stated) Adjustment (Restated)
20234 20234
1818 1818
(RIEZE5) A €=
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTTT ARETTT ARBTFT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBE
Convertible loan AR E R 21,492 39,073 60,565
Total current liabilities MENVEEERE 436,971 39,073 476,044
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RE&E T8 (120,228) (39,073) (159,301)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHAERRBARS
CURRENT LIABILITIES (70,067) (39,073) (109,140)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥RE&E

Convertible loan AHAIE R 39,073 (39,073) -
Total non-current liabilites  FFRB) A (E4E5E 61,392 (39,073) 22,319
The application of the amendments did not have any impact on FERZEEET HE £20244F %2023
the basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of F12A31BIEFERREEE AENL
the Company, profit or loss, other comprehensive income and BREXNREEEE &8 -
the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended HEth2EBERGERESRERTE
31 December 2024 and 2023. ERFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.3 NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN
ISSUE BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

and HKAS 28 Investor and its and its Associate or Joint
Venture!
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Accounting Standards Standards - Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements*
Amendments to HK Presentation of Financial Statement -
Interpretation 5 Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan

that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERXSTHERERTE

POLICY INFORMATION
Basis of consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct

the relevant activities of the investee).

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control

ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group.
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the

Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in

line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the

Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate

share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

116  REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REEEE)

iR 2N 5 [ 2K & ST P B8 2 A A9 P22 Il 42
AR IR ZMBARIMEE (R
ERE) REE - (VEAFFERER
B BR (B I (i) A R 2 A AL 8 9 R 5
HEHZEE REROIKRRENRR
& - (i)FTR B (1R E 89 A A & K i)
BmP A MELEENRSBRIEE -
LR EM ARG NERHALE
EEBOEF D EEBENREEF
(iEfA) - EERAEE HE L EAR
HAEESBEMHEANEERER -

BamMEME2EKENEREEBBR
AATEA AR AR - HEA
ANEENRERRBNARRER
AR SEE s - BIE UL SR G I
PR R R IR B A A AR

il

MERE - RYHEARNHYBEE
FEHR - (E R BOR REE
R -

PIESRBERMEENAE  #m K
A X REREERERARRERS
BREMRSRERNGA ARKER
H5H

PABT S 1 R0 FEHE AR A 2 B R SR B
Ehmgas M2 BERTERE
AFER B BRI IR LE B 20 (5 AR R P B8
NREEFENRAAERED °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 EXETTHRENR R @)
POLICY INFORMATION (conTinuED)
Revenue recognition WA TR
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEABA
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance REEN T B B ER RN -
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or R EEFERANEFHEENE RS R
services underlying the particular performance obligation is TR EHIE B R TR PR o

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a BHOBEFRE-ERENEDRRS
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct (s —#tE R RE) 2 — R 5 AEUE
goods or services that are substantially the same. A B BRREH & sk R o

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over THERERESE - MWFEUTE
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction R—IEE%E - A AT 2R T E
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following BV (EHEE IR MR

criteria is met:

e the customers simultaneously receives and consumes the o  EPRAKEELNRRKIRG
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the I FE A AR & B R 49 TR 4 89 A
Group performs; ol

e the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset e AFKEENERNBIEIERETR
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or RAEERANGZEGINEE

B4

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with s AKBEMBEHWARELEHASE
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has no EEBRRAENEE BAE
enforceable right to payment for performance completed ] I A% 0 I ER AT R LA R GE S
to date. ERAKIFRIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 BERETHERERE®)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group'’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before

payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer. A contract asset and a contract liability
relating to a contract are accounted for an presented on a net

basis.

A contract asset and a contract liability related to the same

contract are accounted for and presented a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including

allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price

basis except for the allocation discounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price) (Continued)

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the
Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that
the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Sale of goods

Revenue from sales of sofa, sofa covers and other furniture
products are recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods has transferred, which generally coincides with the
time when the products are delivered to customers and title is
passed.

Commission income

Commission income from sales of sofa, sofa cover and other
furniture products is recognised at a point in time when the
Group acts as an agent. The commission income expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the sales when the control
of goods have been passed to customers, which is primarily
upon the goods are delivered to and have been accepted by

customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories
or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable

inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

)

BA SRR AL ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4

122

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Fair value measurement (Continuead)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end
of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2.4 EXSETHRERE )
POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)
Impairment of non-financial assets FERMEERME

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories

consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as

to whether there is an indication that previously recognised

{H—IEEFT_EEWEEJT% FRHE
TEEREAA(FELREREER
oh) > Bl EEMATIRE SR -
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impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If W o WMEZEDREE - BIgMEE
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. AYEl &8 o LRI EE (RERIN
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than WREOREREE  ERANBEEZE
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the EE’J—M&@i%’EE’MEJﬁ AR T AR

estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is

credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 BEREABREERNTE @)
POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)
Related parties (Continued) BEE AL ®)
A party is considered to be related to the Group if: (Continued) AHBETIER - L TALBHEES

HEAREEBEY : (&)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) ZALAFETIEMEHH
conditions applies: (Continued) g8 : (&)
(vi)y the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (viy EBEX(a)FTaE R A LT
person identified in (a); SR HRES
(vii a person identified in (a)(i) has significant i) FBE@GO)EFTIALTEHZE
influence over the entity or is a member of the key RBEBEAFE NN AZ
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent ERE(AZEEBNELRRF)
of the entity); and HWEEEBEAE &
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is (vii) ZEBIHMEEENET
a part, provides key management personnel services A% B R a AN S B AR
to the Group or to the parent of the Group. EENSRRREETES
BABR -
Close members of the family of a person are those family —AATREIHRKEREZERER S
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced REMA R EZBATHEZATH
by, that person in their dealings with the entity, and include: BHREKE - WEIE -
(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; (@ ZBAATWFZERE®BKARE
M
(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and (b) ZBAALTHEEXBEHESN
Fzi Rk
(0 dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or (© “BALTHZBALHEBK
domestic partner. REHEZZEA
A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction B EHEBARA T 2 EFEERSK
when there is a transfer of resources, or obligations between EREzEE(CTRESKEER) « A
the Group and a related party, regardless of whether a price is R PR B35 o

charged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment that are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition

and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and

depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual

rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 33.3%

Plant and machinery 10% to 20%

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 20% t033.3%

Motor vehicles 20% t033.3%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building, plant and
machinery and other items of property, plant and equipment
under construction, which are stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and are not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction
in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for

use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Leases
Definition of a lease

Lease is a contract contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases with
similar characteristics are accounted on portfolio basis when the
Group reasonably expects that the effects on the consolidated
financial statements would not differ materially from individual

leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-

lease components.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 EXETTHRENR R @)
POLICY INFORMATION (conTinuED)
Leases (Continued) GEN-AC )
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEEBAMA(E)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets FTHHERICIEEEEHE
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption HRHEHERG B R A12EA
to leases of buildings that have a lease term of 12 months FUARNET EEEEEERENEE
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a MEE  NEEEREHASHERHN
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for %o AEBSTHEEEEEHRERA
lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases ERHAR - WHHEREEEEEMR
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on EMHENTRERANRESELHE
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease fh RETE R R
term.
Right-of-use assets RIFEEE
The cost of right-of-use asset includes: EREEE NARBLE

HERBNVIRTESHE

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability:
e any lease payments made at or before the commencement e FH BBk 2 BIEE A E(A
date, less any lease incentives received; HEMR  BEAMEREEE
=
e anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and o  AKAEBELENEMNIBEERK
VN3
e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in . BMAEERERLERBHEE
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring E - IREH T 5 i S A5 A8 78
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying B EMRE = E R AR
asset to the condition required by the terms and ESRMIGHFFEENR AR GEE -

conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its

estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed

payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the

commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of purchase options, if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 BERETHERERE®)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Leases (Continued) GEN-AC D)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERBARBEA ()

Lease liabilities (Continued) HEREGE)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a HIRATER - AEEEHTEM

SaE(XHARMRERAEEEELA

corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever: FERE)
e the lease term has changed or there is a change in the e THHIEMEZBAITHEEREER

R ELEZ(C - EULBER
T HEEERAEERERE

assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the

revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review or expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the

Fatfh B HE IS RTBE IR R8s
REIETHENRMEFNTE

s HENKEETHHEEEHE
rHSEHEEXBHYBFERE
HREETERNRES M HR
HE) - ERBERT - HEEE
BEERTIARIRRRIREE
FIHEMNRMEHE -

HERERGAYHRARTERE

consolidated statement of financial position. Bl o

HEEET
IR ATIER - AEBEBEEERT

Lease modiifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that standalone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modlfications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability less any lease
incentives receivables, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains one or
more additional lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component. The associated non-lease components are included

in the respective lease components.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the
financial assets and shareholders’ rights are presented as other

revenue and other income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash

flows and selling; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payment of principal and interest on

the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group managers together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (conTinUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other revenue and other
income” line item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loss
("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amounts due from related companies, pledged
bank deposits, restricted bank balances and cash and cash
equivalents). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group'’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting period as well as the forecast
of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 BERETHERERE®)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
period with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
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that is available without undue cost or effort.

LEZ - FHEEERREE KRN

In particular, the following information is taken into account =

when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly: BeZE AR

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the e  SRTEMNE(INE)XRNIIE
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal SR ERSTERENRL
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators of . SERRBRHINATISZEENE
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, 7<,m1|: CPIIEE B E KB

-~ EBANEEROEEE

the credit default swap prices for the debtors;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 EXETTHRENR R @)

POLICY INFORMATION (conTinuED)

Financial instruments (Continued) SRITAE®E)

Financial assets (Continued) EHEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) DHEERE(E)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) EERR ARG IN(E)

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial o X BBSKEMRANIRAE
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a STERTFES - HHKEHR
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt BEHABITEEBEERRE
obligations; KiE B

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the s BEBALERENERLTES
operating results of the debtor; ESNGEY A

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the e BEBRAET - LELIEMERE
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the BERNTEHNEXNTF &
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s B BREBABTHEBER
ability to meet its debt obligations. FRBE AR T % o

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group T LMFTEER - WEKNNREE

presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since HBiE30H AEEREEERRBRER

initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 IRERARE KIBIEIN - EASEHR
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable EEWERE 2 ERBERBRIIEN

information that demonstrates otherwise. It °

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria AEETEHEZEARBNEERRZE

used to identify whether there has been a significant increase BHEELINNELEL D BB ERE

in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the AR ERE - ARRE BIRERIN K

criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit s EART AR E E R R A EE LM -

risk before the amount becomes past due.

SREREFERERQA 2024 F3 139



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is

unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over 1 year past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

142

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking
macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables and amounts due from related companies
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash
flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified,
the Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative factors.
If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers
the terms are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees
paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the

original financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a

financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, amounts due to related companies,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities,

derivative financial instruments and convertible loan.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on

their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, trade payables, other payables and
accruals, amounts due to related companies, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation

process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 BERETHERERE®)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Convertible loan

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity instruments is a

conversion option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent periods,
the debt component of the convertible loan notes is carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The
derivative component is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan
notes are allocated to the debt and derivative components in
proportion to their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating
to the derivative component are charged to profit or loss
immediately. Transaction costs relating to the debt component
are included in the carrying amount of the debt portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible loan notes using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities (Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative factors.
If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows
of the original financial liability. The above said fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender
on the other’s behalf. Accordingly, such modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred
are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment.
The exchange or modification is considered as non-substantial

modification when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is

recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current
liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than
12 months and it is not due to be realised or settled within 12
months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or

current liabilities.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.

148 REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

TRIAmE)

TELHMIA
TETAMPRAUOTETAEGHNE
BRARERR  ERARHREHR
BAAEENE - MEEKRZLE
BRBRPRER

EOTET ARSI A EE1218 A
YRE1ZEARTEERLER - B
ZITET R ERIERBDEERIERE
BEER - RMTETAAERRS
BEIRDEEZTR °

BT A

i3RI B AT ITE B RN E S A
REBAEARRFREELE - %F
BREREERGERE  AeREE
HE R B AR H B FERM IR
REMW -

iy

17t
58 AR B ] 3 E & R B
(BB - 17 B R AR T %

)

X2 2 BB At AR AR E FTRE AR -
EITHEMBKABEEXF BN H
EHIRERARARE SETHER
PRESER SRR EAA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated

statement of financial position include:

(@  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather

than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third
party contractual restrictions are included as part of cash unless
the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the
definition of cash. Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank

balances are disclosed in note 20.

ReRkBRESEEY

FAEMBIRAKRMIIRE MREEE
B

(@ HRe BERFEAZLEHE
R ETERIEERBME
HEBESKTENTAREESR
HVIRTTAERR ¢ 2

() BReFHEY BEEHCARR
FMBEA=EALER) - ATk
FERSENEENREAE
BEEHERBRTANRRE LR
B - ReFEYRHIEREED
RaAdl  MERRNKERE
B &Y

IIFS

IEARERERMNS REMRE
EEVERLXAEENRE MRS
FEY  HBREARZRKEENKEER
RITES  WEBKAKERSEEN
MR D o BB R A B IRR
REINREHER -

AEBEAZE=HALRMERTT
EHREITARBRESH I - BRIEZ
ZRHIEHIRTEHRTHFTEREH
EE - wBRITERERANEORE
A EE207 R i 5E o

SEEERERABR AR 2024 F3F 149



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash

flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the

receivable can be measured reliably.

Provisions for the expected cost of assurance-type warranty
obligations under the relevant contracts with customers for sales
of sofas and other furniture products are recognised at the date
of sale of the relevant products, at the directors’ best estimate

of the expenditure required to settle the Group's obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic
benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses
continually the development of contingent assets. If it has
become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will
arise, the Group recognises the asset and the related income in
the consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in

which the change occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be

required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other
parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has become
probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow of future
economic benefits will be required for an item previously dealt
with as a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the
consolidated financial statements in the reporting period in
which the change in probability occurs, except in the extremely
rare circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

152

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

24 BERZATBRESME #)

FriS®i

PSR B ARV SRAERE IR - WIER

B ERH A EENAAERIER
Bt MNEMbEEKEER
v EE" ’\ﬁE 2o

\

E
B ¢
L

B AEEN ARRBEREES RS
HIRCEMAERDEMOHRE(K
BOx)  WEBEIARKEKEMER
RIVITHRERED - ZE A AN
57 B U o] 28 FE N B S 1 B Y & BB A T

=
E-°

EEBRBENBEERBERAREER
BEMVEREBER KA RREE
Z BT A SR Z R R -

BRNOUBMIN - shAr BRI E R =
BRERRLERAAE

e (WEEBEBERBEHAER
MBS EEBEHZHPH
EESEE  ARRIBIY
&e qu/ﬁn%'J)TT%%JEE%%é
ek Ests

s HREREWBAREHENE
RS 2R - fin BE SR Il
CIEREZROER > BRATR
RRAIBE N SR E R Z5E -

Nk



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 BERETHERERE®)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reserve in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of each reporting period.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-
of use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising
from subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of

remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 BERETHERERE®)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
income in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “Government subsidies” under “Other income

and gains”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme"”). Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s operations in the PRC are
required to participate in central pension schemes operated
by the local municipal governments, the assets of which are
held separately from those of the Group. Contributions are
made by the Group based on a percentage of the participating
employees’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension schemes. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully

once made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the

cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after

deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting
from service cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires

or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share award scheme reserve).
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share award scheme reserve. When share
awards are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share
award scheme reserve will be transferred to share capital and

share premium.

When the share awards are forfeited after the vesting date or
are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share award scheme reserve will be transferred to

accumulated losses.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 BERETHERERE®)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group's most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various line of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the consolidated financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of each
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or translation

of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 24 ERNSTHERENE #)

POLICY INFORMATION (continuED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

As at the end of each reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of the Group's operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period and their profit or
loss are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are

reclassified to profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows,
the cash flows of subsidiaries with functional currencies other
than RMB are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows
of these subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for

the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements and have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year are set out below:

Provision against obsolete and slow-moving
inventories

The Group reviews an ageing analysis of its inventories and
the condition of its inventories at the end of each reporting
period, and makes provision against obsolete and slow-moving
inventory items which are identified as no longer suitable for
sale or use in the production. Management estimates the net
realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the latest
invoice prices and current market conditions.

The provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventories
requires the use of judgements and estimates. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in the future is different from the
original estimates, such differences will have an impact on the
carrying value of inventories and the write-down of inventories
recognised in the reporting period in which such estimate is
changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

)

BA SRR AL ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

162

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (conminueD)

Allowance for ECL for financial assets under
HKFRS 9

The Group makes loss allowance on receivables including trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables and amounts due
from related companies based on various factors including the
aging of the receivables, historical write-off experience and
forward looking information. The identification of impairment
of receivables requires the use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectations are different from the original estimates,
such differences will impact the carrying amounts of receivables
and the allowance for credit losses on receivables is recognised
in the years in which such estimates have been changed. See
note 36 for further discussion.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. Impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E2024F 1231 HIFF/E

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. DEFER
Information reported to the Board, being the chief operating MEFS(MFELEREE)RER
decision maker, for the purposes of resource allocation and ARk EBRIRT IR ENE R R
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods R R SRR E @R E
or services delivered or provided. This is also the basis upon o HMAREHREZLEENE
which the Group is organised and managed. o
Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 BRME  ~5EREBEHEEVBRE
are as follows: ERIESRE DA 2MAFAT
a.  Retail segment a ZE S
b.  Manufacturing segment b. HEHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z
4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conmmuep) 4. DEPEFH#)
Segment revenue and results pan L N SE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results NTAAEERA 2[R RLEHEE
by reportable and operating segments: DEIA RFEEDHT -
Elimination of
Retail segment Manufacturing segment intersegment sales Total
2EHB EEND AHEEEHE &3t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
pli]%:3 2023 20245 03F 20245 03F 20245 03F
CUEHORS  RMB'000 RGUENNS  RMB'000 EELUGHUIAS  RMB'O00  AUEHINES  RMB'000
N Ee \RETT BNEETN ARETT PEEe ARETT PNGEE ARETT
Segment revenue il

External sales 36,144 58,044 83,363 129,331 = 119,507 187,975

= =
DEr DOk DEr
ke
)
iy
TRF OfF >

Internal sales i = - - 43M - 311) - -
36,144 58 644 83,363 133,642 - (4311) 119,507 187,975
Segment (loss)/profit DHER) /B (16,792) (11,673) (47,191) 19,859 - - (63,983) 8,186
Interest income LN Py 63
Gain arising on fair value change of (T4 £BTENAR
derivative financial instruments ~ EEBELAME 76 305
Loss on deregistration of 3 —EHBARRE
subsidiary fenesta = (3.952)
Loss arising on fair value change of 2/t EzF AJEE 2
financial asset at FVTPL SRERNMAR
RIELNER (161 (9712
Unallocated corporate income~— RAEAFMA 29 -
Unallocated corporate expenses  RATEAFRR (20059)  (17479)
Unallocated finance costs RARBENA B3 B54)
Loss before tax RS (88.643)  (26,130)
Segment (loss)/profit represents the (loss)/profit from each DE(EE) EMES D BAEE
segment without allocation of interest income, gain arising on ()EETE ) s I AR S BE R B
fair value change of derivative financial instruments, loss on PTEERMIANAABEEES
deregistration of a subsidiary, loss arising on fair value change EI’JHﬁZm - —RWE R FEUE M E
of financial asset at FVTPL, unallocated corporate income, ]E CEBARERABECERMEERN
unallocated corporate expenses, and unallocated finance costs. NABEBELEMER  RAHOBEQF
This is the measure reported to the Board for the purposes of WA~ KROBARASZ RADEREE
resource allocation and performance assessment. B o bt Tk B R 0 B R 2R IR FE A )
EESE2WMME-
Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates. D E S EIRBITIIS N R -
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e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conminuveD)

Segment assets and liabilities

Retail segment

ZELH

2024
20244
RMB000

2023
2023
RMB'000

4. pEfERE)
DEAER A

Manufacturing segment
EEDH
2024

20244
RMB’000

2024
20244
RMB’000

2023
2023
RMB'000

Consolidated

)

2023
2023
RMB'000

Nigiamn ARETT PNESEn ARETT PNEETn | ARBTT

Segment assets NEEE 22,365 29677 137,777 216,18 160,142 2453863
Unallocated corporate KA B ARIEE

assets 37,208 38,116
Consolidated assets RABE 197,350 283,979
Segment liabilities AEa%E 38,433 32535 326376 335039 364,809 367574
Unallocated corporate ~~ AAEARIEE

liabilities 67,265 68,936
Consolidated liabilites A 8fE 432,074 436,510
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and BERSHBRBEREDEBZEDE
allocating resources between segments: =9

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
certain right-of-use assets, certain prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, certain amounts due from related
companies, financial assets at FVTPL and certain cash and

cash equivalent; and

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than certain other payable and accruals, certain amounts
due to related companies, certain other borrowings,
certain lease liabilities, derivative financial instruments and

convertible loan.

s KRETEREEE F

TN

PR -~ e KA WA

ETREWKE

BARNE -

B

REFABSCEREERS

THRERRSEFEWI

iR

BEODRELZNE K&

s KRETHMENZFAREFE
A - %?J‘&“H@%ﬁ@ R
HTEHAMER ?Tﬂ% =}
B TESRITARATBRRKRE
BN FEREADEELE

9

Dk

o S|
o

EEEX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12831 HIFF/E
4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conmivuep) 4. DEER )
Other segment information Hith oy BE R
Retail segment Manufacturing segment Unallocated Total
2EN LEA IR a3t
2024 2023 2024 2023 204 2003 204 2003
2004 3% 20045 2003% 20045 2003% 2045 2003%
RIVIB000" ALV RIVIB000 ™ iV Sl RIVIB1000™ Y : (O RIVIB000 ™ X))
N Ew \RBTT BNEEEN ARETT PNGERN ARETT PNSAEN ARETT
Addition of right-of-use assets ~ FEFFEEE 14,468 7510 9,097 16,320 11 - B B8
Addition of property, plantand  FENE - BER
equipment & 39 135 A 3859 56 - 836 3994
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% » BiR k&
and equipment Vit 398 517 2,745 3,190 = - 3183 3,707
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  FFEEENE 9497 10,355 10,130 15,974 893 - 20520 26,329

(Reversal of provision)jprovision ~ BEREEFE

against obsolete and slow- (BfERE)/B

moving inventories & (13) (1) 504 (27610) - - 491 (27,621)
(Reversal of allowance for)/ BSRWF RS

allowance for ECL inrespectof ~ EEHE(Bs

trade receivables, net &e)/ BB

i (402) (60) 159 16509 - - 1192 16,449

(Reversal of allowance for)/ BERERAE

allowance for ECLin respectof ~ U3UBKITHE

deposits and other receivables,  EEIB(BER

net B)/BEE (31) (16) 1438 15,989 3 1 1410 15974
Mlowance for ECLinrespect BB A AISUR

of amounts due from related ~~ HEHESEE

companies, net BEss - . 55,925 134 2,299 48 58,224 182
Impairment loss on property, plant 7% * B RiR(E
and equipment HEFE - - - - 56 - 56 -
Impaiment loss onright-of-use ~ EBELERE
assets FE 6,202 - - - - - 6,202 -
Written off of property, plantand  #i##1% « BER
equipment B n1 102 483 - - - 1,210 102
Loss/(qain) on disposal of property, HEHE - BRE
plant and equipment REnER/
(W) 2 (61) 235 539 - - 237 478
Gain on termination of leases - EA G - - (567 (1299) (294) - (861 (1299)
Finance costs HENE 1470 1,702 15,044 8,746 3377 3,541 19,891 13,989
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E2024F 1231 HIFF/E
4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conmmuep) 4. DEER @)
Geographical information wEER
The following table sets out information about the geographical TREINFAREBRBINIE P H
locations of the Group's revenue from external customers Was R AREEIERSEENIIBUE
during the year and the Group’s non-current assets. Br} o
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEINBEFH Kz
The geographical locations of the customers are EPHMECETREREP AT
determined based on the locations of customer. EHIETE ©
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARKET T AREFT
PRC (including Hong Kong) HE(BESE) 42,31 65,947
The United States of America EMBERE (X))
("U.S.") 28,209 60,471
Europe (Note) BOM (B3E) 32,450 50,012
Others EHAh, 16,537 11,545
119,507 187,975
Note: Europe mainly include France, Norway, Spain, Ireland and U.K.. Mzt : BOMETEIEER -« ¥R - BT

SREFERERIA 2024 F5H 167



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12831 HIFF/E
4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conmivuep) 4. DEER )
Geographical information (Continued) hEER(Z)
(b) Non-current assets (b) ¥ HEEE
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
PRC (including Hong Kong) HE (BREEE) 2,289 39,485
u.s. EH 17,900 3,438
UK. FEY - 111
Cambodia RIFIE 4,201 -
24,390 43,034
The non-current asset information above is presented N EFERBEEER DIREE
based on the locations of the assets. ENMNEEY -
Information about major customers EBEFEREFNER
Revenue from major customers which did not consist any RIEREFEERERAKRA10%IA L
related parties of the corresponding year contributing over 10% MNEZES(TRETMAER S )WA
of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: LU
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARBT T
Customer 1 B 14,243 N/ATE R *
Customer 2 =2 16,476 46,951
* Revenue from the customer is less than 10% of the total revenue of the * REZEP NS PR A EEB B SR
Group. 10% °
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e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

5. REVENUE

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns, trade discounts and value-added tax.

5. A

WARFIFEEmAIRERE - E5H
HRIRERBERNETFE -

2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥BFIT
Revenue ON
Recognised at a point of time: RE—IFEIE R -
Manufacture and sales of sofas and other 4 MHE D &
furniture products EMEREER 119,507 187,967
Commission income AalA - 8
119,507 187,975

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation under the Group’s existing manufacture and
sales of sofa and other furniture products is approximately
RMB3,356,000 (2023: RMB7,210,000) and the Group will
recognise this revenue in 2025.

R2024F 128318 » HEEEAREE
REXERBESERAMBREER
BTI#TEHNEANRZEBETENA
AR¥53,356,0007T (20234 « ARKE
7,210,0007¢T) -+ MA@ #72025%
UL BB A -
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e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET AND GAIN 6.
ON DEBT RESTRUCTURING

HAB YA R ek FERIA K
B EH W

2024 2023
2024 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Other income and gains, net Hn A R W F 58

Interest income FEWA 22 63
Gain on termination of leases LA ER S 861 1,299

Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BERKES
and equipment &8 (237) (478)
Gain on modification of lease BRI - 187
Government subsidies (Note) B AL (PEE) 714 17
Bad debt recovery =k 269 1,506
Others Hith 334 375
1,963 2,969

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
government grants from Innovation and Technology Fund under Hong
Kong government of approximately RMB688,000 (2023: nil) and industry
subsidies from local governments in Zhejiang Province of approximately
RMB10,000 (2023: RMB17,000). There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

Gain on debt restructuring

In relation to the pre-restructuring applications filed by Zhejiang
Apollo Leather Products Co., Ltd. G/ TR ER SR BER A
7)) and Zhejiang Morris Fashion Home Co., Ltd. (/T E A 4
KEBR AR (collectively, the “Relevant Subsidiaries”) with
the People’s Court of Haining City (the “Court”) on 19 January
2022 for the formulation of pre-restructuring plans to resolve
their debt positions.

Upon the pre-restructuring application and the appointment of
the provisional administrators by the Court, on 13 May 2022,
the Court accepted the restructuring application of the Relevant
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis (the “Restructuring”).
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8h 49 AR#10,0007T (20234 + AR
17,0007T) © 4 8 0 B O 4 R 2 K 1 =X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET AND GAIN
ON DEBT RESTRUCTURING (conminuED)

Gain on debt restructuring (Continued)

The proposal for the Restructuring of the Relevant Subsidiaries
(the “Restructuring Proposal”) would become effective and
binding on the Relevant Subsidiaries and all creditors subject to
(a) the approval by a simple majority in number of the creditors
present and voting at each of the creditors’ class meetings, and
the amount of debts of which creditors representing more than
two-thirds in the total amount of debts in each of the classes
of creditors; (b) the entering into of the subscription agreement
between the potential subscriber and the Company; and (c)
the approval of the Court. If the Restructuring Proposal is not
passed at the creditors’ meeting, or the Restructuring Proposal
passed at the creditors’ meeting is not approved by the Court,
the Court will terminate the Restructuring procedures and
declare the Relevant Subsidiaries insolvent.

The Group’s Restructuring Proposal was passed by the requisite
majority of creditors of the Relevant Subsidiaries at the meeting.
The Restructuring Proposal has been sanctioned by the People’s
Court of Haining City in the PRC on 5 August 2022. Since
then, the Restructuring Proposal became effective on 5 August
2022. The Restructuring Proposal administrators have received
the preference indication forms from all Restructuring Proposal
creditors and the admitted claims have been allocated in the
following manner:

Under the terms of the Restructuring Proposal (“Option A"),
full repayment of admitted claims will be made to the Option
A creditors and the repayment date will be extended for a
period of eight years beginning from the effective date on 5
August 2022. The Company will repay the outstanding debt by
the repayment schedule of the following: In the sixth year, the
Company shall make a repayment of not less than 20% of the
remaining debt. In the seventh year, the Company shall make a
repayment of not less than 30% of the remaining debt. In the
eighth year, the Company shall repay the remaining outstanding
debt.

6.

H A Ug A R U F 88 DA K
B EAKES®)

BREAWRZE &)

HEAMBAREA T R(EEARR])
HEFE 2 B T BG4 2 9 AR R B
BRAIMFAEBERARBAORA : (a)
ERERESERAERNRSEL 2K
RHERABESZHE - MEEA
FIRERAEHBBEEBZERIEEA
BERBEN =02 (b)BEEREE
HANRARI M BE R - R(ER L
o MEBASERNBEEATR
HEEASRBENEATRREX
Bt - BDABT AR L BARRF - X
SEEBENBARRE

AEBMEASREESE LRGN
BB ARGBERALZEZHAE - &
HHEEN2022F8ASHEBSHEE
EMARERIE - it - SEAR
202268 ASHAER - EHETRER
ABWEIFTEERHREEANEBL
JBRE  MEARNREEIER TR
HoHe -

BBEEATR(READBNER - &
MEBARRAZHEEEREARNR
FHERBHKBE202268HA5A 4
Bz BRIERN\SF o XARIFHRET
FIBRLRHEEREENEY : £
FARRABBEFGBEBHET LR
20% ° BEF - ARFIAEEBEFBE
B LR30% « ENGF - NAFIAEE
BRSO REEES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

172

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET AND GAIN
ON DEBT RESTRUCTURING (conminuep)

Gain on debt restructuring (Continued)

Under the terms of the Restructuring Proposal (“Option B"), (1)
for each creditor with a debt amount of less than RMB30,000
will be fully repaid in cash within three months from the date
of court approval of the Restructuring Proposal; (2) for creditors
with a debt amount of RMB30,000 or more, 20% of the
portion exceeding RMB30,000 (excluding the principal) will be
repaid. The Company will repay this portion in cash, based on
a 20% proportion, within three months from the date of court
approval of the restructuring plan; (3) any remaining unpaid
debts will be transferred to a designated third party, as agreed
upon by the transferring creditors. The transferring creditors
agreed to transfer their rights and interests related to the unpaid
portion of debts (including related joint guarantee rights and
other subsidiary rights) to the designated third party assigned by
Mr. Zou Gebing. Mr. Zou Gebing and the designated third party
are willing to pay 30% of the transfer amount as the purchase
price for the transferred debts. The specific payment method,
deadline, and other details will be governed by the agreement
between the creditors and Mr. Zou Gebing, and it is not within

the scope of the Restructuring Proposal.

Under the terms of the Restructuring Proposal (“Option C"), (1)
for each creditor with a debt amount of less than RMB30,000
will be fully repaid in cash within three months from the date
of court approval of the Restructuring Proposal; (2) for creditors
with a debt amount of RMB30,000 or more, 20% of the
portion exceeding RMB30,000 (excluding the principal) will be
repaid. The Company will repay this portion in cash, based on
a 20% proportion, within three months from the date of court

approval of the restructuring plan.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET AND GAIN 6. EAhUg A Rz S 58 b &

ON DEBT RESTRUCTURING (conTinUED) VTl Eae )
Gain on debt restructuring (Continued) B EA R E)
Pursuant to the Restructuring Proposal, the liabilities of RIBEHETR  EHEHARNEELHA
the Restructuring Proposal, amounted to approximately K #54,090,0007T (20235 : ARH
RMB54,090,000 (2023: RMB292,290,000) have been 292,290,0007T ) B fE kR o H L - #
discharged. Accordingly, a gain on debt restructuring of ZE2024FE 12 A3 B I EECDHRE
approximately RMB54,090,000 (2023: RMB92,434,000) has 7% & 48 W 5 4 A R % 54,090,000 7T
been recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024. (2023% : AFR¥92,434,0007T) ©
For more details, please refer to the announcements of the BEFIEHEL2MA AR A A2022F
Company dated 19 January 2022, 22 April 2022, 13 May 2022 1H198 ~ 20224 H228 ~ 202245
and 18 August 2022. A138%2022F8 A 18HM AL »
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREBFT
Liabilities assumed pursuant to BEEHETRAENEE
the Restructuring Proposal:
Trade payable B S ENKIE = (50,751)
Other payables and accruals H T FRIE K et B A = (82,261)
Borrowings R = (66,844)
= (199,856)
Liabilities discharged pursuant to BREEETRBERNEE
the Restructuring Proposal:
Trade payable H SRR - 124,134
Other payables and accruals HAb g RIE R ERT B R 54,090 101,312
Borrowings EE - 66,844
54,090 292,290
Gain on debt restructuring BEEHEN 54,090 92,434
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R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EL22024F 12431 HILFE

7. FINANCE COSTS 7.
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETIT
Interest on bank and other borrowings SRITRHEMEST B 13,974 5,887
Interest on convertible loan A E B R B 3,152 3,541
Interest on lease liabilities HEABEGFE 2,765 4,561
19,891 13,989
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e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

8. BRTiRIEE
REENRHAEEEING (6

(crediting): VAN IESER
2023
2023%F
Notes RMB’000
Bt AREF T
Cost of inventories sold EEFEKA 91,166 146,132
Provision/(reversal of provision) BRERERIFE
against obsolete and slow-moving B (BERE)
inventories 491 (27,621)
Cost of sales SHERA 91,657 118,511
Depreciation of property, plantand % - = L REHE
equipment 14 3,143 3,707
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 16 20,520 26,329
Impairment loss on property, plant W - WER
and equipment** REREEE 14 56 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use A ERERE
assets** 16 6,292 -
Expense relating to short-term lease AR HAHER = 1,360
Written off of property, plant and EHZE - WE R
equipment** R 14 1,210 102
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEETEN % -
Audit services EET RS 1,260 1,446
Employee benefit expenses (excluding B B&FIBIS (B IEE
directors’ and chief executives ERFETHASH
remuneration (note 9)): ®(MFE9))
Salaries, wages and benefits in kind ~ #& « TEREWHIZE 33,519 48,374
Share-based payment VARR 1 R BT K 469 392
Pension scheme contributions* RIRETEI LR 3,778 5,044
37,766 53,810
Allowance for ECL in respect of trade & 5 JEWFIBTEEHZE
receivables, net SRR 1,192 16,449
Allowance for ECL in respect of e R E A EUGIER
deposits and other receivables, net TEEMEE R EEE
HER 1,410 15,974
Allowance for ECL in respect of Jiedez) NGBS o
amounts due from related HEEEERHTE
companies, net 58,224 182
Product warranty additional provision 7= SR {RIEFEHMEE 455 943
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary ~— B A FIMEUEE
fiEE - 3,952
Gain arising on fair value change of T4 &R T AN AAE
derivative financial instruments B EEMNWE (76) (305)
Loss on sales of raw materials** SHE RMEHEE* 3,317 16,488
Exchange gain** PE 3 Uz > * (2,508) (151)

SREREFERERIA 2024 F5H 175
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R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EL22024F 12431 HILFE
8. LOSS BEFORE TAX (conNTINUED) 8. BRUATERE@®
* At 31 December 2024, the Group had no forfeited contributions available * 20245128318 - AEEWEERK
to reduce its contributions to pension schemes in future years (2023: nil). R AT IR EL R SR E KR IRET B4
(2023 « f&) °
**  The above items are included in “Other expenses and losses” line item *x A EIERF AGREER REMEEEE
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive ROEMEX REEIEER -
income.
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERFETHAENME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BiELETRA - BERFGHE
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), 383(1)(a) - (b) ~ (QRBIEA R AT (H
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 BEEFZERDRANE2E - AFE
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of EENFETHRABMESEENT ¢
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Fees we 1,753 2,006
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMEEYH = 3,758 9,045
Share-based payment VARR 1 A EREBI 50 423 106
Pension scheme contribution RIRETEIHER 16 16
4,197 9,167
5,950 11,173
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

E22024F 12431 HILFE
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EFRFETHAEME
REMUNERATION (conTinvED) (&)
(@) Independent non-executive directors () BIYFEHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FRINFBIIERTESY
during the year were as follows: WEEHHMT
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Professor Kwan Pun Fong Vincent EolepaE € 219 217
Professor Lee Chack Fan ENCRAS iy 219 217
Ms. Chen Jianhua PREETE 2L 219 217
Professor Sit Wing Hang, Alfred (i) B BEUIR () 219 108
876 759
Note: FifsT -
(i) Professor Sit Wing Hang, Alfred was appointed as an independent (i) EKIEHIRN2023F7ASBER
non-executive director of the Company on 5 July 2023. FEARERRBBULIENITES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

EE2024F 12431 H I F/E
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EENTETHAEME
REMUNERATION (continueD) (%)
(b) The chief executive officer, non-executive (b) 1THHEE - EHITESK
directors and executive directors HITES
The remuneration of each of these executive directors and ZERNTEERIERTESE
non-executive directors are set out below: ErMEEZI0T
Salaries,
allowances, Pension
and benefits Discretionary  Share-based scheme Total
in kind bonuses payment contributions remuneration
§¢ 28 IR AER BARGHE
we  RENFE Bfsftd RES #R% Weam
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT AR¥Tn ARBTR ARMTR ARETR AR%TR
Year ended HENUE
31 December 2024 128318 1L5E
Executive directors; HEE:
Mr. Zou Gebing (i) FPHRELA() 6 297 - - - 303
Mr. Chong Tsz Ngai FiSy Vi
(Chief Executive Officer) (7T#%) 274 1,269 - 423 16 1,982
Mr. Tse Kam Pang Bl oy 274 2,19 - - - 2,466
554 3,758 - 423 16 4,751
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Mr. Tse Hok Kan HEHEE 219 - - - - 219
Ms. W Xiangfei (i) SRR 104 - - - - 104
323 - - - - 33
Notes: BRRE -
(i) Mr. Zou Gebing resigned as executive directors on 8 January 2024. (i) B AR 202451 A8HEHT
WITEE -
(i) Ms. Wu Xiangfei was removed as non-executive director on 21 (i) B £ 2024F6 A21 B
June 2024. BEIEMITEST W o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EE2024F 12431 H I F/E
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EENTETHAEME
REMUNERATION (continuED) (&)
(b) The chief executive officer, non-executive (b) 1THHEE - EHITESK
directors and executive directors (Continued) HITES(S)
Salaries,
allowances, Pension
and benefits  Discretionary  Share-based scheme Total
Fees inkind bonuses payment  contributions  remuneration
Fe 28 DR AR BIRGrE
we  RENIE BEEa i 13 i Exke
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
Year ended BZu3E
31 December 2023 128318 1LEE
Executive directors: EEES
Mr. Zou Gebing PRELE 271 5937 - - - 6,208
Mr. Chong Tsz Ngai ISy Vi
(Chief Executive Officer) (178%%) m 940 - 106 16 1333
Mr. Tse Kam Pang Bl oy M 2,168 - - - 2,439
813 9,045 - 106 16 9,980
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Mr. Tse Hok Kan HEHEE 07 - - - - 217
Ms. Wu Xiangfei (i SRR () 217 - - . - 217
434 - - - - 434
Note: Mz
(@) Ms. Wu Xiangfei was removed as non-executive director on 21 (i) SRR L 202456 A21 B
June 2024. BREIENITEET B o

SREREFERERQR 2024 F5 179



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. AZZ=SHEE
The five highest paid employees during the year included FARER=TEES BEMA (2023
2 directors (2023: 2), details of whose remuneration are set out F-WMABES BEHEMEeNFRE
in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the five highest BN EXHF9 - AZREFREEDN
paid employees are as follows: FMEFISOT
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF T ARBFIT
Fees wnE 548 542
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYHIE 5,731 13,757
Share-based payment LARRAD B AT 50 688 219
Pension scheme contributions RIRETEIHR 33 -
7,000 14,518
The number of highest paid employees whose remuneration fell FRN T Ty SEN R EEEE
within the following bands is as follows: LU
2024 2023
2024% 20234
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 % 1,000,000/ 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 1,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T%2,000,00078 7T = 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 T%2,500,0007% 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 % 3,000,000/ 7T 1 2
HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,500,001 C%7,000,0007%8 7T = 1
5 5
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no REE2024F12A31HIEFE - #
arrangement under which the directors, chief executive officer MANES  THREHSIEARA RS
or five highest paid employees of the Company waived or R= e BB MR E R E TR
agreed to waive any remuneration (2023: nil). EHLHE(20234F : M|]) -
During the year ended 31 December 2024, no emoluments have REE2024F 12 A31HIEFE - &
been paid by the Group to any of the director, chief executive SEREREAES  THRAERSET
officer or five highest paid employees as an inducement to join EBEEFEEININASREER  EE)
or upon joining the Group as compensation for loss of office SR BEBAE (20235 &) o

(2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

HZE2024% 1231 HI1FFE/E
11. INCOME TAX CREDIT 1. IS ER

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly,
the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits above HK$2 million.

PRC subsidiaries are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax at
25% during the year (2023: 25%).

Taxation in other jurisdictions are calculated at the rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

No provision for tax has been made as no assessable profit arose
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

REFSHENEBRELES ([ RR
BLEE DMRBIEARD - AEEH
ARHERENABRZEEHMNE
I FR1SHE ©

1R B FI 1S B PR AR ) F 15 B & )
B AAREEERE2000000%8
TT HY 35 F) #6 12.8.25% HY B R AR
i iR i 2,000,000 7 JT &9 35 7 Bl 3%
16.5% BB EHHL o NFFE RN AR I F)
SHEHEEENEEEEN T
B 15 16.5% 9 [E] 7E B RS o
It - & EREEEEEH2,000000%8
TLAt AT FE SR B F128.25% M B R 4
MEBFBE - M™2,000,0005% 7T LA
b A ERRBRE T RIE16.5% Y
SRERFR

FR - PENB AR ELR25% (2023
&F 1 25% ) BRGNP BB EEHR -

ot T B KBRS AL A
BITRESE -

BARE E2024F %2023 12 A31H
I FEVEELERREN - R E
STIRTRIE A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z
11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (conmmuep) 1. e %e
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETTT
Current — Hong Kong BB — &

— Over-provision in prior year — B FEBERE (66) (68)
Tax credit for the year FRTIRE R (66) (68)
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at RARBRES D B A TR
the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the majority of EREEEER RS ERBATERE
the Company'’s subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax credit at the BRNTEES ERANEEERNE
Group's effective tax rate is as follows: FrEMBIERSERAT

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T AREF T

Loss before tax BT B 518 (88,643) (26,130)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates REBRVERER &N E AR

applicable to profit in the respective W R E /T IE

jurisdiction (14,251) 3,990
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BT AR R BT TE ) A R

previous periods (66) (68)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose AT 19,216 8,313
Income not taxable for tax purpose EE AN (14,377) (36,586)
Tax losses not recognised REERTIEE R 9,412 24,283
Tax credit for the year FATIEE R (66) (68)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

)

BA SRR AL ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

11.

12.

13.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continueD)

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 16.1% (2023:
15.3%). The change in the weighted average applicable tax
rate was caused by a change in the profitability of certain
subsidiaries of the Company in the respective jurisdictions.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors did not recommend the payment of
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic loss per share amount for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB87,656,000 (2023: RMB24,728,000), and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 2,674,188,000 after
excluding treasury shares (2023: 2,674,188,000) in issue during

the year.

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
conversion of the Company’s outstanding convertible loan since
their assumed exercise would result in a decrease in loss per

share for both years.

1. ISR @)

12.

13.

SEREFERERIRA 2024 F1

T EBMNE&S16.1% (2023
F :153%) c MEFHERTRE
B ARARNRE THBARNEE
AIEREE M BT B R EFTER -

¥

EECTEZRMNEZ2024F12 8
31HIEFEMALE (20234 « £) -

RNRBIHREE ARIEERE

18

HZE2024F12A31BLLFE -
BREREBIIBRBERRRHEE AR
15 F N EE L A R 87,656,000 7T
(20234 : AR #24,728,0007T) A
RENE BT RBRANMETHE
2,674,188,000 % (HBr E1F R 1 1% )
(2023 4F : 2,674,188,000 A% )& -

AHESREEERY ARRRBBEAR
AR AREENTTREER - HRRE
1T E AR B R G B M E 2
MERERRD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12831 HIFF/E
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - B KE&E
Furniture,
fixtures and
Leasehold Plant and office Motor  Construction
improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
g BER  GBE &R
nxEB BE  RBORG RE EEIR gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR ARtz  ARMTr ARETR  ARMTn  ARMTR
31 December 2024 2014E128317
At 1 January 2024 R2024E1R17
Cost A 18,115 14,582 12,864 1328 944 47833
Accumulated depreciation and SETERAE
impairment (14,162) (13,167) (12,530) (1,228) (944) (42,031)
Net carrying amount HEHE 3,953 1415 334 100 - 5,802

At 1 January 2024, net of accumulated 520241718 IR E5f

depreciation and impairment TERAE 3953 1415 34 100 - 5,802
Additions AE 297 8 8 179 - 836
Disposal He& = (618) (25) (1) = (644)
Depreciation charge TERY (2,785) (146) (161) (51) - (3.183)
Impairment JoAEl (56) - - - - (56)
Written-off e (1,150) ) (16) (35) - (1,210)
Exchange realignment R 13 2 1 - - 16

At31 December 2024, net of R20245128318 - 1R
accumulated depreciation and ZHTERREE

impairment iyl 922 215 19 - 1,601
At 31 December 2024: R04E12A318
Cost R 6,235 13,993 6,462 1416 944 29,050
Accumulated depreciation and ZEITERAE

impairment (5,963) (13,07m) (6,247) (1,224) (944) (27,449)
Net carrying amount BEEE m n 215 19 = 1,601
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W%~ B k& &
(CONTINUED)
Furniture,
fixtures and
LeaseNold Plant and office Motor  Construction
improvements machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
i BER KB fl
VST KE AR g fEIR :
RMB'000 RVB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AREfR  ARETR  AREBTT  AREfRT  ARETR
31 December 2023 0351274318
At 1 January 2023 R023%E1A17
Cost A 221 15213 13,638 2,022 1328 54472
Accumulated depreciation and SETERAE
impairment (18.29) (13,202) (13,338) (1,807) (1,328 (47,967)
Net carrying amount HEE 3979 2011 300 215 - 6,505

At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated 520231718 IR E5f

depreciation and impairment TERAE 3979 2011 300 215 - 6,505
Additions e 3,269 352 309 64 - 3,99
Disposal il - (802) 4) (140) - (946)
Depreciation charge ERY (3321) (151) (19 ) - (3,707)
Written-off ik - - (102) - - (102)
Exchange realignment B AR 2% 5 3 4 - 58

At 31 December 2023, net of R03F12A318 - 11k
accumulated depreciation and ZHERAE

impairment 3953 1415 334 100 - 5,802
At 31 December 2023: R0B3E12R318
Cost A 18,115 14,582 12,864 1328 944 47833
Accumulated depreciation and ZHRERAE

impairment (14,162) (13,167) (12,530) (1,228) (944) (42,031)
Net carrying amount FESE 3953 1415 34 100 - 5,802
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  15. I ARET ABZHN SR

PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREFABRNESREE
Unlisted equity securities (Note (i) FE_ETIRAE H (B EE()) = 1,604
Note: Bt eE
(i) On 16 May 2023, the Company entered into the Stock Purchase (i) 202354168 » ARRQ AT MBI
Agreement whereby Charme Inc. (the “Target Company”), as issuer # ' Charme Inc.([ BBAR ) ERHELT
agreed to issue an aggregate of 847 shares of Series Angel Preferred ARBEITEHA7TRREWBLR - M
Stock and the Company as subscribers agreed to subscribe 423 shares for RRRWERRIEAREBREA23MM N -
consideration of US$1,600,000. The stock subscription was completed on 1B & 1,600,000 7T - [ 5 R IEEE
16 May 2023 and as a result, the Company holds 15.9804% of the issued BR2023F5 8168 A - At + AR
shares of all classes of stocks of the Target Company. Further details were RAIFA BEARMEERIE#ITRME
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 16 May 2023 and 7 July 15.9804% ° # —FHIEEHNALQF HE
2023. A20239F5 816 H K%2023F7R7AMA
+,
Details of fair value measurements of unlisted equity securities EEMBABSFN A EFFEFES
are set out in note 35. FABFFE3S ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. [FFEEE

Leased

properties

HEWSE

RMB’'000

AREEF T

As at 1 January 2023 7R2023F1A1H 43,656
Additions NE 23,830
Depreciation charge during the year (note 8) FRITEER(MES) (26,329)
Modification 1&57 (5,970)
Exchange realignment PE 5 2L 441
As at 31 December 2023 and as at 1 January 2024 2023128318 %2024F1 818 35,628
Additions = 24,737
Depreciation charge during the year (note 8) FRITEER (KizES) (20,520)
Termination Rk (11,179)
Impairment A (6,292)
Exchange realignment PE 3 T2 415
As at 31 December 2024 R20245%12A31H 22,789

R2024%F 128318 - HEBBELHA
K #30,549,0007T (20234 : HHAR
38,096,000 ) fE 33 /4 1A B8 {55 A 4
BEH AR 22,789,000 T (2023
F ) ARY35,628,0007T) ° BrH
MAFFREEEENREE=I - 1
ERRTEEINEAGER -  HEBE
TMERIEERHOERD ©

Lease liabilities of approximately RMB30,549,000 (2023:
approximately RMB38,096,000) are recognised with related
right-of-use assets of approximately RMB22,789,000 (2023:
approximately RMB35,628,000) as at 31 December 2024. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

HEMNRS R AEFRANEAR
% o

Details of total cash outflow of leases are set out in the

consolidated cash flow statements. >

k>
fein
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z
16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (conmmuep) 6. (EAEEE @
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group leased REZE2024F12A31HLEFE - &
properties for own use. Lease contracts are entered into for SEEEMEFEER  -HESHN
fixed term of three to five years (2023: one to ten years). Lease EEFHA=2RF(2023F : —&
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide ) - MEBGFIIE@BIERE 13
range of different terms and conditions. In determining the 7 WREEETR BRI MGRE
lease term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable REEER B LA AR RO B &
period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and EF - AEEEAGHNERIET
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable. BRPREBITRHAM -
17. INVENTORIES 17. 78
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTF T AREBFT
Raw materials EAE 4,958 7,412
Work in progress M 1,098 1,941
Finished goods 2K 12,975 17,564

19,031 26,917
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 5 WA
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Trade receivables from third parties REFE=FTHE ZEUGRIA 53,890 52,817
Less: allowance for ECL B TEEE B ERE (37,156) (35,405)
16,734 17,412

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period for customers of the manufacturing
segment is generally one to two months, extending up to
three to four months for major customers, the credit period for
customers of the retail segment is within one month. The Group
does not hold any collateral over its trade receivables balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing.

An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of provision,
is as follows:

EE

D‘MEITWWHHH-F%

- BHREKE

TENH

ERAZFNESRILUEER

DEEFNEER—RA—
MER  F2EFNEEHTERE
xZ=ZNEA - m
EHAA—EANRN - REEWEE
{8 5 WIS A TR
JIARTETR

PP

RAREIR - IRER B HAHIRR A

=

HE2JNE S

2

& W R I8 B AR i 0 A 4

2024 2023

2024F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARMT T AREBFT

Within 3 months 3EAR 9,857 16,708
4 1o 6 months 4Z26{EA 5,023 686
7 to 12 months Z121E A 1,854 18
16,734 17,412

Details of the ECL assessment are set out in note 36.

EEEX

EREREEE RN G F BN E

36°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EE2024F 12431 H I F/E
19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19. FEFRIE ~ Le RHME
RECEIVABLES Wk I
2023
20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T ARETIT
Advances to suppliers TErHE R FRIE 2,163 4,244
Other prepayments HAbTAIFRIR 2,949 1,136
Deposits and other receivables e R E A ER IR 7,858 10,204
12,970 15,584
Details of the ECL assessment are set out in note 36. EAEBEERBEMENF BN

7136 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED 20. e MIREeHEY - oK

BANK DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED BANK
BALANCES

MERITF AR SR IR T
rEER

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTT AREFT

Cash and bank balances e RIRITERS 4,185 4,774
Less: pledged bank deposits W BEIRRITIER (21) 21)
restricted bank balances ZIRBIRITEEER (165) -

Cash and cash equivalents BEMIBESEEY 3,999 4,753

Cash and bank balances denominated in: 384 MIRITAMIZA T EE
FHE -

RMB AR 1,219 585
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") Bo(lExl) 1,145 1,734
uss %7 1,681 2,424
British Pound R 140 31
4,185 4,774

As at the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB1,101,000 (2023: approximately RMB585,000). RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with

creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Details of ECL assessment are set out in note 36.

REREER - MAREFTENERES R
ReEEEWHR/ARE1,101,0007T
(20234 : YA AR¥ES85,0007T) °
ARETAIERLBAEME - A
i ARAR AR B Rt INE B A AR K A
& EERMNESERTE  NEBEE
I RIE R A R YN 275 00 3R 1T 1
ARERBBHMEY -

RITIMERIBEE B RITIFHN RIZF
BFIEE S - RITERTFHRINTHE
BRI B EBRIFIRIT -

BHEEBERFGENFBEHNME
36 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e PSRRI ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

EE2024F 12431 H I F/E
21. TRADE PAYABLES 21. EHENFA
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Trade payables to third parties ERE=FE I8 28,872 46,073

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

RBEHR - REZEH2IINES
e IR ARER DTN -

2024 2023
20244 2023%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AREBFIT

Within 1 month 1MEA R 8,686 17,778
1 to 3 months 12318 A 3,006 7,167
4 to 6 months 4%618 A 737 3,533
Over 6 months B ime6{E A 16,443 17,595
28,872 46,073

ZEHENZTBAETE - EFEMNK
EREN30E180F N4EHE o

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing. Trade payables are
normally settled on terms of 30 to 180 days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E2024F 1231 HIFF/E
22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/ 22. AMERFIANEST B
CONTRACT LIABILITIES B/ a#48aE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Other payables (Note (i) E At 3R (ML) 33,013 85,168
Accruals FEETE A 7,166 8,269
40,179 93,437

Contract liabilities (Note (ii)) & KB E (FHEEG)) 3,356 7,210

Notes: MHaT -

(i) As at 31 December 2023, redundancy payable due to the suspension (i) M2023F 128318 - ATHE T ME
of factories and rental payable was approximately RMB54,090,000 and NEERERENESD N ANARK
RMB7,345,000 respectively. 54,090,0007T & A R#7,345,0007T ©

(i) Contract liabilities represent contract amounts received in advance of (i) AHNBEREINEMIREINENEEE -
delivery of goods.

The Group’s revenue recognised that was included in the REBMRETEI A A LB EELHE

contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the period: Al

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T

Amounts received in advance of delivery RS R ATUEEYFIE

of goods (Note) (P ) 7,210 11,052
Note: Contract liabilities in relation to sales of finished goods are expected to Mzt : ERREEFBNESHNBERDBN—
be settled within one year. The entire amount of contract liabilities at the FAEE  -RFVN2EENEEER
beginning of the year were recognised as revenue during the current year. REEERBLA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12831 HIFF/E
23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. lHEBE
As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 December 2023
R2024%12A31H 720234124318
Present Present
value of Total value of Total
the minimum g the minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
BRIEHE BERE REEE REHEE
AHRE DEEE DESE feE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NS ARET T AREFT AREFT
Within 1 year 1ER 11,406 13,248 20,738 23,200
After 1 year but within 2 years 1228R 6,794 7,909 9,093 10,097
After 2 years but within 5 years 2E5FR 12,349 13,282 3,015 3,974
After 5 years BiB5F - - 5,250 6,285
19,143 21,191 17,358 20,356
30,549 34,439 38,096 43,556
Less: total future interest expenses  J, + RIRF| EF S B3 (3,890) (5,460)
Present value of lease obligations ~ FAEAIERE 30,549 38,096
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range HRAREEEBEMIEEEZFEN
from 6.25% to 14.30% (2023: range from 2.99% to 13.06%). F6.25% % 14.30% (2023 F : N F

2.99%%13.06%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

23. LEASE LIABILITIES (conmmueD) 23. HEAG@®)
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HHEERNDTAT -
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AREF T
Current liabilities mEaE 11,406 20,738
Non-current liabilities FRBEE 19,143 17,358
30,549 38,096
24. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES 24. FEfSEERE A RIFIA
The related companies to whom these amounts are due to are ZEFBREN THBEB AR IBEAR
controlled by Mr. Zou Gebing, a substantial shareholder of the RAEEZRRIPEE AT -
Company who indirectly holds 24.24% of shareholding interests FHERENE 20245 22023412 A 31
in the Company during the years ended 31 December 2024 and HIEFERERFAARF24.24%
2023. The amounts due to related companies are unsecured, ﬁé FET BB R BB BRI -
interest-free and repayable on demand. RIBIREREER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12831 HIFF/E
25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. st RERIT MHEAMEK
BORROWINGS
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Effective Effective
interest rate  Maturity AUEHINUS  interest rate Maturity RMB'000
BERAZE I ARBTR A ARETTT
Current - secured - HEA
Bank loans BITER 6.61% 2024 14,790 6.61% 2024 14,790
Current-unsecured B - SRR A
Other borrowings (note (¢)  EbfEF (M) 6.0%-8.0%  2024-2025 182127  60%-80% 2024 94,667
Non-current - secured FEE-BEA
Bank loans BITER 5.0%-6.5% 2031 53,696 5.0%-65% 2031 53,696
250,613 163,153
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTT
Analysed into: DB TEE
Bank and other borrowings repayable R—ERNRIZERKEER
within one year or on demand RIT R EALEK 196,917 109,457
Bank and other borrowings repayable R—F LA EEREIRITR
over one year E A& 53,696 53,696

250,613 163,153

196 REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (conminvueD)

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's secured bank loans are
secured by:

(i) pledges of properties provided by Morris Group Co., Ltd (“Morris
PRC") and Zhejiang Murong Shijia Real Estate Co, Ltd (“Shijia Real
Estate”), companies controlled by Mr. Zou Gebing;

(ii) pledges of properties provided by Mr. Zou Gebing and Ms. Wu

Xiangfei;

(iii)

personal guarantee provided by Mr. Zou Gebing; and
(iv) corporate guarantees provided by Morris PRC, Shijia Real
Estate, the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Group and an
independent third party.

The Group’s bank and other borrowings were denominated in the
following currencies:

25. ;T BRIT M EMERE)

2024 20235128310 » REED
BIRBRITEFATY S BRI

(i) PREEEENOREEERR
AR([REFE]D AN TRAE
FERRAG([HRBE]) R
ok ES (i

PIEEFTERBRREZ TR
LES (SR

(ii)
(i) BRESEERBNEARR R

RATE - HFE  ARF) -
AEEETHBARARBILIE=
TR RBELR o

(iv)

AEBERTREMERIZ TGS
fa:

2024 2023
202445 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR¥ETF T

RMB AR 129,065 105,686
HK$ BT 121,548 57,467
250,613 163,153

As at 31 December 2024, other borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB118,675,000 (2023: RMB67,467,000) represented loans from Mr.
Tse Kam Pang, a substantial shareholder of the Company which were
unsecured, interest bearing ranged from 6% to 8% (2023: 6%), and
repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2024, other borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB63,452,000 (2023: RMB27,200,000) represented loans from third
parties which were unsecured, interest bearing at 8% (2023: 6% to 8%),
and repayable on demand.

SEREFERERIRA 2024 F1

MH2024F 12 A31H » EMEROA
R #118,675,0007C (202346 : AR#
67,467,0007T) AR E A QR EZREH
SBESEAEMER - ZERBEEF - &
6% %E8%(2023%F : 6% )T E - AEEZ
ERMEE -

MR2024F 12 A318 » EMERHA
R % 63,452,000 7T (2023 F : AR ¥
27,200,00070) AREE=FHER * Z
ERAERIT - 128%(2023F : 6% E
8%)it 8 - BARERIEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z
26. WARRANTY PROVISION 26. {RIEEHE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARMFIT
At the beginning of year F3 943 455
Additional provision (note 8) FOME A (M15E8) 455 943
Amount utilised during the year FREERAFKIEAE (950) (470)
Exchange realignment b 5 SR B 11 15
At the end of year FR 459 943
The Group provides one-year warranties to certain customers rEERETEPEH -—FHERR
on its products, under which faulty products are repaired or BRG  BULBREHERSESSE
replaced. The amount of the provision for the warranties is BRER - RIEBESHREHEER
estimated based on sales volumes and past experience of the BT B KR EKFEITER « A&
level of repairs and returns. The estimation basis is reviewed on B R R A E R - WERED
an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate. 1&aT °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

27. CONVERTIBLE LOAN/DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ~ 27. AR &R 14/ T

INSTRUMENTS =
Convertible loan CIE=d=F
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥ETT
Liability component of the Convertible loan RIS ERE & &350 29,833 40,054
Analysed for reporting purpose as: MEHA BT -
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥ETTT
(Restated)
(5=&E%))
Liability component of the Convertible loan: A& E R EEED
Current liabilities mEaE 29,833 40,054
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

27. CONVERTIBLE LOAN/DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

Convertible loan (Continued)

On 21 December 2022, the Company entered into a
amendment agreement to amend the principal terms and
conditions of the original convertible loan, pursuant to which
International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) agreed to lend, and
the Company agreed to borrow, the convertible loan in an
outstanding principal amount of approximately HK$73,439,000
(the “Convertible Loan”). IFC has the right to convert all or
any part of the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Loan into shares of the Company at an initial conversion price
of HK$2.22 per conversion share (subject to adjustments as
set out in the Convertible Loan Agreement). The outstanding
principal of the Convertible Loan bears interest at a rate of
2.75% per annum above one month HIBOR. Interest period of
the Convertible Loan shall be a period of one month in each
case beginning on an interest payment date and ending on the
day immediately before the next following interest payment
date.

Subject to the rescheduled repayment instalment, the
rescheduled maturity date is 28 June 2025 (the “Maturity
Date”) together with the accumulated redemption premium

amounted to approximately HK$2,192,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
defaulted in repayment of principal amount of approximately
HK$17,482,000.

On 23 September 2024, IFC assigned all its rights, interests and

obligations under the Convertible Loan to an independent third

party.
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27.

ABRRER PTE SR T
H®)

ARRER @)

M2022%F 1284218 » KRAFIM(E
R MEETRB IR ERN E
IR MG - BEZHE - EES
BAR([EAREBAT ] AELE
RANRREBAREBERSOA
73,439,000 Ly AT A IR B R ([ T
BRER]) - ER AR AEEZER
BARAR 9 2. 228 TR IR R B S 2
R D AT RBRERREERS
FEIR R AR AR () (AT IR IR AT R AR
ERBEMEELAE) - I BRE
RARBERSERFENE275% (5
R—EAEBRITRERB)IFE -
REEBERT @ A RRERAF S
A—ER BNERHBREERET—
B S BER—B L -

RIBEFTNHHER  FFI2HARA
202596 A28 ([EIHA 1) ER &5
fERRESELA2,192,0008 7T -

HE2024F 12 A31HIEFEE - AR
BIHER(EIBANE #917,482,000 BT °

M202459A230  BIES®AAE
HERUBBRER AT AR - #Ex
REBRERTBIE=F -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

27. CONVERTIBLE LOAN/DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

Convertible loan (Continued)

The Convertible Loan recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position of the Group is bifurcated into two

27. AR E R 1T

H®)
AR ER E)
FAZR

Rt T

KBRS R FER A I
BERD mMEEED - AaER

components for accounting purpose, namely the liability SRATHETS - RIS EENZEY
component and the derivative component, and the movements SEBIT
of these components during the reporting period are as follows:
Liability
component Derivative
of Convertible financial
Loan instrument Total
R
&R g3
BEHS SRIA st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT AREFT AREFT
As at 1 January 2023 #2023%1 418 60,565 372 60,937
Repayment of Convertible Loan EERTARER (19,547) - (19,547)
Amortisation of liability componentof AR EREEHHMEE

the Convertible Loan 1,039 - 1,039
Accrual interest JEEHFIE (3477) - (3.477)
Fair value change MAEEY - (305) (305)
Exchange difference R EE 1,474 8 1,482
As at 31 December 2023 and M2023F12A318 &

1 January 2024 20241818 40,054 75 40,129
Repayment of Convertible Loan EETRRER (9,942) - (9,942)
Amortisation of liability componentof ~ FHREFEEHHMEE

the Convertible Loan 570 - 570
Accrual interest e HIS (1,605) - (1,605)
Fair value change AL = (76) (76)
Exchange difference EHER 756 1 757
As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31R 29,833 - 29,833
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12831 HIFF/E
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. I&AR
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
US$'000 RMB'000 US$'000 RMB'000
TER ARBTT Fxx NS
Equivalent Equivalent
e EE
Authorised: ETE
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares 10,000,000,000/ &
of US$0.001 each (2023: FREE0.001E T4
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of &R (2023 :
US$0.001 each) 10,000,000,0008% &%
E{B0.001ETRLE
&) 10,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRER -
2,750,000,000 ordinary shares 2,750,000,00008 &
of US$0.001 each (2023: [E{E0.001£ LK)
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of & B(2023% :
US$0.001 each) 1,000,000,0008% &% F
{50.001 ETTH & @AR) 2,750 19,212 2,750 19,212
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

29. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of
the Cayman Islands, share premium of the Company
is available for paying distributions and dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum
and Articles of Association and provided that immediately
following the distributions or dividend payments, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.

Treasury shares

As at 31 December 2024, 75,812,000 (2023: 75,812,000)
ordinary shares acquired under the Award Scheme
(as defined below) were deem to be held in treasury,
representing 2.76% of the shares in issue as at 31
December 2024 (2023: 2.76%). The nominal value of
shares held in treasury was approximately RMB8,992,000
(2023: RMB8,992,000).

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all relevant
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the Company and subsidiaries with
functional currencies other than RMB.

9. f#iG
AEBMRAERE BB FENEEER

BEPHEZIIN

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

EEEX

MraREEPE -

MRAn = E

RIEFEHE R RERIER)
F0E  RREBEIERAR
AR R B0 AR TE 8 AR 2 B B A7 O (B
R R AR R A 2R B BB,
ARG R ERE D KA E
MK ARBRANER
REBIZH B HEET -

EEkG

B2024F 12 318 - #£E
FE(ERRTX) THhE
#9 75,812,000 A% ( 2023 F :
75,812,000 % ) & B R A
INEFARNIFE - (hR20245F
12A31TBE#EITRNEI2.76%
(20234 : 2.76%) - LLETF A
AFENRNIEENAAR
#8,992,0007T (20234 : AR
#8,992,0007T) °

[E R B

EHRBRERRBRERR

Ko Bt 8 Tﬁﬁﬁzi&%ﬁw\iﬁ%
AN Th BE B W EE A BV P AR
RAME 3 %8 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

29. RESERVES (conmivueD)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

204  REGAL PARTNERS HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Reserve funds

The transfers from retained profits to the reserve funds
were made in accordance with the relevant PRC rules
and regulations and the articles of association of the
Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the merge effect for acquisition
of additional equity interest in subsidiaries without the
overall change in the control in that subsidiaries and
surplus of investment in subsidiaries before the merging.

Share award scheme reserve

The restricted share award scheme (the “Award
Scheme”) was adopted by the Board on 29 August 2019
(the “Adoption Date").

The specific objectives of the Award Scheme are: (1) to
provide the Selected Participants (as defined below) with
an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the
Group; (2) to encourage and retain such individuals to
work with the Group; (3) to provide additional incentive
for Selected Participants to achieve performance goals
with a view to achieve the objectives of increasing the
value of the Group; and (4) to align the interests of the
Selected Participants directly to the shareholders through
ownership of shares, dividends and other distributions
paid on shares and/or the increase in the value of the
shares.

29. fF#EiE#)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

HEEE

WRIEA B BAR R BOR R A K
AR B BRCSL R KB A R
H AR S AR AN A AS 4R B 0 M
BRRER -

Hftuf# s
HAth 58 5 15 M B T B 2 R BB S
NG HEE  MAEEHZ

I 22 0 0 20 4 T 2 B
) PNGEE - 1
£ -

Bt S Bhat Bl st

BEEEMN2019F8AHA298 (K
WA HER ) ERANBR B 1 22D
BEICE3 G5 DE

KBralmEgRIER  ()A
BESEEZE(EELTORMH
ESAEEMERESIHE
QBB ZEALTHEAE
BT QRET2EERM;
BINHBAERBEMBRE - U
EREMAKEEENER
K@)@BRm B - BB
B9 S A B B 50 Ik e, s B
EENEN  FRESEE
O B IR R AR FF — B -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

29. f#EtE#®)
(vi) R &REEtEIGEEE)

29. RESERVES (conmivueD)

(vi) Share award scheme reserve (Continued)

The board may, from time to time, select and approve
any individual, being an employee, director, officer,
consultant, agent, adviser or business partner of any
member of the Group or any affiliate (including nominees
and/or trustees of any employee benefit trust established
for them) and any other person as determined by the
board who the board or its delegate(s) considers, in their
sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute
to the Group (the “Eligible Persons”) for participation
in the Award Scheme and grant awards to such Eligible
Persons (the “Selected Participants”).

The board will not make any further grant of award which
will result in the aggregate number of shares underlying
all grants made pursuant to the Award Scheme (excluding
award shares that have been forfeited in accordance with
the Award Scheme) to exceed 9.9% of the total number
of issued shares as at the Adoption Date (i.e. 99,000,000
shares) (the “Scheme Mandate”) without approval by a
board resolution. As at the date of this report, awards in
respect of 99,000,000 Shares may be granted pursuant to
the Scheme Mandate.

The maximum number of award shares which may be
awarded to a Selected Participant under the Award
Scheme in aggregate shall not exceed 5.0% of the total
number of issued shares as at the Adoption Date.

The board or the committee of the board or person(s) to
which the board delegated its authority may, from time
to time, while the Award Scheme is in force and subject
to all applicable laws, determine such vesting criteria and
conditions or periods for the award to be vested pursuant
to the Award Scheme.

The Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years from the Adoption Date.

EEERY

EESU THERNSLEES
EAEAREERBRA/EL
X % [7) A< 5% [/ B BR e (E (A
BEA(F R/AEEEAKE T
MEBARNET BF &
BB - BR - REA FH
AREBBH(BRARFEY
M EMEERMELENREA
%/ REFEA) MAEMRE A A
TI([EEBAL]) 2HERE
B WAHEARERALET
ZB((BE2RE]) -

ExelemEnEmEIN
HRE - SRR IEREE S TR
T HIFT B 2B & IR 1) 42 21
(T BEIEREZE & 52 I
KSR IR (D) BB T A B EA RS
BETHRNEBHMNII% -
B199,000,000 8% f% 15 ([ &t &1#%
B BRIELBESSAEM
M RANRERE  HIEBFHA
4 #9 99,000,000 % % 15 7] R &
ETEIEER L -

RIBZBFE IR T —REE
2RENBHBRONRSEE
BRITREBRMAHEET
Bt 4828 E95.0% °

EXZeNEERZEeRES
ERTHBNNA LA AT
RS BMAETHAE
ERERNBERT  EERE
RENE K T 8RB EE R
38 57 [ IR AN IR S AR

R ETE B RM B BRS04
HEAMMAYT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

29. #i&E#)
(vi) RpERBEETEIREZ)
S BIMAE ARSI T

29. RESERVES (conmivueD)

(vi) Share award scheme reserve (Continued)

Details of specific categories of Award Scheme are as

follows:

During the year ended 31 December 2024

HE20245 128318 L EE

Number of share award
RH%RBHA
Grant during the  Exercised during  Lapsed during the Outstanding
Outstanding yearended the year ended year ended asat
Exercise date/  Exercise price asat 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Share award type Dateof grant  period pershare | LELIE AL 2024 2024 2024 2024
EYINIES BZ2025 Bz20u5
RS/ R2024% 12A3NBLEE 12ANALEE  N12ANBLEE R20245
ROZBED RILEH HE BRTEE R HERH HEGE HEAN  12BNAXTE
2023 2August 2023 (note 1) HK$0.18 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) -
20035 0358/ (W) 018
2023 2October 2023 (note 2) HK$0.18 21,000,000 - - - 21,000,000
2003% 2003510828 (W) 0187
Total 26,000,000 - - (5,000,000) 21,000,000
@t
During the year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023F12A318LFE
Number of share award
Tt B A
Grantduring e Exercised during  Lapsed during the QOutstanding
Qutstanding yearended  the year ended year ended asat
Exercise date/ Exercise price asat 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Share award type Date of grant period pershare 1 January 2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
HEBE EEYIEES HEABE
fifdt:vg R03F  1ANALEE  12ANBLEE  1ANALFE 20235
Tt B =k 0 BROEE  1RIBAOE B Bt HREAR 12A318%f
2023 2August 2023 (note 1) HK$0.18 - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000
EES 203F8A28  (HEHT) 0187
2023 2Qctober 2023 (note 2) HK$0.18 - 21,000,000 - - 21,000,000
2023% 023510828 (MEk) 0.18%7
Total - 26,000,000 - - 26,000,000

@t
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z
29. RESERVES (conminuep) 29. @)
(vi) Share award scheme reserve (Continued) (vi) RpEEIEHEIREE)

Notes: B &E -

(1) Subject to fulfillment of the pre-determined vesting conditions, the (1) FETHBREERE  RHE
share awards shall be vested and exercisable from 2 August 2024 B)iS & %8I A7 20244F8 A2 H
to 1 August 2033. 2203398 A1 B EIRIITEE -

(2)  Subject to fulfillment of the pre-determined vesting conditions, the (2) HFEEEBEEERE  RiHE
share awards shall be vested and exercisable from 31 December B & R AT 20259512 A 31
2025 to 1 October 2033. HZ20334 107 1B HIMTT1E o

(3) The Company has taken in account the below factors in (3) ARBRETEIRIFEETEIRT
determining the purchase price of the shares awarded under the RHBBEERE  2ZR T
Award Scheme: ESE
(i) the closing prices of the shares on the Stock Exchange (i) AR 1D A1 i B B AT TE B 2

preceding the dates of the grants, i.e. HK$0.182 on 1 Fr &y s 71 (8 (BN 2023 4F
August 2023 and HK$0.175 on 29 September 2023; 8A1HA0.182F L KR
202349 A29H A0.175
BiT)
(ii) the grantees’ ability, historical contributions, performances (i) EEANEN  BEE
and roles within the Group; - RERRAEE RS
Am
@iy the potential contribution that the grantee may bring to the (i)  FRAEARD AR Y
long-term growth and development of the Company; and RRBERATGEHREERE
g &
(iv)  the vesting period of the share awards. (iv) B ERERSEEE -
The fair value of the share awards granted during the year REE2023F 12831 B ILFE
ended 31 December 2023 was RMB3,070,000. AR LB BB A RERA
R¥3,070,0007T °

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group REE2024F12A31HIEF

recognised share-based payment expense of RMB892,000 B REBRERURN BE

in relation to share awards granted by the Company in i) R 2 AR #5892,0007T

2023 (2023: RMB498,000). (20234 : AR¥498,0007T)

QB PA2023 F 5% A AR 10 82
BER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E20244F 12831 HIFF/E
29. RESERVES (conminuep) 29. f#EtE@#®)
(vi) Share award scheme reserve (Continued) (vi) BRipREISHEI#EE)
The fair value of share awards granted during the year REE2023F 12831 B ILFE
ended 31 December 2023 was estimated as at the date AR E IR0 B A R ERE
of grant using a binomial model, taking into account the A ARA - EARE 5
terms and conditions upon which the share options were A 5 Ko 5% B AR HRE 0 1R R 2 14
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model o TRILFTAER A EA
used: g -
Share awards
granted in
2023
2023F R
%17 52 /8
HK$
BT
Fair value of the Company’s shares RATROAR L BN ARE
as at the grant date 0.12-0.13
Expected volatility (%) TEER R IR(%) 100.2-101.3
Expected dividend (%) TEHARE B R (%) 0.00
Exercise multiple IR EE 2.47
Exercise price I E 0.18
Risk-free interest rate (%) AL F1 R (%) 3.92-4.16
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the Ta RO 18 S Bk JE S IR BEVE
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may RRBEER(BTR—ERER
also not necessarily be the actual outcome. ERIBWERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z
30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 30. MEEBMEANBEY
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES iR
Change in liabilities arising from financing activities: BEEBMEENBEZE
2024 20245
Interest
Amounts bearing
due to bank
related Lease  Convertible and other
companies liabilities Loan  borrowings Total
PEA R FEBTR
ARHE HEEE FRRER Hitr e Bt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR¥®TR AR%TRT AR%TR
As at 1 January 2024 20245118 44,534 38,096 40,054 163,153 285,837
New bank borrowings FEHRITER = = = 134,435 134,435
New lease entered AR kD) - 24,737 - - 24,737
Interest charged MBI = 2,765 3,152 13,974 19,891
Termination of lease ®IEEE = (12,040) = = (12,040)
Repayment BR = (23,548) (9,942) (49,088) (82,578)
Interest paid and payable BT RE(FIE = = (4,187) (13,974) (18,161)
Exchange realignment 3 R 747 539 756 2,113 4,155
As at 31 December 2024 2024124318 45,281 30,549 29,833 250,613 356,276

SEEEFRERER AR 2024 37 209



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z
30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 30. REABMEARNEEY
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continuep) BRoE)
2023 20234

Interest

Amounts bearing

due to bank

related Lease  Convertible and other
companies liabilities Loan  borrowings Total

JEfI R FEFTR
ARIFHE HEAE AUBRRER HibE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
As at 1 January 2023 72023118 62,173 47,452 60,565 69,235 239,425
New bank borrowings HILIRITIER - - - 155,182 155,182
New lease entered AR kD) - 23,830 - - 23,830
Interest charged FESH - 4,561 3,541 5,887 13,989
Termination of lease s = - (1,299) - - (1,299)
Repayment BN (18,727) (30,765) (19,547) (61,236) (130,275)
Modification of lease BETHRE - (6,157) - - (6,157)
Interest paid and payable B RENFE - - (5,979) (5,887) (11,866)
Exchange realignment L 1,088 474 1,474 (28) 3,008
Asat 31 December 2023 #2023%F12A31A 44,534 38,096 40,054 163,153 285,837
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E2024F 1231 HIFF/E
31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 31. BB T R 5 R AR
BALANCES
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) EEREEEA IR Z
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the B 4r B B IS R H A 20 s altt
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the MRS NEBRAKEEHE
following significant transactions with related parties BB BT TEARS ¢

during the year:

2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTF T ARBFIT
Guangzhou Fuli Furniture BEMNERNERETRAF
Company Limited
Sales of product SHEEm - 48
Guangzhou Royal Furniture BEMNERREFTRALH
Company Limited
Purchase of product BEEMD - 15
The above related parties are companies controlled by Mr. LA A ARk E
Tse Kam Pang, a substantial shareholder of the Company. (ARBZEERF)EHHA
The transactions were conducted on terms and conditions Ao ZERSIIRBEMEBETN
mutually agreed between the relevant parties. F B TERIER RS EHETT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e IR RAR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES (conminuED)

(b) Balances with related parties

Amounts due from related companies

31. B AR5 MESRE

(b) E2REEETT MAEER
FEW BT A A

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREBTFT
Morris PRC* (note (ii)) ELRA B> (B EEG)) 171,895 169,404
Masia Investment Limited (note (ii)) EDIREBRA R FEEG)) 36 36
Guangzhou Royal Furniture Company EMEFREGRAF]
Limited (note (7)) (BRTEEG)) - 5
Guangzhou Fuli Furniture Company BN EFFREFRE AR
Limited (note (7)) (PRTEEG)) - 55
Zhejiang Jujueyun Technology Co., Zhejiang Jujueyun
Ltd. (note (ii)) Technology Co., Ltd.
(B 5EGi)) 8,000 8,000
179,931 177,500
Less: allowance for ECL for companies 38 : Htai 8855 5 £ 1R I A
controlled by Mr. Tse Kam Pang AfEH M TRHIEEE
BRI = (1)
allowance for ECL for companies PR EEFNA
controlled by Mr. Zou Gebing BEHMTEHEER
BRE (59,891) (1,241)
(59,891) (1,242)
120,040 176,258
* The balance mainly represents consideration receivable from Morris * HERFEERAPEHERERD

PRC for disposal of subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B E2024F 1231 HIFF/E
31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 31. BB TR 5 RASRR(#)
BALANCES (conminuep)
(b) Balances with related parties (Continued) (b) EEEREE S MIEEER(E)
Amounts due from related companies (Continued) FEW BT 2 Bl 5k (4)
The amounts due from related companies are unsecured, FEURBAESE A R FE A EET
interest-free and repayable on demand. BB RIBENKER -
Notes: FfsT -
[0) These companies are controlled by Mr. Tse Kam Pang, a substantial (i) ZERNRAARAEEZRFH R
shareholder of the Company. 35 5 A2 b
(i) These companies are controlled by Mr. Zou Gebing, a substantial (i) ZERRBARRFEEZERREE
shareholder of the Company. AR
Amounts due to related companies FETEIH 2 Bl 5k
Details of amounts due to related companies are set out FE <1 B Bt 75 FRIE B 5 1B ERN BT
in note 24. 5124 -
() Compensation of key management () REBFEEEAEMNF:
personnel of the Group [
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFIT
Fees we 1,753 2,006
Salaries, allowances and e R LEYET
benefits in kind 3,758 9,045
Share-based payment LARRR R ERE R 3K 423 106
Pension scheme contributions RIRETEIHER 16 16
Total compensation paid to key SHTFEEEEAEN
management personnel HrEsE 5,950 11,173
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in ESMemE —PHFBENE
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. AP TEREMFEO ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

)

BA SRR AL ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

32.

33.

214

COMMITMENTS

The Group did not have any capital commitment as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

LITIGATION

On 11 June 2024, Zhejiang Premier Furniture Manufacture Co.,
Lid* (M I H E R JE B R 2 7 ) (“Premier Furniture
Manufacture”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, received a summons of the People’s Court of Haining
City (V8 2 ™ A R A BT ) (the “Haining Court”) in the PRC
returnable on 14 June 2024 for a pre-trial conference (the
“PTC"), which has been adjourned to a later date to be fixed.

The PTC concerns a claim brought by Haining Morris
International Fur Co., td* (B EHZ A BHBR K EHR 2 A)
(“Haining Fur”) against Premier Furniture Manufacture for (1)
RMB3,000,000 paid by Haining Fur to China Merchants Bank
Co., Ltd., Hangzhou Branch (“CM Bank") in its capacity as
guarantor for two bank facilities (the “Loans”) in the principal
amount of RMB30,000,000 each provided by CM Bank to
Zhejiang Morris Fashion Home Co., Ltd. i TR AR M REBR
A 7)) (“Fashion Home") and Zhejiang Apollo Leather Products
Co., Ltd. (¥ IPIEES ERMEMR A F) (“Zhejiang Apollo”),
respectively; and (2) costs (the “Claim”).

Fashion Home and Zhejiang Apollo (the “Relevant
Subsidiaries”) are companies established in the PRC with
limited liability and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company. Due to financial difficulties, the Relevant Subsidiaries
initiated restructuring procedures, whereby a restructuring
plan for the settlement of all the indebtedness of the Relevant
Subsidiaries (the “Restructuring Plan”) was formulated and
sanctioned by the Haining Court in 2022 (the “Restructuring”).
Pursuant to the Restructuring Plan, 20% of total outstanding
amount under the Loans has been paid to CM Bank discharging

the Relevant Subsidiaries’ obligations.

*  For identification purposes only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

33. LITIGATION (cONTINUED) 33. FaaE)

CM Bank has sought a judgment from the People’s Court of
Shangcheng District, Hangzhou City (F /N ¥ 1@ A R 3ABR)
against Morris Group Co., Ltd. (“Morris PRC"”), Haining Fur,
Zhejiang Morris Shijia Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (T RAHRME
BBR/~ 7)) (“Shijia Real Estate”), Zou Gebing and Wu Xiangfei
(collectively, the “Guarantors”), as guarantors or security
providers, for the remaining outstanding amount under the
facility granted to Zhejiang Apollo.

As alleged in the statement of civil claim dated 10 May 2024
(the "SOC") lodged by Haining Fur with the Haining Court,
in view that both Premier Furniture Manufacture and the
Relevant Subsidiaries are subsidiaries of the Company, the de
facto controller of the Company before the Restructuring (i.e.
Mr. Zou Gebing) and the investor introduced (i.e. the new
controlling shareholder of the Company) after the Restructuring
have reached a “consensus” that (i) the Loans shall remain a
payment obligation of the Group as they were indebtedness
of the Group; and (ii) Premier Furniture Manufacture shall
provide a repayment undertaking to Haining Fur and the other
Guarantors to such effect.

A written document entitled “ # & £ (Undertaking)” (the
“Alleged Undertaking”), onto which the official seal of
Premier Furniture Manufacture and the “round chop” of the
Company were affixed, was included in the case bundle
supporting the Claim prepared by Haining Fur. As stated in the
Alleged Undertaking, Premier Furniture Manufacture has
voluntarily agreed to perform the repayment obligations under
the Loans and has irrevocably undertaken to (i) following the
fulfilment of any repayment obligations (including guarantee
and security obligations) under the Loans by any of the
Guarantors, Premier Furniture Manufacture shall repay to the
Guarantors the entire sum paid by them and costs within five (5)
working days; and (i) after such repayment, Premier Furniture
Manufacture shall have no claim against the Guarantors of the
Loans. It is stated in the SOC that Haining Fur has paid
RMB3,000,000 to CM Bank in its capacity as a guarantor of the
Loans and seeks the repayment of such amount from Premier
Furniture Manufacture.

*  For identification purposes only

BRRTEHHRAEEAR QA
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) REHREBESIARIRESE (BIAR
NEVFTERR AR SR ) B AR Hak ] -
B ERE TN AAEENNRET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

33. LITIGATION (conTinUED) 33. /A

AR EliER - NEBE R RERE
FAB BB ARE3,000,0007T °

(%)

Based on the above circumstance, the Group has recognised
provision for litigation liabilities of RMB3,000,000 in relation to
the Claim.

AEBERRESTERER W4T
B -

The Group is seeking legal advice regarding the Claim and

intends to strenuously defend the Claim.

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. IfAREI DR T A
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EREeRIANREHARNGHER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: EIVCEN
Financial assets ETREE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETT

Financial asset at FVTPL BARERT AEZED
TRVEE - 1,604

At amortised cost: RHHN AT &

Trade receivables B S rElE0E 16,734 17,412
Deposits and other receivables e RHMEWFIE 7,858 10,204
Amounts due from related companies JE U BAES R B FOR 120,040 176,258
Pledged bank deposits BHERIRITIFR 21 21
Restricted bank balances SR BIERIT R 165 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReFREEEY 3,999 4,753
148,817 208,648
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e PSRRI ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities

34. #wERE et T R

TRIBE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREF T

At amortised cost: RHEEHART &
Trade payables B S B FRIR 28,872 46,073
Other payables and accruals Hib N FIBEREGTER 40,179 93,437
Amounts due to related companies FET RS A BRI 45,281 44,534
Lease liabilities HERE 30,549 38,096
Convertible Loan AR E R 29,833 40,054
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings #8877 & H &K 250,613 163,153
425,327 425,347

Derivative financial instrument

PTEERTE

Derivative financial

instruments
TEemIA
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AR¥ETT
= 75

EEERE

7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments at

amortised cost approximate to their fair values.

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to the
chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the corporate
finance team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief

financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a

forced or liquidation sale.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
transfer of fair value measurement between Level 1 and Level
2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities (2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 35. €@ TEMAARBLEARL

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuED) BEfKE)

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments TRERBBVIEEREEANER

that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, EVRBAANENITERIEESEA

grouped into Level 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair FI1Z3RNEBMITEADHN -

value is observable.

-~ Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from - BIRAAEHAEENHREAE
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical B ERERTIHHRE(CRE
assets or liabilities. AE)FH -

-~ Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from - E2WAREFEERERE (R
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 EBRR)HE(NEERAER
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly AR (B 1R IEER
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). BENBENABIRFRERIN)

(S

- Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from —  FBIRMAABEFHETEMBERI
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or HESE EPREEWEE
liability that are not based on observable market data B EW RN AT ER S5 8
(unobservable inputs). BT EREASE) ME A

iz -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e PSRRI ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

35. TR TANARERAR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminvuep) BER®)
Financial asset and liabilities measured at fair BRI EMHEED N REFTEN
value on a recurring basis TRIEEREE
2024 2024
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ELF EpE 3% 4t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETR ARET T ARET T
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBR BN
SHEE - - - -
Liabilities =L
Derivative financial instruments fTEEBIA - - - =
2023 20234
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ESF Evii E3R 4t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETTT AREFTT AREFTT
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBRABER
SREE - - 1,604 -
Liabilities =L
Derivative financial instrument PTESBIA - - 75 75
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 35. €@ TEMAARBLEARL

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) BESRKE
Financial asset and liabilities measured at fair B EMHEED N REFTEN
value on a recurring basis (Continued) TREEREBE®)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of derivative financial instrument was valued by

BHEIRALAETSENER
ITESRM I AN R AERBYHERM

RA-EAEEEARERTAEHR
BWABEGE - BEITESRT AN
DAEEEFE - F2HME27 -

an independent valuer by using binomial pricing model with
significant unobservable inputs. See note 27 for the detailed
movement of the fair value of derivative financial instrument.

ATET 4 S @ T B EMAAE
BT R E2EARE

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the

key inputs to the valuation of derivative financial instrument:

Fair value Valuation Significant
hierarchy technique unobservable inputs 2023
DABEER AERN EXRUBERAYE 2023F
Derivative financial instrument  Level 3 Binomial pricing model  Risk-free rate 3.74% 3.63%
TEERIA EXT “EAEERN ERERAE
Volatility 76.16% 112.86%
L]
Discount rate 11.19% 10.13%
32 RS

Fair value of unlisted equity securities is determined based on
valuation using asset-based approach. Fair value of individual
business assets less liabilities of the investment company was
considered to arrive the fair value of the Group’s equity interests
in the investee company. The significant input is the net asset
value of the investee company. The net asset value is positively
correlated to the fair value measurement of the unlisted equity

securities.

FEMBRARZORAAENREER
NEEREMNTFETHHERE
E o A EAKER IR E A RIH R
MARER - Bt RIRERANERI%
BEERBBEHNRAAE - EXBAR
BREREARNEERE BEF
BHEFFEMRAEFHAEAES
IELE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 35. €@ TEMAARBLEARL

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) BERKE

Financial asset and liabilities measured at fair BRI EMHEED N REFTEN
value on a recurring basis (Continued) TREEREBE®)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BEEMRAALBETSEHER ()
(Continued)

The following table presents the changes in fair value of THREINDEAAABEERE=R
financial assets which are classified under Level 3 of the fair ZEMEEALEBEZE

value hierarchy:

Financial assets

at FVTPL

BARMEFA

BRvemEE

RMB’000

AREBFIT

At 1 January 2023 202351418 -
Additions 0 11,148
Fair value changes NIREEE) (9,712)
Exchange realignment b 5 T 168
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 72023912 A31H %2024 1818 1,604
Fair value changes NREEE) (1,616)
Exchange realignment I 5, F 12
At 31 December 2024 M2024512A31H =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group'’s principal financial instruments comprise trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from
related companies, trade payables, other payables and accruals,
amounts due to related companies, convertible loan, lease
liabilities, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, cash and
cash equivalents, restricted bank balances and pledged bank
deposits.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The directors review and agree policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to its cash at banks with variable rates.

The Group considers that the exposure of cash flow interest rate
risk arising from variable-rate cash at banks is insignificant for
both years.

iRk e IR B AR RBUR

FEENTZcHTIAREESRK

A &%&ﬁ‘rﬂzﬂﬁﬂk RIH - JE R
Eﬁ%@?* B HENIA - HAfE
% IE&F’%#%FH FE& < BEHSE 12 B K
H o ABRER - HERE  AHER
TREMER  REFREFED
RIRHIRITAERR R CHEIRIRITIE A ©

AEETRIAEENTERRRF
EREf - IMNERPE - EERRKRE
Eelk  EFRMBEEEERRA
RRRERER - BREABCREURIT -

SRS
RNEE GBI F B EGHBHIRITIR

EmME - EAZBLSRENERR -

AEERR  RRMEFEMS - =¥
R EFFESNRTREELNEDR
ENERERKOHTERK -

KEBE ﬁﬁi’[ﬂ%ﬂ¥¥¢‘ﬁlﬂﬁlﬁuﬂﬁiﬂ
policy to hedge against the exposure. The Group will monitor EEREARME - AEBEKZERE
FEE PO I@Eﬁ%%ﬁv%)ﬁ
PR E AR R E R D o

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging

its interest exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
interest exposure should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  36. B ER ETIE B & KIE

AND POLICIES (conminuep) (#)
Foreign currency risk HMEE = B2
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency RNEVETHEB R T M INE S E R 8
sales and purchases, bank balances and convertible loan which B RITEMUARATRRERERE
expose the Group to foreign currency risk. = E R yNE R o
The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging NEE B AT EIMNEERBUR o A
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors i A5 BB E B 52 NE [ B e
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant A WEREREREEEHE AN
foreign exchange exposure should the need arises. RO
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably TREREMBEAEMESRFTTERN
possible change in the exchange rates of currencies other than BRAT  BE(RELEELHINEE
the functional currencies of the relevant operating units, with all BERINERNSEA EFEHEAR
other variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax. EERBTAEENBURE o
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in exchange in loss
rates before tax
ExtH MRBLATE B
(FE&) @i &)
% RMB’'000
% AREBFIT
2024 20244
If RMB weakens against US$ MARERETRE 5 1,496
If RMB strengthens against US$ W AR HETHE (5) (1,496)
2023 20234
If RMB weakens against US$ WARBHETEE 5 1,927
If RMB strengthens against US$ i NREEH ET A (5) (1,927)
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e MBRERME(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continueD)
Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from bank balances,
trade receivables, deposit and other receivables and amounts
due from related companies. The carrying amounts of these
balances represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in relation to financial assets.

Bank balances

In respect of bank balances, the credit risk is considered to be
low as the counterparties are reputable banks. Therefore, no
provision for ECL was made as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Trade receivables

Majority of the Group’s trade receivables are due from individual
customers in relation to sales of sofa and other furniture
products. As at 31 December 2024, the five largest debtors and
the largest debtor accounted for 60.2% (2023: 54.7%) and
16.6% (2023: 16.0%) of the Group’s trade receivables balance
respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade receivables
are due within 30 to 120 days from the date of billing.

6. MEEREIE BT RIBE

(#)
FEER

AEENEERRTIERBRTHE
#% - EZRWFOR - e REMEK
TR K U BERE A R TR © % F S
SHREREED AN RE SR E EANE
R AEERR -

RITH B

FIRTTESBM S - EERBRERAE
BER  REAHFAHEERIFR
77 o Atk - R20244F % 2023412 A
3B TR B E BB IR IR -

ESEWKHE

REBKEHE S EWGKRIELEEE
DE R E AR E A AR EYE
BFEFIA - R2024F12A31H &
REBARZKEBAD MG EER
Z 5 EUGRIE 4£260.2% (20234
54.7%) }%16.6% (20234 :16.0%) °

EREEFHEREMAERERE T
SREENTEPET - ZFFEFRZT
REF BB R B LS RIRE A
RN  XERBRAEPREPK
EEREEREABENSEER - &
ZIEMGRIAN 8 R B H#EET30E 120
HAZIHE] -
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  36. B ER ETIE B & KIE

AND POLICIES (continueD)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group applies simplified approach to measure lifetime ECL
for all trade receivables. Trade receivables that are individually
significant have been separately assessed for ECL based on the
debtors’ background and financial strength, historical settlement
records, length of overdue period and whether there are any
disputes with the Group. For the remaining trade receivables
which the Group is of the view that there is no significant
difference in historical loss patterns, ECL is measured by using
provision matrix which the trade receivables have been grouped

based on past due days.

Forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors which
is expected to affect the ability of the debtors to settle the trade
receivables is also considered in measuring the ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  36. B 5E[GE IR B 1Z MR

AND POLICIES (continuep) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) ZERkE)
Trade receivables (Continued) ESEWHEE)
The following table provides information about the Group's THRERBBAAEERN2024F K
exposure and allowance for ECL on trade receivables as at 31 202312 A3 B E 5 BB GRIAK
December 2024 and 2023: TEREEEBR R R EENER
31 December 2024 2024F12A31H
More than
1 day but less Credit-
Not yet than 1 year impaired
past due past due (note)
AHEB1A =EHE
1o R R ELME GBS
ECL rate HEHEEEEX 2.14% 15.09% 100%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREAE(ARET L)
- Trade receivables - B oRKFA 7,098 11,527 35,265 53,890
Allowance for ECL EHEEBBRE (152) (1,739) (35,265) (37,156)
31 December 2023 2023F12A31H
More than
1 day but less Credit-
Not yet than 1 year impaired
past due past due (note) Total
bk Y= EERE
fe 7 80 R BOR1E (FizE) @5t
ECL rate BHEEBREE 1.50% 3.77% 100%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BRAEAE(ARETT)
— Trade receivables - BSRMEE 16,046 1,670 35,101 52,817
Allowance for ECL BHEEBERE (241) (63) (35,101) (35,405)
Note: Trade receivables with more than 1 year past due are considered as fis: BB —FUALNE D ERFIERE
credit-impaired, with ECL provision of approximately RMB35,265,000 REERE BEHEEEEREOA
(2023: RMB35,101,000) were assessed individually. R % 35,265,000 7T (2023 F : AR

35,101,0007T) B AEMERIFHE ©
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NUED)

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  36. Bfi§RREIE B 12 RBUER
AND POLICIES (conminueD) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) FERk#)
Trade receivables (Continued) EBEZEWEE)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL on TRINTRE(ETEFTEE S EEGK
trade receivables under simplified approach: EM 2 BTEREERENEE) ¢
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL - not ECL -
credit- credit-
impaired impaired Total
2HEHGEE 2HESEE
BE-Ak%E FE-OB4
EERE EERE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREEFTT AREFTT AREF T
As at 1 January 2023 7202351 H1H 1,234 17,722 18,956
Provision/(reversal) for FREE, (BE)
the year (765) 17,214 16,449
Transfer (2072 (165) 165 -
As at 31 December 2023 2023612 A318 &
and 1 January 2024 2024F1H1H 304 35,101 35,405
Provision/(reversal) for FNREE (BE)
the year 1,568 (376) 1,192
Exchange realignment M 5, B 19 540 559
As at 31 December 2024 720245128318 1,891 35,265 37,156
Deposits and other receivables BEREMERE

The Group applies general approach to measure ECL on
deposits and other receivables. ECL on deposits and other
receivables are assessed individually. The Group determines 12m
ECL or lifetime ECL on deposits and other receivables based
on debtors’ background and financial strength. Market credit
rating data and supportive forward-looking information are also
considered in ECL measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  36. B 5E[GE IR B 1Z MR

AND POLICIES (conminuep) (&)

Credit risk (Continued) ZERkE)

Deposits and other receivables (Continued) BEREMEBENEE)

The following table provides information about the Group's THRERBBAAEERN2024F K

exposure and allowance for ECL on deposits and other 2023F 12 A3 B3tk e R EME K

receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023: HEMEREEEERRRBHENE
¥}

31 December 2024 2024%12H831H

Lifetime
ECL - not Lifetime
credit ECL - credit

12m ECL impaired impaired
LHEEGEE Z2HBEHEE

12ELRENE FE-RBE FAE-CRE
FEBE EERE RERE

ECLrate BHEEERE 0.51% - 100%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREAE(ARET L)
— Deposits and other receivables — & REMERGR 7,898 - 3,858 11,756
Allowance for ECL EHEEBBRE (40) = (3,858) (3,898)
31 December 2023 2023%F12A31H
Lifetime
ECL - not Lifetime
credit ECL - credit
12m ECL impaired impaired Total

PHEHEE  2HREGEE
REAESR BE-AEE BE-BRE

FEER FERE {EERE st
ECL rate EHEEBER 0.41% _ 100%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREZE(ARBTIT)
- Deposits and other receivables  —1&® R YA 10,246 - 22,200 32,446
Allowance for ECL EREERERE (42) _ (22,200 (22.242)
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (conminuED)

Credit risk (Continued)
Deposits and other receivables (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in allowance for ECL
on deposits and other receivables under general approach:

12m ECL

6. MEEREIE BT RIBE

(%)

EERBEE)
BEREMEWEE)
TRINRE—RA AT ERS REM
ERFENTEREEBENEEE
& -

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL - not ECL-

credit- credit-
impaired impaired Total

2HEEEE 2HRHEE

1287 FBE-A%E FE-BRE

BHEEFRE EERE EERE @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

AREFT ARBETT ARETFT ARETFT

As at 1 January 2023 #2023F1A1H 570 - 11,303 11,873

Provision/(reversal) for the year FREE/(BE) (486) - 16,460 15,974

Written off ks - - (5,605) (5,605)

Transfer B (42) - 42 -
As at 31 December 2023 and 2023F12A318 &

1 January 2024 2024F1R1H 42 - 22,200 22,242
Provision/(reversal) for the year FREE/(BE) (2 = 1412 1410
Written off ks - - (20,053) (20,053)
Exchange realignment L - - 299 299
As at 31 December 2024 20245128318 40 - 3,858 3,898
Amounts due from related companies FEREGHE L Al 7 1E

For amounts due from related companies, the Group applies
general approach to measure ECL and makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of amounts due from related
companies based on debtors’ background and financial
strength, and also quantitative and qualitative information that is

reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  36. B 5E[GE IR B 1Z MR

AND POLICIES (conminuep) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) ZERkE)
Amounts due from related companies (Continued) FEWBEIH 2 Al sk (48)

TREEBEBEARAEEN2024F &
2023F 12 A31 B s E UL BE B A A 3R
HMEHEESERBLBEENE
e

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure and allowance for ECL on amounts due from related

companies as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

31 December 2024

2024%12A31H

Lifetime
ECL - not Lifetime
credit-  ECL - credit-
12m ECL impaired impaired
2HEMGEE Z2HEHGEE
12EAREY FE-A%E FE-B4%
FEEE EERE EERE
ECL rate EHEEEER - - 33.29%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREAE(ARET L)
— Amounts due from related — W EA RIFUE
companies = - 179,931 179,931
Allowance for ECL BREEHERE = = (59,891) (59,891)
31 December 2023 20239124318
Lifetime
ECL-not Lifetime
credit- ECL - credit-
12m ECL impaired impaired Total
2HEHEE  2HEHEE
NEAES BE-A¥E BE-BEE
EEER EERE RERE st
ECL rate BHEEEER 0.70% - -
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BRAEAE(ARETT)
— Amounts due from related LGN
companies 177,500 - - 177,500
Allowance for ECL EREEHERE (1,242) - - (1,242)
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  36. B ER ETIE B & KIE

AND POLICIES (conminuep) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EERBEE)
Amounts due from related companies (Continued) FEW BT 2 B] 50 1H (48)
The following table shows the movement in allowance for TRINTE—RIT AT ERKEAR A
ECL on amounts due from related companies under general ARIBEMNTEHREEBENEHED
approach:
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL - not ECL -
credit- credit-
12m ECL impaired impaired Total

2HREEE 2HRHEE
1288 BR-A%% BFR-BRE

BHEEER EERE FERE @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AREFT AREFT ARETFT ARBEFT

As at 1 January 2023 7202361718 1,060 - - 1,060

Provision for the year ENEE 182 - - 182
As at 31 December 2023 and ©2023612A318 %

1 January 2024 2024F1A1H 1,242 - - 1,242
(Reversal)/provision for the year FRRE), BE (1 = 58,225 58,224
Transfer Bz (1,241) - 1,241 =
Exchange realignment PE AR - - 425 425
As at 31 December 2024 #2024%12831H = - 59,891 59,891
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (conminuep)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objectives are to maintain a prudent financial
policy, to monitor liquidity ratios against risk limits and to
maintain a contingency plan for funding to ensure that

the Group maintains sufficient cash to meet its liquidity
requirements.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
for its financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
rates and based on rates at the end of the reporting period) and

36. MBEREIE B IR BR

(#)
REBEEER

AEENEREASRBBENY B
R UREBERRRBEZERDESL
EREFESREEE - EMmEERA
SHERERGEINERDPESE

TERHIIRAEESRAERSHR
TRBERTESRTANBRTAH
FEER - BIMRBEAORMBERE
RE(BREAAONERRERS
HIRFERGFENFN B ) RAE
BAl g EREENRF AIAMSH

the earliest date that the Group could be required to repay:

As at 31 December 2024 720245%12A31H

Morethan  More than
Weight  Ondemand one year but two years but Total Total
average  orwithin  lessthan  lessthan  More than undiscounted carrying

interestrate ~ oneyear  twoyears  fiveyears  fiveyears  cashflow amount

]

g gEX -ENEL mENL i
PN d-%Fn  BFRAE  EBFREF  EFNL B8  RE4E
%  RMBO00  RMB000  RMBOOO  RMB000  RMBOO0  RMB00
AERTR  ARRTR ARBTR ARBTn ARMTn ARRTR

Trade payables BAEATE - 28872 - - - 28872 28872
Other payables and accruals AR ERFARE BR = 40,179 = = = 40,179 40179
Amounts due to related companies B EEES A A8 - 45,281 - - - 45,281 45,281
Lease liabilites HEaE 8.21% 13,248 7,909 13,282 - 34,439 30,549
Convertible loan REER 2.02% 30,047 - - - 30,047 29,833
Interest-bearing bank and other ~ 3f SETREMIER

borrowings 6.41% 214,09 2,840 29,855 33,835 280,626 250,613

3N.123 10,749 43137 33,835 459,444 425,327
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  36. B 5E[GE IR B 1Z MR

AND POLICIES (conTinueD) (%)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBEERERE)
As at 31 December 2023 72023 12A31H

Morethan ~ More than

Weight ~ Ondemand  oneyearbut  two years but Total Total
average or within less than lessthan ~ Morethan  undiscounted caming
interest rate oneyear  two years five years five years cash flow amount
BY7
e BER —Fik AEN L Reng

PoME  A-Fh BRRME  BRREF  RFNME %  FEAE
%  RVBOOO  RWB0OO  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'000
% ARRTT  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR

Trade payables EHERE - 46,073 - - - 46,073 46,073
Other payable and accruals AtEATERETER - 93,437 - - - 93437 93437
Amounts due to related ERBRARTE

companies - 44,534 - - - 44,534 44,534
Derivative financialinstruments ~ $74 4B TR - 75 - - - 75 75
Lease liabiltes BERE 890 23,200 10,097 3974 6,285 43,55 38,0%
Convertiole loan TARER 202 2733 13,566 - - 40,699 40,054
Interest-bearing bank and other S FAREMER

borrowings 6.11 113313 - - 73913 187,226 163,153

347,765 23,663 3,974 80,198 455,600 425,422
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BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continueD)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its

business.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is the
total debts (comprised of amounts due to related companies,
lease liabilities, convertible loan and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings) divided by the total equity. Total equity refers
to equity attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

R E TR B IR MUK
@

EEH

AEBEESEENTZARA/RER
SEMELER - URERISR
BB DR  ASTREE R -

REBERBCEMRTOE (L REEN
FAREERERE - RERSIFAEER
g - AEBEATREEIRE TRRMR
BAELFAE - MREREE RS HET
HRRD - B E 20244 22023412 B
3NALLFE  EEEANEE - PR
AR TR R

AEBEERERAARLX(AERHR
B(BRENEBRARZE  HE
&~ ATRRER LA BRIT R E S
FOBRA S BEE) BEEEN - iR
BIEARBHA ANEIGER - RER]
SHRMEERBHLEROT

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREBFIT

Total debts B4R 356,276 285,837
Equity attributable to owners of the RABHEE ANE(LER

Company (233,794) (146,250)
Gearing ratio BEBEBLE N/A T3 F N/AZ 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

37. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 37. TERFRERH
Saved as the debt restructuring disclosed in note 6, major BRETTEGFTIREMEHEAN - K
non-cash transactions during the year are as follows: FHREXZHIT -
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group entered REE2024F12A31BEFE - K
into new lease agreements for the showrooms, factory and SERE - BE M AEAILIE
offices. On the lease commencement, the Group recognised HEH® - NHEERIRR - AEERE
right-of-use assets of RMB24,737,000 (2023: RMB23,830,000) RIEAEEE AR 24,737,000 T
and lease liabilities of RMB24,737,000 (2023: RMB23,830,000). (20234 : AR #23,830,0007T) &

AEBEAR24,737,0007T (2023
% AR#¥23,830,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

38. AR IEK

BRAAR AR HRERROF AR K

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

AR :

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFIT
(Restated)
(&E71))
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries RETBRRMIEE 7 7
Financial asset at FVTPL BAERT ABEA
DRIEE - 1,604
Total non-current assets FEMEEELE 7 1,611
Current assets REEE
Other receivables E b M RIE 725 694
Amounts due from related companies JE LR BB R B 5RIE 4,818 7,021
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBEEED 133 426
Total current assets MENEERE 5,676 8,141
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals H R FRIE R et B A 5,639 6,610
Amounts due to subsidiaries LRI EVNGIE S 60,947 42,816
Amounts due to related companies VX REEaL VNGIE O 22,570 22,197
Interest-bearing and other borrowings TR REMER 8,110 -
Derivative financial instruments PTESBIA - 75
Convertible loan AR E R 29,833 40,054
Total current liabilities mE AR 127,099 117,752
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (121,423) (103,611)
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERARBAR (121,416) (102,000)
Net liabilities BEFHE (121,416) (102,000)
Deficit in equity FERE M
Share capital f&N 19,212 19,212
Reserves (note) EXCES) (140,628) (121,212)
Total deficit in equity T BAL TR (121,416) (102,000)
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  38. ARAFIBI B R R (#)

COMPANY (continuED)
Note: MHaE -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: AABEERRNT
Share award Exchange
Share Treasury scheme  fluctuation Accumulated
premium shares reserve reserve losses Total
BR43 5@ EXKE
IR A3 ME EFRG B ki RitEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At as 1 January 2023 7202341418 258,756 (8,992) - (27,361) (312,564) (90,161)
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (30,269) (30,269)
Other comprehensive loss for & A2 EEIE :
the year:
Exchange differences on BERERROES,
translation of financial EH
statements - - - (1,280) - (1,280)
Total comprehensive loss for ~ FR2EEIEEE

the year - - - (1,280) (30,269) (31,549)
Recognition of equity-settled ~ HEFR LA = E LA A

share-based payment AR - - 498 - - 498
At as 31 December 2023 and 742023512 A318 &

1 January 2024 20241 F1H 258,756 (8,992) 498 (28,641) (342,833) (121,212)
Loss for the year FREE = = = = (18,469) (18,469)
Other comprehensive loss for & REA 2 EEIE :

the year:

Exchange differences on RERBRERNER

translation of financial EH
statements - - - (1,839) - (1,839)
Total comprehensive loss for A2 EFEEHE

the year - - - (1,839) (18,469) (20,308)
Recognition of equity-settled  HEFR AR & 45 E AR ()

share-based payment REREMAR - - 892 - - 892
As at 31 December 2024 M2024%128318 258,756 (8,992) 1,390 (30,480) (361,302) (140,628)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
R B MR R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 20249F 12431 H 1F F/Z

39.

40.

41.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 19 March 2025, the Company completed the placing of
550,000,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at the
placing price of HK$0.051 per share to raise net proceeds (after
deducting commission and other relevant costs and expenses)
of approximately HK$27,801,000.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

As disclosed in note 2.2, due to the adoption of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs during the current year, certain
comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the
current year’s presentation and the disclosure requirements.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March
2025.

39.

40.

41.

HEMREA

202563 8198 © AR B AEFR
0051 B THEEERTLRAH
A B A 52 AK B2 & 550,000,000 A% A
ERH - UEEFMEFEFEGR
e kEMmBEAKARAZE) D
27,801,000 7T °

A] LB EUE

MMM 2 2B - A FER
FIHET RGBSR BB e ) -
ETAULBYBCERDE - ATA
AEEN2FTARBERT -

NN N B

FATERERD N 2025F3A31HE
SR EL T -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FFEFERE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BB 2024F 12431 H 1F F/Z

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilites TFXFEARERZIABTEEED A
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the #HEEUNEBERBEZME - JHEiEH
audited financial statements, is set out below: (R BI TR RS

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214F 20204
GO0 RMB'OO0 RMB'OO0  RMB'0O00  RMB'000
Nsimm ARBTT ARBTFIT ARBTT ARETT

RESULTS E

Revenue WA 119,507 187,975 132,013 502,932 606,363
Cost of sales SHER A (91,657)  (118,511) (130,013) (403,276) (547,597)
Gross profit EF 27,850 69,464 2,000 99,656 58,766
Loss before tax BRI RIES 18 (88,643) (26,130)  (203,418)  (120,286) (87,840)
Income tax credit/(expenses)  FrSEIE R, (FIs7) 66 68 832 (3,116) (2,890)
Loss for the year FAEE (88,577) (26,062)  (202,586)  (123,402) (90,730)

As at 31 December
MW12A31H
plipZ} 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024% 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
N ARETFT ARETFT ARETT ARETT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE

Total assets EERE 197,350 283,979 366,904 374,882 676,852
Total liabilities BEEBE (432,074)  (436,510)  (498,363)  (426,053)  (600,109)

(234,724)  (152,531) (131,459) (51,171) 76,743
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